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Corporate Profile
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QOur Vision,
Mission &
Values
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VISION =

To be the pioneer of innovative living space

WERTE AlLEE=M

MISSION &y

We strive to create a healthy, stylish and
distinctive living experience through
teamwork and passionate pursuit of
innovation and excellence

BERN A RE 28BRK
BERDN BHHEAREEER
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VALUES E{EH
— PRI’DE

Pioneer
Break new grounds

HEBR

Respect
Value the individual and
cherish our environment

BEAEL

Innovation

Think outside the box
AR

Integrity
Uphold high ethical standards
Bl

Devotion
Be committed and passionate

a0 5

Excellence
Consistency in the pursuit of
our quality standards

EREZ



HKR International Limited ("HKRI" or the “Company”) is a conglomerate in
Hong Kong, together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), with
interests in diversified businesses, focusing on real estate development
and investment, property management, luxury hotels and other
investments in Hong Kong, mainland China and across Asia.

HKRI's comprehensive portfolio includes Discovery Bay and CDW
Building in Hong Kong; HKRI Taikoo Hui in Shanghai, and a number of
premium residential properties under development in Shanghai, Jiaxing
and Hangzhou. We aim at further growing a balanced portfolio to
maximise the Company’s value for shareholders.

At HKRI, we strive to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive living
experience through teamwork and an unwavering commitment to
innovation and excellence. We believe sustainability is one of the most
important ways to make a business and community viable. Guided by
our core values, we are devoted to making a positive contribution to the
communities, promoting sustainable development and creating a better
living environment.
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Highlights of the Year
FEARERE

APR 9 A 2023

Celebration of The Sukhothai Shanghai’s 5™ anniversary
FERIRBERELAFHE

JUN 7X A 2023

Acquired Hotel Kanronomori in Niseko, Hokkaido, Japan

WERAAILLEE _EHNHEEZRES

JUL £ A 2023

“The NextWave Beach Music Festival”, the largest beach music

festival in Hong Kong, was held on Tai Pak Beach, Discovery

Bay (‘DB")

E /’% B A RS D S 24 E [ The NextWave ) 8 & %2 &f |
BB KB ERTT

All sold units of Starlight One, Jiaxing, were handed over to
purchasers

FETEREZHEBNERBERINTER
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AUG J\ H 2023

Applications to change the land use of DB Service Area 10b
and Marina Club Area B to residential were approved by the
Town Planning Board

IR2iIhR REREEBENEN T AT RFE
WmhREZ gl E

The residential plot in Shanghai’'s Songjiang District was
named “River One”

FETHRIENEEEEGERIEEM]

DB Ice Rink hosted “Skate Asia 2023", the world's largest
recreational figure skating event

T REBKSERERE AR ERIEBKLLE—
(202335 M8 kB &

NOV + — A 2023

Lantau Yacht Club’s inaugural premier signature boat show
“Festa Nautica” was held
lantauYachtClub R R HE X EHEREE LT ER S
Celebration party for Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong's
10™ anniversary

FEERREBEERETRAFENLD

TAVATATAY




DEC + = H 2023

DB launched a new brand campaign titled “Live to Discover”

MREBHELEHMOMETE « AKE 0] mEHERED

Refurbishment of DB Pier was completed
T RETBEBT TE T

DB ferry service launched pilot run of an additional stop at
DB North, and the bus route travelling between DB and
the airport adds a drop-off and pick-up point at the
Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Port, enhancing
DB's connectivity
MREERFTEMSIENATESERS EHSH
ELtREMTERRABEBORH LEFU
FREER LT

Celebration of Discovery Bay Golf Club’s 40™ anniversary

MRESMRRGHEBIFFEE

Occupation permit was obtained for IN One, Hangzhou

M T AR B RS AR

JAN — A 2024

Sales launched for River One, the residential project in
Songjiang District, Shanghai
PETIRIENEERRE

FEB — H 2024

Unveil of DB 2.0 Blueprint, encompassing upgrade of facilities
and branding for a better community

MRE0EBEER: EEMEEZEEN  BE
FHEHE

Refurbishment of Central Pier 3 was completed

FRFIRIMBAB LIS

MAR = A 2024

Construction of the residential project in Nanhu New District,

Jiaxing commenced
EEMEAMREETHEES T

Refurbishment of guest rooms at The Sukhothai Bangkok

was completed
The Sukhothai Bangkok & = &l T T 1238 T

BRAXEREEAMRAT 20232024 £ Q5



Awards and Recognitions
RIERERT

Significant awards won by the Group
in the financial year 2023/2024:
B0 2023/2024 I F E SR E R IR

HKR International Limited UMBRELLA BAGS REDUCTION ACCREDITATION  MENTAL HEALTH WORKPLACE CHARTER GBA OUTSTANDING ENTERPRISE AWARDS 2023

B E@ARAT PROGRAM 2023 BHERBENE WBREELERAAE
FERRARKERR WBIHPERRERLBRIERLTETE  Occupational Safety and Health Council HKO1
"15 YEARS PLUS CARING COMPANY" LOGO - Diamond Level, Gold Level and Reduction Award B % %2 2 B /B EEO
1SEPLUSI R R BIR 25 BRARE eARF HEAR DES GNVERSE AWARDS JURY GRAND PRIZE o S p—
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service Greeners Action poBIERE A n Iscove fVicesvanagementLim
ﬁf%%i%ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ%@ BAE(TE RAFHEARTEEAL m%igﬂﬁyﬁﬁﬂﬁ NG|

- "HKRI Love & Design" CSR Project: Brands/Major
HONG KONG ESG REPORTING AWARDS 2023 BEVERAGE CARTON CLEAN RECYCLING SCHEME Events Category (C1-1.3 Corporate/Brand - HONG KONG AWARDS FOR ENVIRONMENTAL

WBERBE HEREAREAS 202212023 Promotional Activities) BACELLENCE2022
~ BestESGReport (Smal-Cap) Commendation 2022203 B8 & 2% F E Y 5 E 5t 8 [AERE | DRETEER  RR| WERRESEAR

BEECRER (M E) B3 = Tier2 Avrd REAE(CILE/RBE-RREH) - Property Management (Residenti)
Hong Kong ESG Reporting Awards Limited g% Designverse Awards 2023-2024 ‘5!|Y§L Award .
BRECRERBERLA Greeners Action 2023-2024 R ETFH A NEER(E2)-RE

4T E) Env[onmemand Ecology Bureau

ESG ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS 2022/2023 OUTSTANDING INNOVATIVE PROPERTY REREER
0220385 HERLESAMG AL  QUALITY WATER SUPPLY SCHEME FORBUILDINGS - DEVELOPER 2022-2023 EQviigimentaLCampaign Committee
- Outstanding ESG Awards (Listed Company) ~ AEBEEHKR T3t WR-0BFESHAFHES REEHLES

_ Platinum Award - Fresh Water (Management System) Jiaxing Municipal Development and Reform

BREE e PETARE - Blue Certificate Commission HQNE KONG GREEN ORGANISATION

(LHAmE)-as% Bk (EBEZG)-E22 EETRRANEEES BERCHR , .
Institute of ESG and Benchmark Water Supplies Department Jiaxing Municipal Bureau of Economy and EQViQQmer;aLCinpa\gn Committee
REMENLEXEREERE KGE Information Technology REEHLAE

REMEENESILR

UNSDI ACHEVEMENT AWARDS HONGKONG 2023 - LISTED COMPANY AWARDS OF EXCELLENCE 2023 ixing Municipal Burcau of Scence and ;';E;g"%‘”igg 12%?% -
WBLATHARRAGEEANE  UBLTDESHAR Technology ek
- Sustainable Organisation - Merit Hong Kong Economic Journal RETRERM S . g?jwidg Pr/o\pertzgnAd Fadiity Mg\ggir"n;nt
IRERRRE-EERAR % Jiaxing Municipal Bureau of Housing and ;?i?% & ERER-DRAREER
Green Council Urban-Rural Development )
ERREE HOMEEJOUENAL AWARDS 2023 EETEEANSRLR Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate
WBXFFERR Jiaxing Municipal Bureau of Agriculture and A?I“'Q'S”ai‘ifs B
SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS AWARD 2022 - BestESGAdvocate Rural Affairs BAMETHNSE
MEXTERRRAR RETSERRR READRXRNE HONG KONG GREEN AND SUSTAINABILITY
World Green Organisation Home Journal Jiaxing Municipal Bureau of Commerce CONTRIBUTION AWARDS 2023
# R e kil RATEHR NBEREENTHEENAS
Jiaxing Municipal Bureau of Market Regulation - i .
SUSTAINABLE LEADERSHIP AWARD 2022 ESG AWARD 2021-2022 EEGHEEESER - Gold Seal for Contribution to Sustainable
= m _ # E P m A P —P E . | P .
WRAHERRENOEAR 201-22EGR % People’s Bank of China Jiaxing Branch %ﬁi%%%‘g%%glmeg;wggéﬂﬁ
World Green Organisation Yazhou Zhoukan HEARBAERERRLE T SRERNXEME 2 -REH SR
ARG E e A T he KN - Qutstanding Award for Excellent Contribution to
o Jiaxing News and Meda Centre Sustainable Property (Property Management)
EETHRBERTD PO Ak i
GREEN OFFICE AND ECO-HEALTHY WORKPLACE ~ TOP 100 PERSON ”\1CH|NA URBAN RENEWAL 2023 77 = - - Promote Environmental Protection
AWARDS LABELLING SCHEME 2023 2023 R E 3100 A JIAXING REAL ESTATE ANNUAL AWARDS 2023 RETSRERNFBS AHAR
WREBRAZREE - MrVictor Cha WBERATERELERITE (M%ER)-KBRERR
- Green Office Label and Eco-Healthy Workplace ~ BB £ = iaing Real Estate Leadership Award Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
Label The]?jBRIESVa\ueListZOZS SATENELRRAE N0 EBDEBERER
[BERLERIREIEMES  2BET-ESBAER Jiaxing News and Media Centre
isati gxng ews and edia UNSDG ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS HONG KONG 2023
World Green Organisation EMTHEELD D PR Sadiedid
RS e a5 ERB MANPOWER DEVELOPER AWARD SCHEME N” f% Wanb i WBBARTEERXEEES B FE
2022-2024 o ﬁanﬁﬂ :ﬁa %it%n a0 - Recognised Project (Ecosystem
ENERGY SAVING CHARTER 2023 AND 4T CHARTER  2022-2024ERBA 7 ¥ E 5 51 B i - Wood Chips Recycling Project)
BEHBNBRANE - Manpower Developer -Grand Prize AWGIG 1\ aNEW BENCHMARK' INFLUENTIAL BRARE (FEAA
Environment and Ecology Bureau }\th%—.lt%jiﬁ PROPERTY DEVELOPER 2023 -@K{Efﬁﬁmlﬁ B)
BEREER R e ARERHEFEI B I2RYEIRL T U
%;rgal;ﬂn%l\/\echamca\ Services Department  1E R 1A dll/R Jiaxing News and Media Centre 3 =
o GOOD MPF EMPLOYER 5 YEARS+, SR A B IR ST BOCHK CORPORATE LOW-CARBON
HONG KONG GREEN ORGANISATION E-CONTRIBUTION AWARD, MPF SUPPORT AWARD g%’“%g;'ﬁ%@ée ane ENVIRONMENTAL LEADERSHIP AWARDS 2022
CERTIFICATION - ENERGYWISE BEFEISE+ BTHRR MegER AUHRERE WRPEERERERRRAXAR
EEBBREDL G Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority et - EcoPartner
- bcelentLeve B LREH HEER g e ompanyLimited ey
aHAR Federation of Hong Kong Industries
Environmental Campaign Committee GOODIPE ENPLOVER AWARD 2022- 2023 DA BRAND DESIGN AWARDS 2024 EET20E
BEEHEEE 20003 R EH EE R WUBABE R RIS
- Good MPF Employer 5 Years+ _ Grand Award of the Year CLP SMART ENERGY AWARD 2023
HONG KONG GREEN ORGANISATION REHFRESF+ (Property Developer and Management) WBFEAFHEERAR
CERTIFICATION - WASTEWISE Manulife Hong Kong EEBLDBAR(HERRERER) - JontEnegySavingAad
ERRCRRIAE-AR ENERE Hong Kong Designers Association {Corporate and Government Bodies)
- Basic Level EADH e B AR (B E/BHA)
ERAH CLP Power
Environmental Campaign Committee FEE)
REEDHZEE
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CLP PEAK DEMAND MANAGEMENT PROGRAMME

2022

WnEEAEEETE

- Appreciation Certificate
e b

CLP Power

FEE

COMMENDATION SCHEME ON SOURCE SEPARATION
OF DOMESTIC WASTE 2022/2023
2022035 EEMBED BRBHE
- Silver Award, Certificate of Merit and Award for
Enhancement
RE EERRESR
Environmental Protection Department

RERESR

"AED ANYWHERE FOR ANYONE" PROGRAMME

[AEDESEI BB E i

- Big Heart Outstanding Performance Award
[BLMEIRLRRE

Hong Kong Fire Services Department

BRENRE

SAFE AND HEALTHY ESTATE WITH EXCELLENT

PERFORMANCE

SHZRED

- Discovery Bay, Hong Kong (Amalfi, Positano,
Poggibonsi, Parkridge, Parkland Drive, Beach)
ERMRE (2R HR 2R BRE
HEE 2R

Occupational Safety and Health Council

BEZRERER

HONG KONG VOLUNTEER AWARD 2023

WREBHIHR

- Top 10 Caring Estate
EETRBEVER

Home and Youth Affairs Bureau

RUREFEKR
Agency for Volunteer Service

EBIHEERRR

ELITE PARTNERSHIP AWARD

FHBHAR

- Community Partners
(Blood Donation Vehicle)
HEBF (BNE)

Hong Kong Red Cross
AL TTE

NTS BEST SECURITY PERSONNEL AWARDS 2022-23
W-BEEFRELERRERREES
- Residential (Outstanding Award)
TE-fli%
- Residential (Merit Award)
TE-BFER
NTS Reg\ona\ Crime Prevention Office

MABEENLRRBRE

PRIVACY-FRIENDLY AWARDS 2023
WBIEZREFE
- Silver Award
i
Office of the Privacy Commissioner for
Persona\ Data
BABHALBEERE

Discovery Bay Transportation Services
Limited

BWREMERBERAE

NTS BEST SECURITY PERSONNEL AWARDS 2022-23
W-BEEHFRABRERREES
- NTS Regional Crime Prevention Partnership
Award
HAEREHFNHE

NTS Regional Crime Prevention Office

MABARRILFERRR

VILLALUCCA
PRI

HONG KONG PROFESSIONAL BUILDING

INSPECTION ACADEMY AWARDS 2023

mBﬁFLL& <ERBERAR
Bundlng of the Year

REEREAR

- Environmental Friendly of the Year
RERERAR

- Five Stars Residency 2023
WBFELEREHR

Hong Kong Professional Building Inspection

Academy

EEZXRESe

HKIA ANNUAL AWARDS 2022/2023
WNBEREENEERRER
- Merit Award of Hong Kong
- Residential Building
BREE(ER)-HERE
The Hong Kong Institute of Architects
BERENSS

ILPICCO
g

GOLFERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2023
WBFERBEAR
- Choice Golf Property

BESWANE
Golf Vacations, Senasia Publication Group
Limited

BRERY SEHRERDA

River One

HER

OUTSTANDING URBAN PROJECT 2023-2024
203-204 3 AHEARER

Beijing China Index Academy

R EESRMTH R

China Real Estate Index System

TEERERUAR

SHANGHAI PROPERTY MARKET TRENDING AWARD
2023

WBFELBETEFEEREAR
Doculife - SMG

SMGALE 238

Di Chan Tian Xia

WEXT

QUALITY AWARD 2023

03RER

- Leading Quality Property
REABEF

YiGai

FBE

Property Reporter

FiE

THE 7™ CHINA REAL ESTATE NEW ERA GRAND

CEREMONY

FtEpENRRBAREE

- Most Anticipated Property in Shanghai 2024
WHFELBEGHGER

Lejucom

MREE

WEIBO LEADING QUALITY PROPERTY 2023
WBEEHEREETEE
Shanghai Weibo Fangchan
LEMEEE

SHANGHAI PROPERTY MARKET TOP LIST 2023

WBREFELFETERTOPEEFETE

- Most Anticipated Pro;ect 2024
WHAFEEERFER

Sohu Focus

BIEE

THE 20™ INTERNET POPULARITY LIST

ENEREARE

- Popular Property in Shanghai 2023
WBFELEARER

- Most Anticipated Property in Shanghai 2024
WHEELBERDGFER

Fang.com

EXT

CHINA ANNUAL OUTSTANDING PROPERTY 2023

WBHEHE - FERE

- Outstandlng Property in China
HEREEE

Ifeng. com

BE®

THE PAPER URBAN RENEWAL CONFERENCE 2023
WBPRATEHAE
- (ase Study on Property Environment
Improvement
AERERERA N
The Paper
B R

DONGJINGZHEN CHARITY STAR 2023
WREEFEERG 2B

Songjiang Dongjingzhen Government
MIEREEARRS

CPC Songjiang Dongjingzhen Committee
FARIERTHEZES

HIGH PERFORMANCE PROJECT OF THE YEAR 2023
W3FEERNER
Jiemian

R

INOne
BEE

OUTSTANDING PROJECT BRAND AWARD 2023
WBEFHNEFEE MM

Hangzhou Daily

mMB R

LEADING URBAN PROPERTY 2023
WBEHATERERERE
Zhejiang Television Channel 6

HTERB6HE

ZHEJIANG LEADING PROPERTY PROJECT 2023
WBHIEF AR RERE

Zhejiang Television Channel 2
HLEHR A 8T MM RS

CHINA OUTSTANDING PROPERTY 2023
WBERTEREEE
House.ifeng.com

BRREE

LIVEABLE URBAN PROPERTY LIST
HMEEE

Xiaoji Xuanfang Wechat APP
NEEEMENMER

HKRI Taikoo Hui
WERHE

LEED V4.1 FOR OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE:
EXISTING BUILDINGS
LEED V4 1 BEEEE BRES
- Platinum

HeRAH
US. Green Building Council
XAHREREZES

REPORT ON GREEN, LOW-CARBON, SUSTAINABLE
TRENDS IN CHINA'S CONSUMER MARKET 2023
WBFEHETSREERTBEEERE
- Annual Case Study

EERAEM
Nat\ona\ Business Daily

R

Shanghal Consumer Council

LEMAREEGRREZES

THE 7™ CHINA GOLDEN LIGHT AWARDS

EtEeER

- Innovative Arts Award of the Year
FEEMAHAR

MCWzg.com

EEH

THE 3™ ANNUAL SUSTAIN 100 LIST

%= ESustain 100 AR HAZHBE

- Creative Retail Space
IHEAEZES

\/\/\/\/D China

WD B B 5 o 5 2

ASIA-PACIFIC STEVIE® AWARDS 2023

- Innovation in Content Marketing/Branded
Editorial - Bronze Award

Stevie Awards

7|:|_'r_

GOGO ANNUAL LIFESTYLE AWARDS 2024

- Trendsetting Commercial Landmark of the Year
EENERRUE

GOGO Shanghai

URBAN TRENDSETTER ANNUAL AWARDS 2024

24T RERE

- Trendsetting Landmark of the Year
EEHELE

Zebra Magazine

NEER

TBIREREEAFRATF 20232024 £ Q7



Awards and Recognitions

RIERNE=T

ICSC MAXI AWARDS 2023
- Experiential Award - Finalist
ICSC Foundation

THE BEST BANG! AWARDS 2024

- Best Fashion & Luxury Landmark
ERUEHE

BANG Media

THE 3" GOGREEN CEREMONY 2023

WBFE=EXARCEA

- Green Leadership Landmark
REFENLE

BANG Media

SHANGHAI WATER CONSERVATION (BENCHMARK) THAT'S SHANGHAI LIFESTYLE AWARDS 2023

ENTERPRISE AWARD

LETBARKRE (BF) LEEE

Shanghai Water Authority

LETAER

Shanghai Municipal Commission of Economy

and Informatization
LETEBENERLEES

Auberge Dlscovery Bay Hong Kong
EERSEBE

GOLD CIRCLE AWARD 2023
Agoda

SHANGHAITOP 10 OUTSTANDING E-COMMERCE
CASE STUDY 2023
WB3LETHFEHETAEERH
Shanghai E-Commerce Promotion Centre

LBMETHBMEREES O

SHINING SHANGHAI FESTIVAL 2023
WBRE DEFREARXEEH

KLOOK PARTNER AWARDS - BEST OF HONG

KONG &MACAU 2023

- The Distinguished Hotel Accommodation
Award

EXBODEEEBAR
Klook

MEITUAN HOTEL AWARDS 2023

- Shining Consumption Landmark WRFEBEE AR

Shining 3 % Z 2|5 B Shining#5:2] - Popular Resort Hotel of the Year
Shanghai Jing'an District Commission of FEARERER
Commerce Meituan
ITETERERKEES xE
JING'AN CONSUMPTION LEADERSHIP AWARD ~ WEDDING AWARD 2023
2023 WREEHEEAE

WBEHRHBHEDIER
Shanghai Jing'an Commission of Commerce

LETERERBEES

SHANGHAI MAY 5 SHOPPING FESTIVAL 2023
WREE[LRRNREE  XABZRRE)
- Enhancement Group Award

TERER
Shanghai Jing'an District General Chamber of
Commerce

LEmETERERA S

BRAND CEREMONY 2024

20047185

- Trendsetting Landmark of the Year
EEHELE

Zhou Mo Zuo Sha

BRI

Zou Qi

El

JING'AN “100-BILLION-YUAN COMMERCIAL
DISTRICT" BRAND AWARD 2024
WAFERR[TREEEIRBLER
Shanghai Jing'an Young Volunteers Association

LETHLEEFEREDRS

THE ZERO LOST TIME INJURY AWARD FOR 1,000 DAYS
EFI00RTRAIRENE
Swire Properties

A& E

08

- Superb Wedding Banquet (Hotel)
- Best Outdoor Weddmg Ceremony Venue
ERERCEE) -REFNMEESH
WeddingHK

The Sukhothai Hotels and Resorts
ZYRBERERN

THE 17™ GRAND HOTELS MEDIA ANNUAL

CEREMONY

REEERETREERA

- Outstanding Hotel Group of Year 2023
WBEEEHEEEE

Grand Hotels Media

REEER

The Sukhothai Shanghai
LBRANRE

FOUR STAR AWARD
mERE
Forbes Travel Guide

RmEKERES

TIMEOUT HOSPITALITY AWARDS SHANGHAI 2023
2023 TimeOut LEH TR E A&
- Luxury Hotel of the Year

FEEERRE
TimeOut

READERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2023

WBEECERR

- #2in Shangha| #5in China
bEE-fi FEERL

Condé Nast Trave\er

DIANPING MUST-TRY HOTEL 2023
W3 RREFI B LEERE
Dianping
RBRH T

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2023/2024

WBFEELERRAREE

- Hotel Staycation of the Year
EEEREE

that's Shanghai

HOTELSHARE'S 9™ ANNIVERSARY
HotelShare 1L B 5 B

- Urban Resort of the Year
FEHTEREE
HotelShare

THAT'S HOSPITALITY AWARDS 2023

- Outstanding Hotel Design of the Year
EEBERBERT

that's Shanghai

THE 15™BEST OF THE BEST AWARDS

ETIEBAZE

- Lifestyle Hotel of the Year
EENEEREBE

Robb Report Lifestyle

B R ER

THE 7™ HOTEL DISCOVERY AWARDS

FtEHtel RRZIREE A E

- Best Urban Resort Hotel
REFHARBEE

Hotel Discovery

Hotel ;R & 2 ik

THE 17™ GRAND HOTELS MEDIA ANNUAL

CEREMONY

ABEERETRFERA

- Luxury Wedding Hotel of Year 2023
WBFEEERBER

Grand Hotels Media

REEEE

CHINA TRAVEL AWARDS 2022

20228 E - FRATHR

- China Top 100 Hotels
HEFEER

Travel+Leisure

=i

TRIP.COM RANKING 2023

0B3EROBE

- Shanghai Premium Hotels List
L REEES

Trip.com Group

gL

GO TRAVEL ANNUAL AWARDS 2024

WHEERTREXE

- Garden Hotel of the Year
FEHREETE

GOGO Shanghai

THE WORLDIARY COLLECTION OF THE YEAR

2023-2024

203204 RRBEEERE

- Best Art Design Hotel
RESMRABRE

WORLDiary INTERNATIONAL

YOUZI WEDDING AWARDS 2023

WBHFEHERERR

- Annual Popular Wedding Hotel
EEARERER

Youzi Wedding

Wy ERH

KOL GOLD LIST 2023
WBFKOLAENEHE
- Top 100 Hotels Worth Experiencing in China

PESESRRNI0KEE
KOL Gold List

KOLAE &8

THE 10™ CHINA MAG AWARDS

ETREPEZAR

- The Best Design Hotel
BERHERE

China MAG Awards

Bl A B

JOURNEY+ THE BEST HOTEL AWARDS 2023-2024

2023-2024 Journey+ EEEE K E

- Urban Resort Hotel of the Year
EEYTERERE

Perfect Media

TERBEHK

THE 19™ CHINA CULTURE & TOURISM STARLIGHT
AWARDS
ETNAETEXRERR
- Annual Luxurious Hotel

FERAEEER
Culture & Tourism Starlight Awards
Bl ik 2 oF

EXPERTS' CHOICE AWARD
- Winner
Tripexpert

THE BEST BANG! AWARDS 2024

- The Most Popular Wedding Hotel
EEAREEERE

BANG Media

THE BUND DESIGN HOTEL AWARDS 2024
WHNEBERFTAE
- Best Trendy Hotel
EERRERE
The Bund DESIGN. Hotels
INER TR S

CITY TRAVELER AWARDS 2023

2034 iREA R

- Best Luxury Urban Resort Award
BREEZHDEREE

City Traveler

9L T R

PLATINUM TRAVELLER ANNUAL AWARD 2023

WBRMRITFERETE

- Outstanding Lifestyle Hotel of the Year
FERHEERAEE

Platinum Traveller

Rk R

CHINA TRAVEL AWARDS 2022

20228 HHE - HRATHR

- 2022 Outstanding Hotel General Manager
(Thomas Schmitt-Glaeser)
WNFERLBEE
(Thomas Schmitt-Glaeser)

Travel+Leisure

B Ik



THE BEST RESTAURANT AWARDS FOR CHINA 2023
WRFEHE PEEEAR
- Authoritative Chef of the Year
(Duncan Feng Wei, Executive Chef)
FEBNEE (THARSER)
Ganlanhuabao
HWEEH

THE 4™ GRAND HOTELS MEDIA GOLDEN SPOON

AWARD

EMEER

- Influential Chef of the Year
(Duncan Feng Wei, Executive Chef)
FEYENEH (THARER)

Grand Hotels Media

KEEER

LaScala

SWIRE PROPERTIES GREEN KITCHEN SCHEME
AEHESBRREE
- Three-Leaf Award
2ER
Swire Properties

A E

TIMEOUT HOSPITALITY AWARDS SHANGHAI 2023

2023TimeOut £ 53 7 B i K&

- Hotel Wester Restaurant of the Year
FEEEREE

TimeQut

THE BEST RESTAURANT AWARDS FOR CHINA 2023
WBEEHE - PEEEAR

- The Best Western Cuisine and Wine Restaurant
BEREEEEE

Ganlanhuabao

HEER

CHINA RESTAURANT INTERIOR DESIGN AWARDS
2023
WBFEEREBR TR
- Appreciation Award
BER
Tasting Kitchen, Hotel & Shop Plus Shanghai

EE - CEEREEREEENEES

URBAN Café

SWIRE PROPERTIES GREEN KITCHEN SCHEME
AEHESBRREE
- Three-Gold-Leaf Award
SRER
Swire Properties

A E

THE 10™ CHINA MAG AWARDS

ETEPEZAR

- The Best Trendy Restaurant
ERHEE

China MAG Awards

RPN

THE BEST BANG! AWARDS 2024

- Best Trendy Popular Restaurant
EERHAREE

BANG Media

The ZUK Bar

CHINA'S COCKTAIL AND SPIRITS LIST AWARDS 2023
WRFERERE . EEAR
- Recommended Bar of the Year

EEREED

Ganlanhuabao

HEER

Grqnd Shanghai Ballroom
BEE

SWIRE PROPERTIES GREEN KITCHEN SCHEME
AL hEZERETE
- Three-Gold-Leaf Award
SEER
Swire Properties

A E

Staff Cafeteria SAVORY
BIREXE
SWIRE PROPERTIES GREEN KITCHEN SCHEME
AEhEZERHETE
- Three-Gold-Leaf Award
SEER
Swire Properties

AHE
The Retreat

TIMEOUT HOSPITALITY AWARDS SHANGHAI 2023
2023TimeOut £ 53,7 B j8 K B
- Hotel Spa of the Year
EEEESpakR
TimeOut

READERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2023
- #8inBangkok
Condé Nast Traveler

ENVIRONMENTALLY-FRIENDLY TOURISM
ACCOMMODATION
Department of Tourism

TRAVELLER REVIEW AWARDS 2024
- SHAPIus Certified
Booking.com

LUXURY LIFESTYLE AWARDS 2024
- Best Luxury Urban Hotel in Bangkok, Thailand
Luxury Lifestyle Awards

LUXE GLOBAL AWARDS 2023

- Best Luxury Garden Hotel in Thailand

- Best Luxury Architecture Design Hotel in South
East Asia

- Best Luxury Urban Oasis Hotel Globally

LUXE Global

EXPERTS' CHOICE AWARD 2023
- Winner
Tripexpert

THE TOP CONTRIBUTORS HOTEL 2023
Tiket.com

TOP 1000 HOTELS 2023
La Liste

THE FAB GOLD LIST 2022/23
- Top 10 City Hotels
Travel Nature Asia

JOURNEY+ THE BEST HOTEL AWARDS 2023-2024
2023-2024 Journey+ B EZ R A E
- Hotel Spa of the Year

FEBJESPA
Perfect Media

TERBER

DESTINATION DELUXE AWARDS 2023
People's Choice of the Year

(Spas, Programs & Treatments) - 3 Place
Destination Deluxe

THAT'S HOSPITALITY AWARDS 2023
- Outstanding Hotel Spa of the Year
that's Shanghai

THE 10™ CHINA MAG AWARDS

ETEPEZAR

- TheBest Spa
RESPAKE

China MAG Awards

RE AR

SPACHINA WELLNESS & SPA AWARDS 2023

3FEBERKERLR

- Best Wellness Concept of the Year
FERBELERAR

SpaChina

The Sukhothai Bangkok

FOUR STAR AWARD
Forbes Travel Guide

TOP 50 GERMAN NATIONALITY GENERAL
MANAGER OUTSIDE GERMANY

- Alexander Schillinger, General Manager
Schlummer Atlas

Celadon

LUXE GLOBAL AWARDS 2023

- Best Thai Cuisine in South East Asia
- Best Asian Cuisine in South East Asia
- Best Luxury Hotel Restaurant in Asia
LUXE Global

TRAVELERS' CHOICE 2023
- Winner
Tripadvisor

EXPERTS' CHOICE AWARD 2023
- Winner
Tripexpert

THAILAND'S FAVOURITE RESTAURANTS 2024
Koktail Magazine

RECOMMENDATION BADGE
Restaurant Guru

LaScala

TOP 25 RESTAURANT BANGKOK AWARDS 2023
- #21in Bangkok
Travelindex

THAILAND'S FAVOURITE RESTAURANTS 2024
Koktail Magazine

Spa Botanica

FOUR STAR AWARD
Forbes Travel Guide

LUXE GLOBAL AWARDS 2023
- Best Luxury Day Spa in Thailand
LUXE Global

The Sukhothai Swimming Pool

LUXE GLOBAL AWARDS 2023

- Best Luxury Infinity-Edge Swimming Pool in Asia
- Most Iconic Swimming Pool Globally

LUXE Global

LantauYacht Club

NAUTICAL TOURISM AWARDS 2023

203 FEHkE KR

- Best Super Yacht Marina - Hong Kong
EEREBRABEREE

LUXlife

Discovery Bay Golf Club
RS
WORLD GOLF AWARDS 2023
WBEREHRRAE
- Best Golf Course in Hong Kong 2023
WBERRESHRRS
World Golf Awards
t RBBAFAR

Peony Chinese Restaurant

HAHHRE

ARCH DESIGN AWARD 2023
- Interior Design - Golden
Arch Design Award

U FAVORITE FOOD AWARDS 2023

WRHEEERERE

- My Favorite Cantonese Restaurant
AREEERRE

U Magazine

Discovery Bay Recreation Club

R ERAS
NATURAL CHRISTMAS TREES RECYCLING
PROGRAMME 2022-23
202-B R REFEH Wz
- Certificate of Appreciation

B

Environmental Protection Department
REREE

PEACH BLOSSOM TREES RECYCLING PROGRAMME
2023

203 B TE B Y 3t 3
- Certificate of Appreciation
EEIS
Environmental Protection Department
REREZ

EBEEEREEBRAT 2023/2024 FH 09



Chairman’s Statement

EEWE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS AND STAKEHOLDERS,

It gives me great pleasure to present our annual report for the financial
year 2023/24 (the “Current Year"). The report covers the results for HKR
International Limited ("HKRI" or the “Company”), as well as its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”).

ANNUAL RESULTS

The Group's revenue for the Current Year was HK$3,940.7 million, an
increase of 132.7% from last year's HK$1,693.7 million. The Group also
posted an increase of 35.3% in underlying profit, being profit or loss
attributable to owners of the Company excluding the Group's
attributable share of non-recurring asset impairment provisions, fair
value changes (net of taxes) of investment properties and one-off gain
on disposal of joint venture investments, of HK$172.6 million as
compared to that of HK$127.6 million calculated on the same basis for
the previous year.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2023/2024
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“Because of HKRI's
flexibility and adaptability,
we are confident that the Group is
well-prepared for the ever-evolving
macro-economic landscape.”
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Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
B KE
Executive Chairman
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With the inclusion of the Group’s attributable share of fair value losses of
investment properties amounting HK$263.9 million, non-recurring asset
impairment provisions of HK$376.7 million and absence of non-recurring
gain on disposal of joint venture investments as recorded last year, the
Group however recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to HK$468.0 million, a decrease of HK$923.6 million from
profit attributable to owners of the Company of HK$455.6 million for the
preceding year. As at 31 March 2024, the net asset value attributable to
shareholders of the Company stood at HK$23,358.3 million (HK$15.7 per
share), as compared with HK$24,397.9 million (HK$16.4 per share) the
preceding year.

Given the current situation and financial performance, the Board of
Directors believes it is prudent not to recommend any dividend for the
Current Year.

MARKET OVERVIEW

During the Current Year, the global economy faced unprecedented
challenges, with geopolitical tensions, natural disasters, and interest rate
hikes adding to an uncertain atmosphere.

In 2023, the global economy grew at 3.2%, which is below the
pre-pandemic average. Expansion at a lower end is projected to
continue into 2024 and 2025.

Mainland China and Hong Kong’s markets were not immune, facing
sluggish economies, lacklustre stock markets, and some property
conglomerates’ liquidity issues.

The Hong Kong residential property market experienced a brief rebound
in early 2023, but transaction price in general remained at a relatively low
level due to abundant supply in the market and high interest rates.
Although various government policies and the removal of residential
property cooling measures boosted demand for accommodation, it is
expected that it will still take some time for a full-fledged recovery.

Meanwhile, China’s economy continued to steadily recover. The property
market underwent a year of consolidation, with the Central Government
implementing supportive measures to stabilise the industry. The Group
remains focused on expanding its presence in the Yangtze River Delta
Area, where the market has demonstrated resilience.

KM BT AEBELEEREMEZATFES
B30BE BB L L FUEEREBERBG
ve7EEA L BV EE—FEHSZHE
AEBEZIEEERE  IIEEHEAA
RIBEA AEGEEE4C8BEEBT BE—F
BrzARRelEB ANEMLGEF45568 & TR
DLO36E BB T R2024F3 8318 AR A
BY B FE (G & EFE A233583A BT (FK
15758 70) 0 EF B2439798 &8 T (ERKi164
BT °

EXEERHERALMBERE EFERR
REFPTREREDBERZE -

™ 35 B

RAFER 2REEMMEBRATAREOLE-
HRMEBAREER BAXERMNES
TEREK  MHEOHTHAAMEE BERIE -

2023 EFE 2R MBI 153.2% 8 K - RN IEATE
7K - F8 BB 2024 12025 £ 2 3R 48 8 4% K {3 R
W4 -

FEAMMEETSEREER REHm@
BB E R BREMIS RIS By A5
ERRBTLRAESCHEHE -

BETE EEVEDHR20B3FVEE R
BoEBRKTEHEBRARANTS L B
B EREREYREKF - BRAEE
FRCBRFHELEZERRRBEAEEDE
MENERER ETSBHDE —REH
THEEEEE -

B ER PEABNEHEEEESER-
BETRBRNERRBERSMENEE B
BE-—FRETEEH R=ALRED —
EXRERRE SHESEXBRZRE AR
EOBRER-

ERRAREREEFRAT 2023/2024 £ 11



Chairman’s Statement
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RISING TO THE CHALLENGES

While the macro-environment is challenging, the Group is consolidating
its position as a developer offering premium residential options.

The newly unveiled Discovery Bay ("DB") 2.0 Blueprint outlines exciting
upgrades, including new residential projects, enhanced connectivity,
and integrated recreational facilities. DB North is forging ahead with the
construction of a brand-new residential project, with exceptional
offerings in a lush green environment.

With its diverse range of experiences and connectivity to Greater Bay
Area, DB is poised to become a lifestyle hub for the region.
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In the Mainland, our more than two decades of property development in
the Yangtze River Delta Area underline the Group's expertise in building
quality homes and communities. Starlight One’s near selling-out on the
launch day was proof of the market's confidence in our products.
Despite short-term uncertainties, we will continue our long-term
investment in the region, and prudently seek out new investment
opportunities.

Turning to property investment, facilities and brand upgrades of the
HKRI Taikoo Hui (“HTH") complex in Shanghai are in the pipeline. Upon
completion, HTH will provide visitors with a brand-new and exhilarating
retail experience, drawing footfall and retail sales growth.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

Operations aside, the Group recognises the significant impact of climate
change and has established a group-level risk governance and
management structure in this regard. We are working towards increasing
transparency and implementing carbon emission reduction initiatives.

Additionally, we have made significant progress in adopting renewable
energy sources by installing more solar panels in our buildings,
generating 375370 kWh of clean energy in the Current Year, and
reducing 266,500 kg of CO, emissions. This reduction is equivalent to the
environmental benefit of planting over 14,700 trees.
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Chairman’s Statement
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OUTLOOK & PROSPECTS

Looking to the future, geopolitical tensions and the effects of rigorous
monetary tightening in advanced economies over the past few years will
continue to affect global economic growth and investment flows in the
near future.

In face of the forthcoming challenges, the Group has implemented
stringent cost control measures, re-prioritised our projects and streamlined
our operating structure to sustain efficiency and competitiveness. Because
of this, and our flexibility and adaptability, the Group is confident that it is
well-prepared for the ever-evolving macro-economic landscape.

The competence and resilience of our business operations across the
regions were tested during the pandemic. We remain cautiously
optimistic and will follow our proven diligent approach in pursuing
sound investment prospects in the property and hospitality sectors, and
solidifying our position as a reputable market participant.
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APPRECIATION

Ms Ho Pak Ching Loretta, an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company, retired at the 2023 annual general meeting. | would like to
thank her for the valuable contribution she has made to the Group
during her tenure of service.

I'would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to the Board of Directors
for their invaluable guidance and to our dedicated staff for their
unwavering dedication and hard work.

Lastly, I must thank all stakeholders for their long-standing support. With
concerted efforts, we shall pave the road ahead and move towards our
next horizon.

Vet

Victor CHA
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 19 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WD

HKRI is a conglomerate whose core business is property development
and investment. The Group’s strategy is to increase its asset value by the
continued development and enhancement of its flagship projects,
including DB and HTH, acquisition of land plots or projects of varying
scale for development/re-development, and enhancement of the
Group's other investment properties’ value. The Group will continue to
look for opportunities to expand its property portfolio and participate in
good quality projects via a light asset approach.

LAND BANK

As of 31 March 2024, total land bank (including that held directly by joint
ventures) attributable to the Group amounted to 8,636,000 square feet,
which is earmarked for property development upon fulfilment of the
related terms and conditions.

BEAXERIELEMEERLEREER
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Property Development and Invesiment ¥ & E R IR E £

The Group's revenue from property development and investment for
the Current Year, including the proportionate share of joint ventures and
associates of HKS$1,233 million (2023: HK$973 million), was HK$4,339
million, increased from HK$1,833 million in preceding year.

The contribution from property development and investment, including
the proportionate share of joint ventures and associates of HK$163
million (2023: HK$251 million), was HK$376 million (2023: HK$819
million).

RAFE SEWEBEREEEEBKRAR
EFWIBBEEB LI MNELOBE AL
ERBEREAShEE R REBEQATHN
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Hong Kong

Hong Kong's economy recovered in 2023 following the pandemic’s
aftermath. Economic activity revived following the removal of anti-epidemic
measures and resumption of normal travel, though external challenges
including a continuing high interest rate, heightened geopolitical
tensions and tightened financial conditions constrained the pace of
recovery. Real GDP resumed expansion, but slightly fell short of the
market's expectation, growing 3.2% in 2023.

The local stock market's performance was lacklustre in 2023. After a brief
rebound in early 2023, the residential property market experienced a
downturn and remained sluggish for the remainder of the year. For 2023,
the total number of residential unit sale and purchase agreements in
Hong Kong fell to around 43,000, the lowest level on record.

In February 2024, the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government announced the removal of all property cooling measures.
Meanwhile, the Hong Kong Monetary Authority relaxed the maximum
loan-to-value ratio for property mortgage loans and supervisory
measures for property loans. As a result, Hong Kong's property market
showed some positive signs. Subsequent to the implementation of
these stimulus policies, viewership of the Group’s IL PICCO and VILLA
LUCCA residential projects gradually rose.

At DB, in which the Group holds a 50% interest, the DB 2.0 Blueprint was
advanced during the Current Year. Initial projects under the plan include
a revamped “Live to Discover” brand campaign, new food and beverage
outlets, and renovation of the piers, which has been completed
according to sustainability principles, all of which aim to enhance
residents’ and visitors’ experience.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

Other DB 2.0 developments include the construction of a new
multi-recreation complex, which will provide a diverse range of
educational, sports and leisure activities. Facilities including Club Siena
will also be upgraded to cater for residents’ needs, and transportation
enhancement will facilitate commuting within and outside DB.

The Group remained committed to developing DB as a vibrant community,
focusing on promoting a lifestyle that is environmental-friendly,
sporty, and health-conscious. Various branding initiatives and third-party
events were staged in DB during the Current Year, including “The
NextWave Beach Music Festival 2023, the largest beach music festival in
Hong Kong, and the “Discovery Bay Easter Egg Hunt on the Beach 2024".
These events have grown to become annual flagship occasions,
attracting visitors and driving revenue for DB's transportation services
and retail tenants, as well as significantly increasing DB's brand exposure.

The residential project in DB North, which covers an additional gross
floor area (“GFA") of over 1.3 million square feet and will provide over
1,400 residential units, is progressing well. Superstructure work for the
first phase (Phase 19) is expected to be completed by the end of 2025.

Planning for DB Area 6f, which will provide about 500 residential units,
progressed during the Current Year. Applications to change the land use
of DB Service Area 10b and Marina Club Area B to residential were
approved by the Town Planning Board in August 2023, which will
provide over 800 residential units, including mid-rise, low-rise and
garden houses, most of which will enjoy scenic sea views and a
350-metre-long waterfront promenade. A revised Outline Zoning Plan
incorporating these land use changes was gazetted in April 2024.

Turning to other districts, foundation work of the residential
redevelopment project at Hollywood Road and Upper Lascar Row was
completed in April 2024.

Despite heightened uncertainties in the residential market, sales of the
Group's residential projects in Hong Kong including VILLA LUCCA
(40:60 joint venture with Hysan Development Company Limited), a
luxury residential project in Tai Po, progressed well during the Current
Year, reflecting buyers’ appreciation of exceptional quality.
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The Group's residential projects in Hong Kong are summarised below: EENAATEEAMMAOT

Projects

HE

Status as of 31 March 2024
B Z2024F3 A31HHMRR

Poggibonsi, DB 15 = & = 12

(50% owned) (1 500 % %5 )
Total units 28 1V 2 2{: 196

Units sold B & & {:193
(3 sold during the Current Year/ 7~ £F & & 1 3 &)

Sales proceeds generated during the Current Year:
HK$101 million

TEEHEWZ (101HEBT

Revenue of 4 sold units recognised during

the Current Year

AECEENHRACREFEAR

(50% owned) (16 50% 1 7= )
Total units 28 {7 #8 £{: 21 garden houses 21 i& 1t B ¥ &

Unitssold B 58 {u:9

(2 sold during the Current Year/ 2K 4 [ & ] 218)
Sales proceeds generated during the Current Year:
HK$104 million

FFEEHEWR 104 BET

Revenue of 2 sold units recognised during

the Current Year

QEEEFEHRACREFEAR

VILLA LUCCA, Tai Po Kt LL 35

(40% owned) (1 40% 1 25 )
Total units B2 {v #8 8{: 262

Units sold B & B {u: 56

(38 sold during the Current Year/ 2N &£ € & H 38 1)
Sales proceeds generated during the Current Year:
HK$895 million

FFEEHEWR 8955 BET

Revenue of 33 sold units recognised during

the Current Year

BAECEENVHWRACRETEE AR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWNR DM

Mainland China

Amid sluggish residential market sentiment and developers’ default risk,
the Central Government implemented stimulus policies. These included
reducing mortgage interest rates and lowering down-payment
thresholds, mandating banks to support real estate companies’ financial
needs for project completion, and prompting local governments to relax
home purchase restrictions. These measures underline the Central
Government's resolve to support the real estate market on both the
supply and demand sides.

In light of these market headwinds, the Group closely monitored the
evolving situation, continually reviewing its investment, development,
sales and marketing strategies. Doing so reinforced the Group's
commitment to delivering high-quality products.

Starlight One, a deluxe 392-unit residential project comprising high-rise
apartments and villas in Jiaxing, was launched for sale in March 2023 and
387 launched units were sold in the same month. All sold units had been
handed over to buyers in July 2023.

In March 2023, the Group acquired a 1.4 million square feet residential
plot in Jiaxing’s Nanhu New District. The site will be turned into a
premium apartment development with a plot ratio of 2.1. Planning
approval and the working permit were obtained in March 2024, with site
work commencing in the same month.

The development of IN One, an upscale low-density project in Hangzhou
comprising 245 apartments and 50 villas, was completed on schedule.
The occupation permit was obtained in December 2023, and handover
to buyers started in May 2024.

The residential plot in Shanghai's Songjiang District was named
"River One” in August 2023. Designed as low-density residences, it
comprises 262 units with various layouts such as low-rise apartments,
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villas and duplexes. Superstructure work commenced in February 2023, @B B & L& TR WR2023FE28EM > 1R
and sales launched in January 2024. As of 31 March 2024, about 48% of ~ 20244F1 A& - i E 20243 8318 - 2 & 1
the units have been sold. #748% K BB 4L ©

The Group’s key mainland China residential projects under development &£ B R T E AMH I B E T FFE A

are: W
Projects GFA (sq. ft.) Status as of 31 March 2024
HE BEEER(FAR) #HBE2024F3A031HHHRR

Jiaxing, Zhejiang 7T & = ®

Land lot no.2023-06in 1,415,000 «  Grant of planning approval and working permit: March 2024
Nanhu New District - Works commencement: March 2024
7 J5 3T [ 2023-06 5% th 38 - EREBEIFFEIMMEIEFAIE B 20243 A

- BT HH: 2024538

Hangzhou, Zhejiang 7 5T & #1 M ™

IN One 430,000 « 295 units

e e « Grant of occupation permit: December 2023
Handover: May 2024
295 f& B8 fi7

FEAE B ER 2023412 A
ZATHER 202455 B

Shanghai £ /&M

River One 350,000 - 262 units with a plot ratio of 1.1
B E [ . Superstructure works in progress

Date of launch: January 2024, about 48% units were sold
as of 31 March 2024

262 fE B fi - HFELE R B0

EETEEZETRE

HEBH 202451 A BE204F3A31HEE L
#48% #) B {i7
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT

Hong Kong

Oversupply and muted corporate demand amid cost control concerns
dented occupancy rates and rent levels during the Current Year, putting
Hong Kong's office rental market under pressure. The Grade A office
vacancy rate was 16% in 2023, according to data released by the Rating
and Valuation Department. The market expects that the high office
building vacancy level will be a near-term overhang.

To revitalise economic activity and tourism following Hong Kong's full
re-opening, the Government launched a series of campaigns and
measures, including “Hello Hong Kong”, “Happy Hong Kong” and “Night
Vibes Hong Kong”, as well as a range of mega events. According to the
Hong Kong Tourism Board, approximately 34 million tourists visited
Hong Kong in 2023, with the number of inbound visitors recovering to
more than half of the pre-pandemic level. However, Hong Kong's
Mainland-bound tourism undermines local retail and restaurant
businesses. While the value of retail sales grew year-on-year in 2023,
performance was below market expectation and overall atmosphere
remained stagnant. Rental performance in the core district slightly
rebounded, but vacancies in other districts remained high. It is expected
that the downward trend in overall rental performance will continue for
retail properties in the short to medium term.

Navigating market headwinds, the Group implemented leasing initiatives
during the Current Year to sustain high occupancy rates and attract new
tenants. They included flexible lease terms, as well as furniture and
fitting-out packages to meet potential tenants’ diverse needs. To boost
footfall and tenant sales and cater to ever-changing consumer
preferences, the tenant mix was continually optimised, and a range of
marketing and promotion campaigns was deployed to elevate
customers’ experience.

MERE

58

EESFTEMHERF  MECEESNBESK
AKUABMBERES  SAFERENHBEZM
FAEKFETR BHAZHEMBSAMSE-
BIEZMYEGHESHERT 2023FHRK
EFENEER A% MMEBERSEE X
BEBREHREE-

EAETEBER  ABIRIKLET B MK
¥ BFELHT RN EBHREKR B2E
[fRef - BF] - [ALEB] [BEERED]
UREMMARERE - BEEEREEERY
B R 2023F 4 F34008 ARG E B Ik
ErgBmam—FKE Am- BALLEHE
BHEHBTANTERERERR - B —5F
M BAR0BFEERERBSETIER  HDE
RS ESR ERIAFADARK - ZOER
FHEXRBHBEARE BHEMMENEE
EMRAmt EHEEWEERBHSRAN
THRBEEEREPERFE -

EHMENE RRITEOHEXRRIIHMHE
FrSEAFERMNTZREEER 817
R EREE R YIREEREMEERE
BEERE UnREBEHEPHNERER B
RAARMEPHEXRE RAKL/AEESE
THELHEE SEFEBRCEFPEAS
WEB-—RITEHEEREEES  RIAE
TR -

24 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2023/2024



The rental performance of the Group's investment properties in DB (in
which it holds a 50% interest) was slightly impacted during the Current
Year. DB Plaza (including the DB Plaza extension) and DB North achieved
a combined average occupancy rate of 81.4%. With the reshuffling of
retail tenants, various restaurants and retail outlets were introduced to
meet residents’ needs and maintain a balanced mix. Plans are underway
to further enhance DB's facilities and connectivity, which are intended to
provide an improved and rejuvenated experience for both DB residents
and visitors.

Turning to the CDW Building in Tsuen Wan, the Group successfully
retained major anchor retail and office tenants amid the challenging
environment and secured a number of new ones. As a result, an average
occupancy rate of around 90% was achieved during the Current Year.
Benefitting from improved consumer sentiment, the 8% retail arcade
saw retail sales and footfall increase, resulting in an average occupancy
rate of 98.4% during the Current Year.

The United Daily News Centre in To Kwa Wan achieved an average
occupancy rate of 97.6% during the Current Year. The change in its land
use from industrial to residential was approved, pending for land
premium conclusion.

During the Current Year, West Gate Tower, a 24-storey office building in
Cheung Sha Wan, acquired new tenants and achieved an average
occupancy rate of 89.2%, and the Wellgan Villa residential property in
Kowloon Tong recorded an average occupancy rate of 94.2%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Mainland China

The HKRI Centres One and Two office towers at HTH in Shanghai (in
which the Group has a 50% interest), recorded a combined average
occupancy rate of 97.9% during the Current Year. Despite challenging
operating conditions, HKRI' Centres substantially outperformed the
market.

The retail segment achieved an average occupancy rate of 82.1% during
the Current Year, with foot traffic improving by about 85% year-on-year.
Retail sales exceeded the pre-pandemic level, expanding by about 17%
year-on-year as Shanghai resumed normal activities. Nonetheless, gross
rental income was slightly affected by ongoing mall enhancement.

These results underscore HTH's status as a premier luxury and lifestyle
shopping destination. Its diverse retail offerings, featuring leading beauty
brands, designer labels, and a variety of food and beverage outlets,
coupled with premium brand collaborations and flagship events that
elevate customer engagement, have all contributed to HTH's strong
market position.

Various facilities and brand upgrades are in the pipeline for HTH. Upon
completion, the mall will provide visitors with a brand-new and
exhilarating experience and further consolidate HTH's leading position
in the industry.

In Hangzhou, the Group’s HKR International Centre, which encompasses
156 office units and use rights for 62 parking lots, recorded an average
occupancy rate of 82.3%. The project successfully retained major tenants
from the e-commerce, webcasting, and internet media industries. As
Hangzhou's office market is gradually stabilising, the Group remains
committed to implementing effective marketing strategies and property
enhancements to boost competitiveness and attract high-quality
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tenants. Meanwhile in Tianjin, the 15%-owned property The Exchange,
achieved an average occupancy rate of 85.9%.

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES AND
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

During the Current Year, DB's transportation operations, managed by the
Group's various subsidiaries (in which the Group has a 50% interest), saw
demand for both ferry and bus transportation services stabilise as more
visitors were attracted by a number of flagship events in DB.

Lingering challenges including surging fuel and other operational costs,
coupled with significant labour shortages, particularly of drivers,
impacted transportation operations. While the Government has provided
financial assistance for ferry services since 2020 and driver importation
quotas during the Current Year, the operational situation remained
challenging.

To enhance operational efficiency through technological advancements,
the Group is implementing an intelligent fleet management system on
its buses that will facilitate swift monitoring and agile operations through
efficient vehicle and staff deployment.

In line with its sustainability mission of reducing vehicle emissions, the
Group has gradually introduced more electric vehicles for both
passenger services and operational support since early 2024 together
with the addition of charging facilities in DB.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFNWE TN

Enhancement works at DB Pier and Central Pier 3 were concluded during
the Current Year. The revamped piers integrate green elements and offer
an enhanced passenger experience.

To facilitate seamless commuting for both residents and visitors,
additional DB North ferry sailings and bus departures serving the
Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge border crossing were introduced
during the Current Year. Coordination with the Government and DB
stakeholders on the proposed plan to increase the number of taxi
facilities in DB is underway.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The Group's property management services in DB and across Hong Kong
performed well during the Current Year, receiving accolades for their
commitment to sustainability and service excellence. These include the
prestigious “Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence” and the
"UNSDG Achievement Awards Hong Kong".

Sustainability initiatives in DB continued to elicit residents’ interest and
participation, reflecting the community’s growing engagement in
sustainable practices. Additionally, DB has been recognised as one of “Top
10 Caring Estates” by the Government’s Home and Youth Affairs Bureau,
attributable to the high-quality services provided to residents.

To meet statutory property management licensing requirements, which
became mandatory on 1 August 2023, the Group's residential and
commercial property management companies have duly secured the
required licences, underlying the Group’s commitment to delivering
high-quality property management services. Accordingly, a dedicated
working group has also been formed to ensure compliance with the
codes of conduct imposed by the Property Management Services
Authority.
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HOTEL OPERATIONS AND LEISURE
BUSINESSES

International travel rebounded globally during the Current Year, inching
closer to the pre-pandemic level, particularly in the cities where the
Group's hotel operations are located.

A shift in behaviour was observed among Chinese tourists, who
prioritised experiential travel over shopping. As a unique resort style
destination, DB’s diverse hospitality businesses offer immersive
experiences and are well-positioned to capture this rising demand, aided
by cross-selling initiatives.

HOTEL OPERATIONS

Hong Kong
While inbound tourism to Hong Kong rebounded during the Current Year, an
uptick in outbound travel by locals posed a challenge for hotel operations.

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong (in which the Group holds a 50%
interest) expanded its wedding and events business by orchestrating an
in-house wedding expo in May 2023, and rolling out promotional activities
to penetrate the Meetings, Incentive, Conventions & Exhibitions segment.

The hotel's themed staycation packages were successful, contributing to
an average occupancy rate of 67.7%. The new luxurious Sunday brunch
also received overwhelmingly positive responses.

Going forward, Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong will strengthen its
revenue streams through overseas sales trips, and participation in travel
trade shows and wedding expos. To engage loyal customers and boost
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repeat business, the Group will continue to implement sales and
marketing initiatives as well as the new “Auberge Plus” CRM system,
which was launched in April 2024.

Mainland China

The hotel business in mainland China achieved satisfactory growth
during the Current Year, attributable to the resumption of international
and domestic travel. The limited room supply increase across China’s
hotel industry over the past three years meant a shortage in hotel rooms,
resulting in an elevated average room rate during the Current Year.

In 2023, Shanghai’s tourism market remained robust, reportedly welcoming
3.64 million domestic and international tourist arrivals, a year-on-year
increase of 476%. Capitalising on the release of pent-up travel demand,
The Sukhothai Shanghai and The Middle House delivered impressive
performance, with average room rates and profit margin surging during
the Current Year.

Moving forward, the hotels will differentiate themselves through
diversified hotel products, personalised guest experiences, and
meticulous service standards.

Thailand

Thailand’s economic recovery, primarily tourism-driven, remained on
track. During the Current Year, The Sukhothai Bangkok continued to
capitalise on the influx of foreign tourists. To elevate customer
experience, swimming pool enhancements were completed during the
Current Year, and a premium membership scheme was introduced in
April 2024. Meanwhile, refurbishment of guest rooms has been recently
completed, and construction of The Sukhothai Spa, a luxurious spa
complex, is nearing completion and scheduled to open in the second
quarter of 2024.
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In 2023, Thailand received 28 million foreign tourist arrivals, a significant
year-on-year increase and the highest number since the COVID-19
pandemic began. To entice new visitors, the hotel will continue
enhancing its offerings through the introduction of themed-events and
strategic partnerships, and collaborate with influencers and affiliates to
amplify marketing impact.

LEISURE BUSINESSES

The Group’s leisure businesses are steadily cementing their industry
leadership, distinguished by innovative design, state-of-the-art
infrastructure, advanced technology, and exceptional operational
standards.

DB houses four premium membership clubs: Discovery Bay Recreation
Club (“DBRC"), Club Siena, Discovery Bay Golf Club (“DBGC") and Lantau
Yacht Club ("LYC"). Phased upgrade works are in the pipeline, which
upon completion will elevate members’ experience. Renovations at Club
Siena have commenced, promising enhanced facilities.

Benefitting from its status as Hong Kong's newest marina in decades and
the only accredited 5 Gold Anchor marina, LYC continued to attract new
members throughout the Current Year. In addition to popular events
and brand collaborations, LYC hosted its first-ever premier signature
boat show, “Festa Nautica”, in 2023, showcasing its leadership in
premium nautical services.

Future membership acquisition efforts will target mid-sized leisure and
sailing boats, particularly in the Greater Bay Area. Other upcoming
business strategies involve expanding into the wedding and corporate
events market as an additional revenue stream.
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DBGC recorded brisk membership transfers during the Current Year,
reflecting its strong appeal among golf enthusiasts. To commemorate
DBGC's 40" anniversary, a diverse range of activities was held, including
the Anniversary Golf Tournament and Dinner Party.

Corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) remains a cornerstone initiative for
DBGC, entailing collaborations with local charities to foster youth
development and create golf experience opportunities for ethnic
minority youngsters.

DB Ice Rink ("DBIR") solidified its position as an international sports
competition venue and elite ice-skating academy. Highlights during the
Current Year included hosting “Skate Asia 2023", the world’s largest
recreational figure skating event with 1,750 competitors participating in
over 4,300 events, and the “Greater Bay Championships 2", featuring 16
ice hockey teams from 10 countries and cities.

DBIR’s state-of-the-art facilities and international-standard venue have
established it as a preferred training venue. Notably, it hosted regular
training sessions for the Hong Kong Short Track Speed Skating Team and
the Hong Kong Figure Skating Team, as well as the acclaimed 2023
Winter Olympic Stars Training Camp, organised by Hong Kong Speed
Skating Academy. Professional training and competition aside, leisure
skating remained a sought-after hobby. The ice painting activity
introduced in December 2023 proved popular during public holidays
and festive periods.

The Group holds a 50% interest in all of DB's leisure businesses.
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SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENT AND
RECOGNITION

As business gradually returns to normal after the pandemic, HKRI is
aware of the associated increase in carbon emissions that accompanies
recovery, and is committed to operating its businesses in a green and
sustainable manner.

HKRI adheres to a responsible development philosophy and utilises its
influence to effect positive environmental, economic, and social changes
at large. Continuing from previous years, the Group aligns its
sustainability targets with the United Nations Sustainable Development
Goals to demonstrate its support for the common success of the world.

Furthermore, during the Current Year, the Group is continuing its journey
to enhance climate-related disclosures with reference to the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures and the International Financial Reporting Standards S2
Climate-related Disclosures, which provide more valuable information to
our stakeholders about our responses to potential climate-related risks
and opportunities. Full disclosure of our sustainability vision, initiatives
and performance is contained in the Group’s Environmental, Social and
Governance ("ESG") Report. Interested stakeholders may refer to the
online £SG Report for more details.

In recognition of its commitment to sustainability, HKRI was awarded the
"Outstanding Award for Excellent Contribution to Sustainable Property
(Property Management) — Promote Environmental Protection” by the
Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency, and the “Sustainable Organisation
— Merit” in the UNSDG Achievement Awards Hong Kong.
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The Group will continue to align its sustainability goals through the
following five strategic pillars, setting the course for a sustainable future.

REDUCING OUR ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

HKRI's commitment to the environment is demonstrated by strict
adherence to its Sustainability Policy and Climate Change Policy, which
outline the Group's sustainable development objectives and detail how
HKRI incorporates environmental considerations into its operations.

Despite the impact of the recent business recovery on the Group's
carbon emission reduction efforts, HKRI's business units persistently
implement measures to reduce emissions arising from daily operations.

The Group consistently encourages all new projects under its property
development business to obtain Hong Kong Building Environmental
Assessment Method (“BEAM Plus”) certification. The use of clean and
renewable energy sources has been expanding in the property
investment and management businesses. Notably, DB North Plaza
recently installed over 300 rooftop solar panels, which have generated
over 180,000 kWh of solar energy as of 31 March 2024. Similarly, the
Tsing Vi Shipyard and Tunnel Utilities Buildings No.1 and No.2 are
progressively integrating solar panels. In addition, the hospitality
business continues to promote green practices among customers by
discontinuing the provision of disposable amenities and plastic utensils.
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BUILDING A SUSTAINABLE AND CARING
COMMUNITY

HKRI is deeply committed to positively impacting the community
through diverse events and activities, encouraging employee
participation in volunteering, facilitating donations and sponsorships,
and nurturing a harmonious community.

One of the examples is the "Play Me, I'm Yours” campaign hosted by
HTH, a large-scale, one-of-a-kind artistic experience for visitors, residents
and workers. Following its completion, some pianos used in the
campaign were donated to various regions, including a primary school,
providing students with an opportunity to engage directly with music.
These efforts not only cultivate a love for music among the HTH
community, but also support the development of artistic talents among
young students, contributing to a creative and inclusive atmosphere.

With a focus on well-being, DB organised campaigns such as “Wellness
August”, which offered activities centred around the “eight elements” of
wellness. These elements comprise emotional, spiritual, intellectual,
physical, environmental, financial, occupational, and social wellness, and
are intended to enhance the overall well-being of residents.

During the Current Year, our sponsorships and donations to various
charitable organisations amounted to HK$3.7 million, alongside over 1,300
hours of community service.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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MAINTAINING A PEOPLE-FIRST WORKPLACE

As of 31 March 2024, the Group proudly employed a diverse and
talented workforce of 1,428 individuals. Recognising the importance of
maintaining a competitive edge in the fast-evolving human capital
market, HKRI continually refines its talent management practices. Its
Human Resources function follows the best practices to maximise
employee engagement and satisfaction, fostering a harmonious work
environment in which employees can thrive.

In order to ensure a safe working environment, Occupational Safety and
Health ("OSH") Committees and working groups comprising members
from various departments and functions have been established to
develop strategies for implementing OSH policies, conduct regular risk
assessments, and perform monthly workplace inspections.

During the Current Year, the Group introduced a complimentary meal
box initiative for all eligible employees working in DB and a Rental
Reimbursement Scheme for all employees, demonstrating our
commitment as a caring company and continued efforts to enhance our
fringe benefits and competitiveness in the market.

Job title alignment was initiated, streamlining and standardising titles
within the Group. This exercise results in helping employees better
understand their roles and responsibilities, and providing a foundation
for developing clear career paths and growth opportunities.
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To empower its talent force, the Group operates a comprehensive
employee development programme comprising training and coaching
initiatives, equipping employees with the skills needed to excel in their
roles. To strengthen managers' and supervisors’ practical management
skills, the Group offers the Basic Leadership Skills Workshop, Interviewing
Skills Workshop and seminars on managing staff grievances over
discrimination and harassment held in collaboration with the Equal
Opportunity Commission. The Group is committed to furnishing people
managers with the skills required to create a supportive work
environment.

In terms of building a future talent pipeline, the Group developed an
enhanced Summer Internship Program, which enabled tertiary-educated
youngsters to gain work experience in our conglomerate business and
allowed the Group to engage them during their early career stage.

HKRI places paramount importance on employee well-being. The PRI’DE
Wellness Programme organised comprehensive wellness initiatives
intended to inspire colleagues to prioritise their health and maintain a
healthy work-life balance. During the Current Year, the Group organised
events and activities enabling staff to feel relaxed, refreshed and
recharged.

The establishment of the HKRI Fun Club, the staff recreation club, served
to foster stronger employee relations and engagement. The Club offers a
diverse range of sports activities, charity events, and interest/leisure
classes, which not only benefit employees’ physical and mental
well-being, but also promote inter-departmental employee cohesion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

To express its gratitude to its colleagues, the Group prepared festive gifts
for employees and organised a variety of festival-related events,
including a Wine and Food Tasting Christmas Booth, Fai Chun Writing
Booth, and a festive craft workshop.

Additionally, it introduced a range of staff privileges, subsidising staff to
enjoy premium services under the Group's operations. To meet
employees’ life-planning needs, a retirement planning workshop
co-hosted with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority was
organised.

HKRI firmly believes that its staff is its most valuable asset and is
committed to providing better retirement protection. The Group and its
12 subsidiaries in Hong Kong were awarded the “Good MPF Employer
Award 2022-23" by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority,
and were named “Good MPF Employer 5 Years+" by Manulife Hong
Kong.

PROVIDING QUALITY AND RELIABLE SERVICES
AND PRODUCTS

Recognising the importance of meeting customers’ needs and
expectations to deliver quality products and services, various
communication channels have been deployed to actively gather and
promote valuable input from our customers, including feedback,
complaints and suggestions.

In line with its commitment to sustainability, the Group procures goods
only when necessary and prioritises green procurement, which offers
greater value and environmental benefits to customers compared to
traditional products.
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HKRI has established policies to uphold business ethics and believes that
high levels of personal integrity, business ethics, accountability and
transparency are crucial to the long-term development of the Group.
During the Current Year, HKRI organised cybersecurity awareness
training conducted by an external IT consultant, and enacted Generative
Al Policy, aimed at equipping its staff with the necessary knowledge to
combat increasing online threats and use online resources responsibly.

CREATING A RESPONSIBLE VALUE CHAIN

Supply chain partnerships are crucial in upholding the quality of the
Group's products and services. HKRI carefully selects suppliers based on
comprehensive criteria, including their experience, competence and
established track records. The Group Procurement Policy provides clear
guidance on quotation requests and vendor selection, ensuring that
procurement procedures are open, fair, competitive and transparent.

In line with the Group's sustainability commitment, suppliers who adopt
CSR guidelines, such as Human Rights and Labour and Responsible
Materials Procurement, are prioritised. Sustainability performance has
been a key consideration in tender evaluation and supplier assessment
processes, further embedding the Group’s sustainability vision
throughout its value chain.

During the Current Year, the Green Procurement Policy and Supplier Code
of Conduct were reviewed and updated to clearly state the Group's
expectations to its suppliers in regards to their ESG performance and
social responsibility conduct.
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Board of Directors

5T

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor 84, mM8A aged 74, was appointed as Executive
Director and Chairman of the Company in 1989 and November 2020
respectively. He was the Managing Director and the Deputy Chairman of
the Company until his appointment as Chairman. Mr CHA is also a
member of the Corporate Governance Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a director of some
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 40 years’ extensive experience
in real estate development and textile manufacturing. Mr CHA is a
director of LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited (“LBJ Regents”) and ceased as a
non-executive director (“NED") of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”, a
subsidiary of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust")) with effect from
12 March 2024. Mingly, CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are substantial
shareholders of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Future Ordinance and together whose interests in the
Company represent the substantial interests of the Cha Family in the
Company. Mr CHA is the chairman of Hong Kong Arts Festival Society
Limited and a governor of the China-United States Exchange Foundation.
He is also a member of the board of trustees of The Better Hong Kong
Foundation and trustee of Sang Ma Trust Fund (“Sang Ma"). Mr CHA is
the father of Mr Benjamin CHA and a sibling to Ms Madeline WONG and
Mr Johnson CHA.
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Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline, aged 84, was appointed as Non-
executive Deputy Chairman of the Company in November 2020. She
joined the Board in 1989 and was re-designated as Non-executive
Director of the Company in December 2004. Ms WONG is also the
chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, a member of the
Nomination Committee and a director of some subsidiaries of the
Company. She is the executive chairman of Mingly and also a director of
a number of private companies in Hong Kong and overseas, including
LBJ Regents. Ms WONG is the chairman and a trustee of Sang Ma. She is
a sibling to Mr Victor CHA and Mr Johnson CHA as well as an aunt of Mr
Benjamin CHA.

Mr TANG Moon Wah 84 (Arch Studies), BArch, aged 70, was appointed as
Managing Director of the Company in November 2020. He was
appointed as Executive Director of the Company in December 2004 and
is also a director of some subsidiaries of the Company. Mr TANG has
been serving in the Group since 1985 and has over 40 years’ extensive
experience in property development. He is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Architects ("HKIA") and has been an Authorised
Person and Registered Architect since 1982 and 1991 respectively.
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Board of Directors

B

Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon BA (Arch Studies), BArch, aged 61, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in February 2021 and is also a
director of some subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the Group in
1996 and currently serves as Chief Projects Officer in leading the Group’s
projects team and overseeing the daily operation and property
development in Thailand. Before joining the Group, Mr CHEUNG worked
in various architectural and property developers and has over 30 years'
extensive experience in project management on property development.
He graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 1989 with an honors
degree both in Bachelor of Architectural Studies and Bachelor of
Architecture. Mr CHEUNG is a member of HKIA and has been an
Authorised Person since 1991.

Mr LEE Ivan Wank-hay cHa, miH, aged 66, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in December 2022 and is also a director of
some subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the Group in 2012 and
currently serves as Chief Hospitality Officer in leading the operations
team in Hong Kong, mainland China, Thailand and also future hospitality
business development for the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr LEE
has extensive hospitality management experience serving at the
capacity of regional vice president and area vice president for Millennium
& Copthorne Hotels, Pan Pacific Hotels Group in USA, Canada and
Singapore and as executive director, chief executive officer, group
general manager of Sino Land Company Limited and Sino Hotels
(Holdings) Limited for their 6 hotels and clubs in Hong Kong and
Singapore, namely The Conrad Hong Kong, The Fullerton Singapore and
others. He is a Certified Hotel Administrator, a graduate of Hotel
Management from British Columbia Institute of Technology, Canada and
master certificate holder of Cornell University School of Hotel
Administration, USA. Mr LEE is also active in the industry by having
served as chairman and vice chairman of Hong Kong Hotels Association,
board member of the Hong Kong Tourism Board, executive committee
member of The Federation of Hong Kong Hotel Owners and advisory
member of School of Hotel and Tourism Management of The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.
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Ms NGAN Man Ying BA (Business) FCCA, CPA, aged 58, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in February 2021 and is also a
director of some subsidiaries of the Company. She joined the Group in
2018 and currently serves as Chief Financial Officer in leading the Group
finance and treasury functions as well as overseeing the Group's
residential property management, transportation services, information
technology, procurement, corporate communications and legal
functions. Before joining the Group, Ms NGAN had held several senior
positions in New World group and an international accounting firm. She
has 37 years’ extensive experience in finance function and in property
development sector. Ms NGAN holds a Bachelor Degree in Business from
the University of Southern Queensland and is a Certified Public
Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants of the United Kingdom ("ACCA").

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson s, m84, aged 72, joined the Board in 1989 and
was re-designated as Non-executive Director of the Company in
December 2004. He is also a director of some subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr CHA has over 40 years' extensive experience in venture
capital and investment management and is currently the chairman of CM.
Capital Advisors (HK) Limited, non-executive chairman of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) and a NED of Mingly and
Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited (“Million Hope”). Hanison and
Million Hope are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). He is also an independent non-executive director
(INED") of Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited and a director of a
number of other companies in Hong Kong and overseas including CCM
Trust and LBJ Regents. Mr CHA is a member in non-profit organisations
including Qiu Shi Science & Technologies Foundation and Moral
Education Concern Group. He is also a Co-opted External Member to the
Finance Committee of the Council of The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology (“HKUST") and a member to the court of HKUST.
Mr CHA is a sibling to Ms Madeline WONG and Mr Victor CHA as well as
an uncle of Mr Benjamin CHA.
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Board of Directors
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Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin 84, mgA aged 50, was appointed as Non-
executive Director of the Company in July 2022. He has over 20 years'
experience in property investment, property development and fund
management. Mr CHA is the founder and currently the chair of Serakai
Group Limited (formerly known as Seradac Foundation Limited) and was
previously the chief executive and director of Grosvenor Limited, the
managing director and the head of global real estate for Greater China of
UBS Global Asset Management and Co-CEO of UBS/Gemdale. Prior to
these, he was Executive Director and Head of HKR Asia-Pacific of the
Company until he left the Company in July 2013. With effect from 12
March 2024, Mr CHA was appointed as a NED of Mingly. He is also active
in non-profit making organisations and currently an advisor of Our Hong
Kong Foundation as well as serving on the board of the Urban Land
Institute and the Asia Art Archive Limited, serving as co-Chair. Mr CHA
has a master's degree of Business Administration from Stanford
University and a bachelor of arts degree in International Politics and
Economics from Middlebury College. He is the son of Mr Victor CHA and
a nephew of Ms Madeline WONG and Mr Johnson CHA.

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus Bssc, Jp, aged 76, joined the Board in January
2006 and was re-designated as Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in March 2012. He is also the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr CHEUNG is an INED of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited
which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He ceased as the board of
directors of Sotheby's with effect from 3 October 2019 due to its
privatization and delisted from the New York Stock Exchange on the
same day. Mr CHEUNG was also the chief executive of Hong Kong
Telecommunications Limited from 1994 to 2000, deputy chairman of
PCCW Limited from August 2000 to February 2004 and INED of Taikang
Life Insurance Co. Ltd. from 2005 to 2011.
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Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry B4, 118 s8s, Jp,, aged 76, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in November
2017. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr FAN has over 35 years’ experience in
business management. He is currently an INED of Sun Hung Kai
Properties Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange and the
managing director of Hong Kong Glory Limited, a family investment
company. Mr FAN also served as a director and then managing director
of CITIC Pacific Limited (now known as CITIC Limited) from 1990 and
1992 respectively to 2009 and the deputy chairman of Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited from 1997 to 2009. He has a long record of public
services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") and
is currently the chairman of the Hospital Authority and West Kowloon
Cultural District Foundation Limited, and a member of the board of the
West Kowloon Cultural District Authority. Mr FAN was also a non-official
member of the Executive Council of Hong Kong, the chairman of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority, a NED of Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC") and an INED of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited ("HKEC"). He is an Attorney-at-Law in the
State of California, U.S.A. and Barrister-at-Law in Hong Kong and England
and Wales.
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Ms Barbara SHIU 8sc, M, aged 68, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in April 2021. She is also a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Ms SHIU has over 35 years' experience in financial services and had held
several senior positions in various financial institutions including the
Bank of China group. She was the general manager of Bank of China (Hong
Kong) Limited in charge of the operational risk and compliance
department when she retired in 2014. Ms SHIU is currently an INED of
Livi Bank Limited and Livi Holdings Limited and chairs the risk
committees of both companies. She also has a long record of public
services in the HKSAR and is active in non-profit making organisations.
Ms SHIU was a member of risk management committee of HKEC, the
chairman of Hong Kong Securities Institute, a director of Hong Kong
Deposit Protection Board and Financial Dispute Resolution Centre, a
member of the international advisory committee of China Securities
Regulatory Commission as well as a member of the product advisory
committee and investor education advisory committee of SFC. She
obtained a bachelor honors degree in Science and a master degree in
Business Administration, both from University of Toronto.

Mr TANG Kwai Chang rcca, Fcpa, aged 71, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in September 2014. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr TANG was a partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) with
extensive experience in auditing and audit risk management, the vice
chairman of Deloitte China and board member of Deloitte Global when
he retired in May 2013. He is currently an INED of Bank of
Communications (Hong Kong) Limited, Tsit Wing International Holdings
Limited ("Tsit Wing") and Foxconn Interconnect Technology Limited (which
carries on business in Hong Kong as FIT Hon Teng Limited (“FIT")). Both
Tsit Wing and FIT are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr TANG ceased as
an INED of Baowu Resources Company Limited and Baosteel Resources
International Company Limited (subsidiaries of China Baowu Steel Group
Corporation Limited) with effect from 14 August 2023. He is a fellow
member of both ACCA of the United Kingdom and HKICPA. Mr TANG is
also currently a convenor of Financial Reporting Review Panel of the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council.
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The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of HKR International Limited (the
“Company”) announces the audited final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024
("FY2024").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are set out in
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 224 to 236.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Results of the Group for the FY2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 110.

The Board does not recommend a final dividend to the shareholders of
the Company for the FY2024 (2023: HK1 cent) and no interim dividend
was paid by the Company during FY2024 (2023: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS

The main and branch registers of members of the Company will be
closed from 16 to 21 August 2024 (both days inclusive) for the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 21 August 2024 ("2024
AGM"). During the period, no transfer of shares will be registered. In
order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, all properly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 15 August 2024. The
notice of the 2024 AGM will be published on the websites of the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and despatched to the shareholders of the Company in due
course.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Group’s business and analysis of the Group's performance
using financial key performance indicators during the year, a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group and an
indication of the likely future development of the Group'’s business are
provided in the sections of this annual report headed “Chairman'’s
Statement” (on pages 10 to 15), “Management Discussion and Analysis” (on
pages 16 to 39), “Directors’ Report” (on pages 47 to 68), “Financial
Highlights” (on page 93), “Financial Review” (on pages 94 to 99), “Five-year
Financial Summary” (on page 240) and in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. For review of the development, performance or
position of the Group's business, the Group's environmental policies and
performance, compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group and understanding of the
Group's key relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers
and others that have a significant impact on the Group, please see
sections of this annual report headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” (on pages 16 to 39), “Directors’ Report” (on pages 47 to 68) and
"Corporate Governance Report” (on pages 69 to 92) as well as the
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report of the Group
which is published online at the same time of this annual report.

During FY2024, the Company has complied with the requirements of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") and the applicable
companies laws. Details of the Company's compliance with the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in the Listing Rules are provided in the “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 69 to 92.

The Group has set up proper procedures to ensure adherence to the
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group in conduct of its business, including but not limited to the
Residential Properties (First-hand Sales) Ordinance, Competition
Ordinance, Buildings Ordinance, Hotel and Guesthouse Accommodation
Ordinance, Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Minimum Wage
Ordinance, Employment Ordinance, Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance as well as those related to hotel operation, property sales and
development, leasing and asset management in all jurisdictions in which
the Group operates. Any new enactment of or changes in the relevant
laws and regulations would be communicated to the relevant
departments and staff to ensure compliance. Reminders on compliance
would also be sent out where necessary. During the year under review,
there were no recorded cases of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations regarding the environment, labour standards, occupational
health and safety, anti-corruption or data privacy in Hong Kong and
overseas.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's businesses, financial conditions, results of operations and
growth prospects may be affected by risks and uncertainties directly or
indirectly pertaining to the Group's businesses. The risk factors set out
below are those that could result in the Group businesses, financial
conditions, results of operations or growth prospects differing materially
from expected or historical results. Such factors are by no means
exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be other risks in addition to
those shown below which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be very material in the future.
In addition, this annual report does not constitute a recommendation or
advice to invest in the securities of the Company and investors are
advised to make their own judgment or consult their own investment
advisors before making any investment in the securities of the Company.

A) POST COVID-19 PANDEMIC RECOVERY

The impact of COVID-19 pandemic has largely subsided in 2023, all
governments, including places of businesses at which the Group
operates, have relaxed the restrictions imposed and launched various
measures to support the sluggish economy. However, the recovery pace
is slower than expected and the external environment at large remains
unfavourable. There is no clarity as to how long the domestic or the
global economies can resume from the prolonged global economic
instability to pre-pandemic level, which disrupts the Group’s business
operations. In addition, it is also unpredictable if there will be another
wave of outbreak or resurgence of COVID-19 or similar illnesses. If any
pandemic re-emerges and becomes a major health risk again, it will
inevitably cause disruption to the businesses and increase the tangible
costs to the Group's operations again as well as adversely impact the
market sentiment in all aspects which could have a material adverse
effect on the Group's results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition. To cope with the risks, the Group will continue to closely
monitor the post-pandemic economic development and react timely
and proactively to the impact of the same on its operations and
performance, including but not limited to the implementation of further
cost control measures and launch of more creative initiatives such as
beach music concert and attractive package to enhance its
competitiveness for retail malls and hotel operation. Moreover, the
Company will continue to use its best endeavours to protect the well-
being of its employees, including regular disinfection in the workplace,
increasing utilisation of virtual meetings and adopting appropriate
flexible working arrangements while ensuring its operations is
maintained at normal level.
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B) RISKS PERTAINING TO PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT

Property development and investment are the Group’s core businesses,
primarily in Hong Kong, mainland China and Thailand. There exists a
number of factors which could affect the property market in these
regions, including among other things, changes in the economic,
political and legal environment, as well as social issues like large-scale
outbreak of pandemic disease and changes in the government’s policies
and regulations in these regions. These inherent risks may affect the
Group's investment strategy, business model and the overall
performance of the Group's financial results and positions. To mitigate
the risks, the Group actively assesses overall economic, social, political,
legal, and property market developments as well as their changes in
these regions and continues to review and evaluate its investment
strategy to ensure the Group responds to the market changes promptly
and appropriately such as re-prioritising various development projects.
The Group will also stay alert to market needs and continuously upkeep
the quality of its investment properties, and build up a diversified and
high-quality tenant-mix in order to preserve its competitiveness. For
each potential project, detailed feasibility and stress test with regard to
all aspects will be carried out before making any commitment and will
also share such risk with potential joint venture partner, if considered
appropriate.

C) RISKS PERTAINING TO OPERATIONS OF THE
GROUP

The Group's operations are subject to a number of risk factors distinctive
to the operation of property development and investment, hospitality,
leisure and transportation businesses. For instance, default on the part of
contractors or sub-contractors, buyers and tenants; or inadequacies or
failures of internal processes and systems; or other external factors such
as the outbreak of pandemic disease, rising construction cost, increase in
inflationary pressures including fuel cost, increasing competition and
seasonality. In addition, accidents which may happen despite policies
and procedures are set up for their prevention, can lead to financial loss,
litigation, damage of reputation and may cause certain degree of
negative impact on the results of the operations. To mitigate the relevant
risks, the Group regularly reviews its existing policies and procedures to
ensure their effectiveness and adequacy, imposes straight guidelines on
carefully selecting and engaging vendors, closely monitors the project
time frame and status, keeps on assessing the market condition and
changes in order to react with appropriate business strategies, such as
trying to enhance the competitiveness of its hotel operation by
launching attractive package and themed campaigns as well as
continuously improving its service quality and facilities on attracting
banquets and corporate events to protect and drive profitability. The
Group has also arranged adequate insurance coverage on business
interruption or disaster that may result in loss of income.
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D) FINANCIAL RISKS

The major financial instruments of the Group include equity instruments
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, investments in debt instruments
measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, amounts due from
associates, loans to joint ventures, amounts due from joint ventures,
bank balances and cash, other financial assets, trade payables, deposits
received and other financial liabilities, bank and other loans and other
liabilities. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. Details of these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 210 to 223.

E) HUMAN RESOURCES RISKS

The Group's success is dependent upon its ability to attract, train, retain
and motivate highly skilled and qualified staff members in every aspect.
The loss of key personnel, or the inability to find additional qualified
personnel, could materially and adversely affect the Group's prospects in
providing adequate resources to support the existing and growing
business, and hence the results of operations. To mitigate such
uncertainty, succession planning is adopted to identify successors for
key management positions and coaching and training, both in-house
and external, for talent development, are continuously provided by the
Group. The Group also regularly reviews its compensation and benefit
packages to ensure such packages are in line with the market as well as
creates a bonding culture to strengthen the sense of belongings of staff
members, such as the establishment of a staff fun club last year to
conduct a series of diversified activities including sports, charity and
leisure activities to enhance employee engagement.

F) CYBER-ATTACKS RISKS

Corporate cyber-attacks have increased in frequency, scale and severity
in recent years. Cyber-attacks may cause loss of data, leakage of
confidential information including personal information of customers
and employees, equipment failure and also disruptions to the Group's or
its partners’ operation for a significant period of time. The adverse impact
of cyber-attacks may include reputation damage, loss of investors’
confidence, loss of revenue from business interruption and resulting
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claims, all of which could be substantial. To mitigate the risk of cyber-
attacks on the Group, external cyber security consultant has been
engaged to conduct cyber security assessment and penetration tests on
a regular basis. Information technology orientation sessions and disaster
recovery drills are regularly conducted. Firewall, email filtering and web
content filtering have been adopted and anti-virus programmes on
servers and computers have been installed. In addition, regular user-
education on cyber security risks is maintained through internal
communication. All these measures could prevent the attacks from
hackers and reduce cyber security risks.

G) COMPLIANCE RISKS

Whilst the Group has a diversified portfolio of business operations across
Hong Kong, mainland China and other key cities in Asia, there may be a
risk associated with the failure to anticipate the trend of regulatory
changes on compliance with the relevant requirements of the local laws
or regulations. To mitigate the risks, the Group continually monitors
changes in relevant local laws and regulations, actively assesses the
effect of relevant developments and seeks for legal advice whenever
necessary to ensure that the relevant requirements are properly
complied with in an effective manner.

H) ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE-RELATED
RISKS

Climate change affects all regions around the world. Main threats
stemming from the accelerating global warming due to the increase in
greenhouse gases, causing the melting of polar ice shields, rising in seas
levels, and occurrence of more extreme, intense and unpredictable
weather events like excess rainfall, typhoons, flooding, etc. Extreme
weather may increase the risks of disruption of the Group’s business
operations and supply chain, and physical damage to the Group's assets
located in the affected areas, resulting in loss of revenue, higher repair
and maintenance costs, as well as the loss in value of our investments. In
addition, extreme weather conditions may lead to loss of life or injury to
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the Group’s employees, customers or third parties, for which the Group
is expected to be held responsible, resulting in legal and financial
liability, as well as reputational damage. In support of “Goal 13: Climate
Action” under the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, the
Company adopts a proactive approach to assess its vulnerability to
climate risks and integrates such considerations into its strategic
planning, aiming to mitigate the impact of climate change on its
operations and enhance resilience to climate change. Initiatives include
monitoring and reducing the Group's carbon footprint by formulating
and implementing long-term emissions reduction targets; adopting
industry best practices as far as feasible to improve energy efficiency
through introducing more advanced green technology and green
building design, and exploring the use of renewable energy in our
operations; improving the design of new development projects to resist
natural hazards; providing training to employees to enhance the Group's
preparedness and adaptability to extreme weather events; and closely
monitoring the market and regulatory changes about low-carbon
transition. More details on how the Group addresses the environmental
and climate-related risks are set out in the ESG Report of the Group
which is published online at the same time of this annual report.

Risk management is closely linked to the Group's internal control
framework. Key controls for mitigating high risks identified in the risk
management process are subject to independent review by the Internal
Audit Department. During the year under review, the Audit Committee,
on behalf of the Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’'s risk
management and internal control systems. Details of the aforesaid
review of the effectiveness are disclosed in the “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 69 to 92.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 201.
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DIRECTORS

During FY2024, Ms Loretta HO retired as Independent Non-executive
Director ("INED") of the Company with effect from 23 August 2023. The
Directors as at the date of this annual report are those set out on pages
40 to 46 of this annual report.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”),
the CG Code of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon,
Ms NGAN Man Ying, Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry and Ms Barbara SHIU will
retire by rotation at the 2024 AGM. All the retiring Directors are eligible
for re- election and have offered themselves for re-election. Other
remaining Directors will continue in office.

None of the Directors who offering themselves for re-election at the
2024 AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation) and all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the Company in accordance with
the Articles. The rotation clause sets up a mechanism to ensure that all
Directors shall retire at least once every three years.

Each of the INEDs of the Company has confirmed his/her independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all INEDs of the Company meet the independence guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules and are independent accordingly.

Assisted by heads of functional units, the Executive Directors (“EDs") of
the Company have the direct responsibilities for the business and
operations of the Group and hence the EDs of the Company are
regarded as the Company’s senior management. Biographical details of
the Directors are set out on pages 40 to 46. Details of the Directors’
emoluments are also provided under note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 169 to 171.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS
AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she
may sustain or incur in carrying out his/her duties or otherwise in relation
thereto. Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy is in place to
protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors and
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules and adopted by the Company
were as follows:

A) LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE

&

EERKRM - HEAROKRE
ERZER

2024¢3H3 =N %%&?&%%EZ 8 A
AR AR EAE (EERBHFIEHE
DB)ZHQ@WEE%W%ME%- WA
ﬁ-f%m AIRBESIEDEI2EAFTEZE
AR KARIEAR QB ATEM 2 £ AR A
ﬁ*c.%ﬁﬁ%ttm%é TAESFETEFRIHINIE
ZEFA([IZESTAND BMGARRQR KB RA
Z%mﬁMEmT'

““i%

A) RARQATESREHEO2E TR

COMPANY OF HK$0.25 EACH 2HERE
Number of ordinary share Approximate
ZBEREE percentage of
issued share
Personal Other capital
Name of director  Capacity interests interest Total EEBITRAEAZ
E=E8 4 EPN$ Hith# By BMAOBDL
Victor CHA Beneficial owner and beneficiary of 1,254,278 791,896,895" 793,151,173 5340
B discretionary trusts
EREAEARBNBERXEA
Madeline WONG Founder and/or beneficiary of - 789684,8827* 789,684,882 53.17
FEXE discretionary trusts
BISEFERIZ A R/ Em A
Johnson CHA Beneficiary of discretionary trusts - 790,469,647" 790,469,647 5322
EME BIFEREXEA
Benjamin CHA Beneficiary of discretionary trusts - 780,233,599" 780,233,599 52.53
EEH BIFELEXEA
TANG Moon Wah Beneficial owner 148,720 - 148,720 0.01
BB EREBA

' The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”) and LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited (“LBJ

Regents”) are the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors are among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.
L ZEROBNE T TRBIEE TR B S BCM Trust (Cayman) Limited ([CCM Trust |) & LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited ([ LBJ Regents ]) 2 3% B 5%

EARE MEBREEENBBEXR

Director is among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

2 635627031 IR BN E T ARBBEE R AR ACCMTrust 2 LBJRegents EB R TAR A MZEEBRBIBEXH

635,627,031 shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees and the

®  The Director is, under two separate discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees, the founder and member of the

classes of discretionary beneficiaries thereof. Such trusts are deemed to be interested in 154,057,851 shares in aggregate.

P ZEERABRCCMTrust R LBJ Regents 2 £ B X 5E A FT#F 2 Wl 1 R B9 15

B A 154057851 R 1D Z HEZS o

EREMBIZARERNREZEA RS EERAAE
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B) SHARE OPTIONS

Directors have been granted share options of the Company, details of
which are set out in the paragraph headed “Details of Share Options
Granted and Available for Grant” below.

Save as disclosed above and for certain Directors holding non-beneficial
interests in the share capital of some subsidiaries of the Company as the
nominee shareholders, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors or
their respective associates had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by shareholders of the Company on 25 August 2021 (the “2021
Scheme”) and the listing status of shares to be granted under the 2021
Scheme was granted by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 27 August 2021. Particulars of the 2021 Scheme as required to be
disclosed under the Listing Rules are set out below:

A) PURPOSE

To provide the participants who have been granted share options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company with the opportunity to
acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage the
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and
its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

B) PARTICIPANTS

All Directors, full-time employees and any consultants (employed on a
contract basis) of the Group are eligible to participate in the 2021
Scheme.

C) MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE
FORISSUE

A maximum number of 148,530,180 shares of the Company may be
issued upon exercise of all share options granted or to be granted under
the 2021 Scheme.
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D) MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH
PARTICIPANT

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted and to be granted to each
participant (including both exercised and unexercised share options)
under the 2021 Scheme or any other share option scheme (if any)
adopted by the Company in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue unless otherwise approved by the
shareholders of the Company.

Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an INED
of the Company, or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules), would result in the shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all share options already granted and to be
granted to such person in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of the grant:

- representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the Company
inissue; and

- having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such grant of share options shall be subject to prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company who are not connected persons of the
Company as defined in the Listing Rules.

E) PERIOD WITHIN WHICH THE SHARES MUST BE
TAKEN UP UNDER A SHARE OPTION

A share option must be exercised within 10 years from the date on
which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board (or the relevant
committee thereof) may specify at the time of grant.

F) MINIMUM PERIOD AND REQUIREMENT, IF ANY,
FOR WHICH A SHARE OPTION MUST BE HELD
BEFORE IT CAN BE EXERCISED

At the time of the grant of a share option, the Board (or the relevant
committee thereof) must specify the minimum period(s), if any, for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised.
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G) PERIOD OPEN FOR ACCEPTANCE OF A SHARE
OPTION AND AMOUNT PAYABLE UPON
ACCEPTANCE

The offer of the grant of a share option (of which the date of grant must
be a business day of the Stock Exchange) must be accepted within 14
days from the date on which the offer letter is delivered to the
participant and a consideration of HKS1 must be paid upon acceptance.

H) BASIS OF DETERMINING THE SUBSCRIPTION
PRICE OF A SHARE OPTION

The subscription price of a share option shall be no less than the higher
of:

- the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant;

- the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days of the Stock Exchange immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

- the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of grant.

1)  REMAINING LIFE

The 2021 Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 24 August 2031
unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the 2021
Scheme.

DETAILS OF SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED AND
AVAILABLE FOR GRANT

The total number of shares in the Company available for grant of share
options under the 2021 Scheme is 148,530,180 shares which represents
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of adoption
of the 2021 Scheme (i.e. 25 August 2021). During the year, 42,280,000
share options were granted and 880,000 share options were lapsed with
no share option was exercised or cancelled in accordance with the terms
of the 2021 Scheme.

Upon the adoption of the 2021 Scheme, the share option scheme
adopted in 2011 (the “2011 Scheme”) was terminated on 27 August 2021
but the share options granted prior to the termination continue be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the 2011 Scheme. During the year,
220,000 share options were lapsed and no share option was exercised in
accordance with the terms of the 2011 Scheme.
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Details of the movement of share options during the year and the
outstanding share options as at 31 March 2024 under the 2021 Scheme
and 2011 Scheme, respectively were as follows:

A) SHARE OPTIONS UNDER THE 2021 SCHEME

2021 F 51 2 2011 F 52142 H 89 AR 7D H
BRFERNZEE RN2024FE3 8318 HKITE
2O HAEFEES RN

A) BEB2021FEFEFHR M EE

Number of share option

Exercise price B ARHA

pershare  Balance as at Granted Lapsed Balance as at
Name or Category of HK$  1April 2023 during during 31March 2024
participant BRITEE R2023F the year® the year 20245
SHEKZRER Date of grant** R B (Bx) 4B18&#H ERRE FRAN 3A31BEH
Victor CHA 24 Noverber 2021 20214E11 A 24R 3028 9,500,000 - - 9,500,000
B 4 October 2023 2023F10A4H 1636 - 9,500,000 - 9,500,000
TANG Moon Wah 24 November2021 2021411 A24 R 3028 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000
o 4 Qctober 2023 2023F 10748 1636 - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000
CHEUNG Ho Koon 24 November2021 2021411 A24RH 3028 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
FOLE 4 QOctober 2023 2023F 10748 1636 - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
van LEE 24November2021 2021411 A24R 3028 600,000 - - 600,000
FHLER 4 QOctober 2023 2023F10A4H 1636 - 1,500,000 - 1,500,000
NGAN Man Ying 24November2021 2021411 A24R 3028 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000
B 4 October 2023 2023F10A4H 1636 - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
Madeline WONG 24November2021 2021411 A24 R 3028 3,500,000 - - 3,500,000
TEEE 40ctober2023  2023E 10747 1636 - 3,500,000 - 3,500,000
Johnson CHA 24 November2021 2021411 A24 R 3028 2,400,000 - - 2,400,000
EE 4 Qctober 2023 2023F10A4H 1636 - 2,400,000 - 2,400,000
Benjamin CHA 4Q0ctober2023  203F10A4H 1636 - 2,400,000 - 2,400,000
Y
Linus CHEUNG 24November 2021 202111 A 24A 3028 1,200,000 - - 1,200,000
KK 4 October 2023 2023F10A4H 1636 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Henry FAN 24 November2021 2021411 4248 3028 1,200,000 - - 1,200,000
BIEE 4 Qctober 2023 2023F10A4H 1636 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Barbara SHIU 24 November 2021 20011 A 248 3.028 600,000 - - 600,000
B 40ctober2023  2023F 10847 1636 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
TANG Kwai Chang 24 November 2021 2021F 11 A 248 3.028 1,200,000 - - 1,200,000
NEY 40ctober2023 202310847 1636 - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
Ex-director’ 24 November 2021 200111 B24H 3.028 3,600,000 - - 3,600,000
AEE
Employees 24 Noverber 2021 20214E11 A 24R 3028 3,720,000 - 740,000 2,980,000
EE 4 Qctober 2023 2023F10A4H 1636 - 6,180,000 140,000 6,040,000
Total #5t 39,520,000 42,280,000 880,000 80,920,000
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vested immediately on the date of grant.

fOR021FE N A4 BRE 2R BERT R 2021911 A24B E2026F 11 A23BEIRAITE - RO EERE L B ERERE -

remaining balance shall be vested on 4 October 2025) and early termination and are exercisable up to 3 October 2028.

Share options granted on 24 November 2021 are exercisable during the period from 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 and the share options

Share options granted on 4 October 2023 are subject to vesting conditions (50% of the options granted shall be vested on 4 October 2024 and the

° R2023F10A4BRE RN EBRSZHEBIGFATAR (50%H BRI N2024F 104858 - KB HR20255F10F48HE) KA T
IRATAR L - I AT R 2028410 A3 B ATIT(# ©

¢ ARRABEOHRERRB AR IKRTERTRI64ETT

Include two Directors retired with effect from 23 August 2023 and 24 August 2022 respectively.

T O BEMADBIR2023F8 23 M202Fs A4BRT I ES -

B) SHARE OPTIONS UNDER THE 2011 SCHEME

B)

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the date of grant was HK$1.64 per share.

RIB201 F R 8RR 0 #

Number of share option

#
Exercise price R HRHE

per share Balance as at Balance as at
Name or Category of HK$ 1 April 2023 Lapsed during 31 March 2024
participant BRITEE R2023E the year 2024
SREMZHER Date of grant®’ R B e (B7) 4B1BER FEREN 331 B4R
Victor CHA 28 February 2017 201742 A 28H 3845 3,190,000 - 3,190,000
BB 12 March 2018 201853 A 12H 4373 5,500,000 - 5,500,000
TANG Moon Wah 28 February 2017 2017528288 3845 2,200,000 - 2,200,000
) ES 12 March 2018 2018%F3H12H 4373 3,300,000 - 3,300,000
CHEUNG Ho Koon 12 March 2018 2018% 38128 4373 440,000 - 440,000
R
van LEE 12 March 2018 2018% 38128 4373 220,000 - 220,000
FEE
Madeline WONG 28 February 2017 201742280 3845 1,210,000 - 1210,000
FEEE 12 March 2018 2018F3A 128 4373 1,760,000 - 1,760,000
Johnson CHA 28 February 2017 201742 A 288 3845 1,210,000 - 1210000
BiE 12 March 2018 2018F3H12H 4373 1,760,000 - 1,760,000
Linus CHEUNG 28 February 2017 2017%2A28H 3845 550,000 - 550,000
R’k R 12 March 2018 20183 A 128 4373 880,000 - 880,000
TANG Kwai Chang 28 February 2017 20172 A 28H 3.845 220,000 - 220,000
HEy 12 March 2018 018F3 A 128 4373 880,000 - 880,000
Ex-directors'? 28 February 2017 2017528288 3845 5,390,000 - 5,390,000
HEZ 12 March 2018 201838128 4373 6,820,000 - 6,820,000
Employee (& S 12 March 2018 201837128 4373 220,000 220,000 -
Total 45t 35,750,000 220,000 35,530,000
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Share options granted on 28 February 2017 are exercisable during the period from 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027. Share options granted on 12
March 2018 are exercisable during the period from 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028.

O OR2017F2 A28 B 2 IR n BRME AT A 2017F 2 A28 B E2027F 2 A27 B EARI AT o 20183 B 12 B R 2 B 1 HA#E AT 12 2018

F38128F2028F3 811 AHMAITE -

The share options vested immediately on the respective dates of grant.

C O BOHBEREELAHIRREE -

Include four Directors resigned or retired with effect from 31 March 2018, 1 April 2021, 24 August 2022 and 23 August 2023 respectively.

0 BENZDRIR2018E3A31TE 20214818 2022688248 K2023F8 A3 HBHESREMNES -

Details of the value of the share option granted during FY2024 and the
accounting policy adopted for the share options are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 201 to 203.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Option Scheme” above, at
no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

For the FY2024, the interests of the Directors in businesses, which
competed or were likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules are as follows:

- Mr Johnson CHA is the non-executive chairman of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) whose group’s businesses
consist of property investment, property development and property
management. Hanison is listed on the Stock Exchange; and

- Mr Benjamin CHA is the founder and chairman of Serakai Group
Limited (formerly known as Seradac Foundation Limited) whose
businesses consist of property investment.

Save for the INEDs of the Company and save as disclosed above, none of
the Directors was interested in any business apart from the Group's
businesses which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the year.

MR20248F S & 2 B n iR B (8 A in B 42
RAMNGHRRFBHRF201EEF203H
ZIERAMBHRMERA -

EEREROIEERZ
B

B EXhety BB FAREES  AAF
X E A {7 B /B & B 4B 4B X A AR AR B ) BT A2
TRZE BEESAEBEARFLEM
HiZANBE R R EREMER -

EERNBFEB 2R

K204 F - EFREKEXHAEEEXE
BEERFRAURTERFZERT BAAR
BEMRAMFL B 2 BERWT

EMERERRBAZEERER AR
() ZFATER EBEEXBERRE
MERE MEZRIRMEREE - BB R
LT R

- & B RS & A Serakai Group Limited ( AT 18
Seradac Foundation Limited) Z Bl 3 A & £ fE » H
XBBEMERE -

BRARBIBER EXREEIN EFEREFR

BENEBEBIMEAREEEEEER
RS E RN R SR s

FERAREMREERRAT 20232024 8 61



Directors’ Report

EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 March 2024, the following persons (other than the Directors) #2024 3 8318 * BIE AR AR E A IEH S
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of  336{&3 TEBGF B~ M4 To AT

the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under (B FHRIN) RA D A Z %D M8 15D -+ %
Section 336 of the SFO: BZEmIOXBWNT :
LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE RARXFZREE2EBTRG 2
COMPANY OF HK$0.25 EACH HE
Approximate
percentage of
issued share
Number of capital
Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary share HERITREAZ
IRER & B g7} EBRHAE BHBEDI
CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited Corporate trustee 715,617,969" 4817
EEFFEA
LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited Corporate trustee 101,084,280 6.81
EEEFEA
Mingly Corporation Interest of controlled corporations 144,606,568" 9.73
BEHEBEERAERLRA REEE R
OFEl Kang Eric Interest of controlled corporations/
= [ Interest held jointly with another person 90,405,600'* 6.08
REmEE R/ B ARRREZ
RS
Claudio Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporations 83,500,800" 5.62

62
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These share interests comprise 571,011,401 shares held directly by CCM Trust and 144,606,568 shares held indirectly through wholly-owned subsidiary
of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”), which CCM Trust is interested in 87.5% equity interest. CCM Trust holds the above share interests as corporate trustee
of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming's
spouse and their issue.

ZERNERBECMTUtEEF B 25710400 RO RBEBENEEERERAFATENN 2 2EWBARMBEREZ
144,606,568 & A% 17+ T CCM Trust | B & 1875% MR 2 25 e CIMTrust LUE B R sTA D AE T AR RIS S5t A LR 7 #
m MZEEAZHBERRACLBEHEBERB L EBRKREZEMM -

The shares are held by LBJ Regents as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary
beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming's issue.

ZERMTIALBIRegents UABZ AT N RET TABNBERRE MRFEAIHEXEACRCREERB L 2EMH -

The shares are held indirectly by Mingly through its wholly-owned subsidiary.
ZERONBABNEBE2ENBARBERA -

As at 27 February 2024 as disclosed to the Stock Exchange, 6,904,800 shares are held jointly by OEl Kang Eric with another person and 83,500,800 shares
are held by corporations (including Claudio Holdings Limited) controlled by OEI Kang Eric.

12202452 B 27 BB X P 2 B EE + 6,904,800 AR AR 1) Fhy = M R fn A SL[R 457 - if 83,500,800 A% % 17 Il B3 & W 4% 1 2 )% @] (8 #& Claudio
Holdings Limited ) 3 74 ©

As at 27 February 2024 as disclosed to the Stock Exchange, the shares are held by, through corporations controlled by, Claudio Holdings Limited.
12202442 27 BB X T 2 #R B8 + 525 IR 19 Ha Claudio Holdings Limited i i HL 1% il 2 X B35 ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, no other interests or short
positions in the shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DEBT SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company has issued HK$300 million in a
principal amount of unlisted notes due May 2031. Details of the debt
securities are disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 197.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as disclosed under paragraphs (a) and (b)
of note 43 to the consolidated financial statements on page 237
constitute connected transaction(s) or continuing connected
transaction(s) under the Listing Rules but are exempt from shareholders’
approval and disclosure and other requirements under rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules. Save for the aforesaid transactions, the other related party
transactions shown in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements
do not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, no contract, transactions or arrangements of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director or controlling shareholder had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

M EXTEES o RN2024FE38318 0 B mRN
KRB 2 H RS IA B LR AR F]
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE
LISTING RULES

In accordance with the continuing obligations set out in rule 13.21 of
Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following are the details of the loan
agreements with covenants relating to specific performance on the
controlling shareholders of the Company as at the date of this annual
report pursuant to rule 13.18 thereof. There exists no reporting obligation
by the Company under rules 13.17 and 13.19 of the Listing Rules
accordingly:

a)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 4 August 2020 (the “Loan Agreement |") for a term and revolving loan
facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$3,350 million with final
maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement I.

b)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 9 October 2020 (the “Loan Agreement II") for a term and revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$1,000 million with
final maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement
Il.

c)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 6 September 2021 (the “Loan Agreement IlI") for a term and revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$600 million with
final maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement
Ml

d)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 29 April 2022 (the “Loan Agreement IV") for a term and revolving loan
facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,400 million with final
maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement IV.

Under the Loan Agreement |, Loan Agreement Il, Loan Agreement Il and
Loan Agreement IV (collectively, the “Loan Agreements”), among others,
an event of default is triggered when the existing largest shareholder of
the Company (together with his associate(s)) holding the largest
shareholding (direct or indirect) in the Company on the date of the
respective Loan Agreements ceases to be the Company's largest
shareholder at any time during the term of the respective Loan
Agreements unless the situation can be remedied within a prescribed
timeframe pursuant to the respective Loan Agreements.
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In the Company’s case, 816,702,249 shares (representing approximately
54.98% of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this
annual report) are owned by corporate trustees of certain, but not
identical, discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of
discretionary beneficiaries include the late Dr CHA Chi Ming's issue are
together treated as the existing largest shareholder collectively holding
the largest shareholding in the Company. This has been the continuing
status since the signing of each of the Loan Agreements.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULES 13.20 AND 13.22 OF CHAPTER
13 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requirements of rules 13.20 and 13.22 of Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules, the following were the details of financial
assistances and guarantees given for facilities granted to affiliated
companies of the Company as at 31 March 2024 pursuant to rules 13.13
and 13.16 thereof:

a) A joint venture, Gainwick Limited (“Gainwick”), which is indirectly
owned by the Company (effective shareholding interest of 40%) and
Hysan Development Company Limited (“Hysan”, effective shareholding
interest of 60%), was formed for the purpose of a residential property
development in Tai Po, New Territories. As at 31 March 2024, the
Company in proportion to its effective shareholding interests in Gainwick
provided Gainwick with HK$1,671.9 million advances in the form of
unsecured with no fixed terms of repayment, in which HK$80.0 million
as working capital loan is charged with an interest rate of 2% per annum
over 1-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR") whereas the
remaining advances are interest-free.

In addition, for purpose of provision of mortgage loan financing to the
purchasers of the development and for working capital purpose, the
Group provided advances to Gainwick Mortgage Limited (‘GML"), in
which the Group and Hysan hold indirectly 40% and 60% respective
effective shareholding interests. As at 31 March 2024, the Group
advanced HK$99.7 million to GML and the advances are unsecured with
no fixed terms of repayment, and at an interest rate of 2% per annum

over T-month HIBOR.
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On 27 December 2023, the Company also provided guarantee for the
principal amount up to HK$1,000 million in favour of a syndicate of
financial institutions in Hong Kong as a security for Gainwick’s obligation
under the banking facilities granted to Gainwick by the financial
institutions (the “Guarantee”) to refinance the outstanding amount of
the indebtedness of Gainwick owed under the facility agreement dated
26 May 2017 which was matured on 26 February 2024 and partially
refinance the shareholders’ advance made to Gainwick. The interest rate
for the banking facilities is a sum of HIBOR plus 1.15% per annum and
relevant interest period (one, two or three months or any other period
agreed between Gainwick and the financial institutions). Further details
of the repayment terms and security of the Guarantee are disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 27 December 2023. As at 31
March 2024, the banking facilities utilised by Gainwick in proportionate
of 40% which is secured by guarantee given by the Company amounted
to HK$884.5 million.

b)  Asat31 March 2024, the Group advanced to Dazhongli Properties
Limited and its subsidiaries ("Dazhongli group”) an aggregate amount of
HK$4,559.7 million. Dazhongli group is engaged in the operation of
investment properties and hotel properties in Jing'an District, Shanghai,
the People’s Republic of China in which the Group has 50% interest. The
advances were provided by the Group in the form of equity and loans in
proportion to its shareholding interest therein, for the purpose of
financing the development expenditure of Dazhongli group. Out of the
advances, HK$119.4 million are unsecured, interest bearing at 1.71% per
annum and has been repaid in April 2024. The remaining of the
advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

Q) As at 31 March 2024, the Group also advanced to and provided
guarantees for other several affiliated companies an aggregate amount
of HK$672.7 million. The Group has interests ranging from 319% to 50% in
these affiliated companies.

As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of advances provided to
and guarantees given for these affiliated companies by the Group
amounted to HK$7,888.5 million representing 18.9% of the consolidated
total assets of the Group of HK$41,824.7 million as at 31 March 2024.

The financial information of these affiliated companies as at 31 March

2024 is set out in notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 180 to 185.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’'s five largest customers
was less than 30% of the total value of the Group's turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total value of the Group's purchases.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group's
five largest customers and suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$1.7 million (2023: approximately HK$1.3
million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles although
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information available to the Company, the percentage of
the Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public exceeds 25%
of the Company’s total number of issued shares.
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REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The Group's annual report for the FY2024 has been reviewed by the
Audit Committee of the Company established in compliance with rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules and the relevant provisions of the CG Code.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the FY2024 have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"). A resolution will be submitted to
the 2024 AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor.

On behalf of the Board
REES®

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Executive Chairman

ERR
AEY

Hong Kong, 19 June 2024
B 2024F 6 F19H

68 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2023/2024

BREEERFRETER

EE204F F 2 FHREAER EMMRAIFE321
M&AA*HIJEFW%X}EX ZARRNEEZR
BEEgEM -

B BB

64MF2HEAMBRRACHERRKES
FHERE AT ([ KB KE]) Bk - NRR A
R4BRFELIEEZREZR BRERR
KB AR Z B o



Corporate Governance Report
CEERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
FUNCTIONS

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) is committed to good corporate governance
which it believes to be core to the success of its businesses and
operations.

The corporate governance functions are undertaken by the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”), through the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company as delegated by the Board, as
prescribed by code provision A.2.1 of the Principles of Good Corporate
Governance, Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices as set
out in Appendix C1, the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) which are
included in the terms of references of the Board and the Corporate
Governance Committee.

During the year under review, the Company has applied the principles
and fully complied with the code provisions and certain recommended
best practices of the CG Code with more details as set out below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

COMPANY CULTURE

The Company has a well-established vision, mission and values to drive
its strategy with the principal objective to enhance long-term total
return for all its stakeholders. The vision, mission and core values of the
Company are duly set out in the corporate profile of 2023/2024 annual
report and the website of the Company. To better align the corporate
culture with the vision, mission and values of the Company, the Board
has established Company Culture Policy to set the tone from the top
and shape the desired corporate culture with the core purpose to instil
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and continually reinforce across all levels of the Group the values of
acting lawfully, ethically, respectfully, diligently, creatively and
responsibly. The full text of the Company Culture Policy is available on
the website of the Company. Apart from the policy, the Board, led by
example, conducted annual board self-evaluation to enhance Directors’
accountability and ensure the effectiveness of the Board in monitoring
and overseeing the operations and behaviours of the Company. To
ensure the desired culture and expected behaviours of the Company are
adequately communicated and understood by employees, the relevant
company culture elements such as integrity, caring, trust, respect and
commitment are incorporated into the annual individual performance
assessment. In addition, through biennial employee surveys, employees’
comments or opinions in relation to the promotion of desired company
culture are collected for enhancement purpose. As an assessment on the
effectiveness of the Company’s alignment of company culture, indicators
including whistleblowing reported cases, identified material breach of
code of conduct or regulatory requirement, fraud-related/high risk and
employee turnover ratio are set by the Board and to be reviewed by
delegated Board Committees on a regular basis with any concern to be
further reported to the Board and, if required, for examination.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta
retired as Independent Non-executive Director ("INED") of the Company
with effect from 23 August 2023. As at 31 March 2024, the Board
comprised twelve Directors of which five are Executive Directors (“EDs")
and seven are Non-executive Directors (“NEDs”) of whom four and
hence, with one-third of the Board, are INEDs. Each Director possesses
skills and experience appropriate to the business of the Group and the
biographical details of Directors are duly set out in the section headed
"Board of Directors” on pages 40 to 46 of 2023/2024 annual report.

Save for Mr Victor CHA, Mr Johnson CHA and Ms Madeline WONG who
are siblings, as well as Mr Benjamin CHA is the son of Mr Victor CHA and
nephew of Mr Johnson CHA and Ms Madeline WONG, all other Directors
have no family relationship with each other.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board has the responsibility for strategic leadership, control and
providing guidance to management to ensure the Company's objectives
are achieved.

Upon appointment to the Board, every Director is given comprehensive
and formal induction documentation of the business operations of the
Group and information for his/her understanding and awareness of his/
her responsibilities as Director under the Listing Rules, legal and other
regulatory and statutory requirements, and briefings with senior
executives and department heads of the Group, if required.
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Each Director ensures that he/she can give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Group and has informed the Company in a timely
manner for any change, the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments. Details
of Directors’ other appointments are shown in the section headed “Board
of Directors” on pages 40 to 46 of 2023/2024 annual report.

A list of the Directors, their roles and functions and, in particular whether
they are INEDs, is maintained on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange and is updated as and when required.

BOARD PROCESS

The dates of the regular Board meetings in each year are scheduled
ahead to give all Directors adequate time to plan their schedules to
attend meetings. There are four regular Board meetings in a year which
are held on a quarterly basis and ad hoc Board meetings will also be held
as and when required. For the year ended 31 March 2024, six Board
meetings were held and attendance records of the Board meetings held
during the year are set out in the below paragraph headed “Attendances
of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.

At least 14 days formal notice would be given before each regular Board
meeting and not less than forty-eight hours' advance notice would also
be given for other Board meetings. All Directors are consulted as to
whether they wish to include any matters in the agenda and the
Chairman of the Board would review and approve the agenda before
the agenda for each Board meeting is issued.

Agendas and accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors/Board
Committees members at least three days (or such other period as
agreed) before meetings. With the assistance of the EDs, the Chairman of
the Board seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and receive adequate documents and
information about the Group in a timely manner. The Chairman of the
Board, orin his absence, the Deputy Chairman or the Managing Director,
leads meetings and ensures that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Directors in a timely manner. Directors are provided
sufficient time for discussion on issues in the meetings and encouraged
to express their viewpoints on the Board's affairs and voice their
concerns, if any. The Chairman directs discussions in the meetings in
reaching a consensus and consolidates discussions with conclusions.
Minutes of Board/Board Committees meetings record matters
considered and decisions reached. Draft and final signed minutes of
Board/Board Committees meetings are properly kept by the Company
Secretary or respective committee secretary and sent to all Directors for
their comments and records respectively. Directors are entitled to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expenses, if he/she
considers necessary in order to perform his/her duties.
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The Chairman of the Board meets at least once annually with the INEDs
without the presence of EDs and NEDs. In March 2024, the Chairman of
the Board met the INEDs without the presence of EDs and NEDs and all
four INEDs attended the same.

Where necessary, INEDs meet privately to discuss matters which are their
specific responsibilities. During the year, no such meeting was required
to be held.

BOARD ANNUAL EVALUATION

To ensure independent view and input from Directors are available to
the Board and to drive continuous improvement in board performance,
the Board has adopted the Board Evaluation Framework in 2022 and it
will be reviewed by the Corporate Governance Committee on an annual
basis to ensure its effectiveness. Led by the Chairman, the Board
conducted annual board evaluation in the form of questionnaire and, if
required, one-on-one meeting between the Chairman and individual
Director. The primary goal of the board evaluation is to assess board
culture and dynamics, ensure optimal board composition and improve
board practices and enhance effectiveness. Views of individual Director
in respect of board organisation and functioning, board structure and
composition, shareholders’ communication, company culture, director
training, conflict of interest and overall board effectiveness are collected
and consolidated to be presented to the Board on a no-name basis
annually to assess if there are gaps between where the Board strives to
be and where the Board currently stands, including the reasons for such
gaps, and if considered appropriate, set out an action plan with concrete
steps for mitigating the gaps. For the year under review, the Directors
considered all aspects of the Board evaluated are overall effectively
performed and adequate. In addition, for any addition of director, if
required, preferable to be younger, female and independent with
expertise on information technology and digitalization, risk management,
strategic planning, property development and investment or finance.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The CG Code requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separated and not be performed by the same
individual to ensure there is a clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the executives who run the business.

The role of Chairman and Managing Director have been taken up by two
different individuals. Mr Victor CHA is the Chairman and Mr TANG Moon
Wah is the Managing Director of the Company. The respective roles and
responsibilities of Chairman and Managing Director are clearly separated
and set out in writing.
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The Chairman provides leadership to, and oversees the functioning of,
the Board to ensure it acts in the best interests of the Group. With the
support of the Company Secretary and Corporate Governance
Committee, the Chairman is primarily responsible for establishing good
corporate governance practices and procedures of the Company. The
Managing Director, assisted by other EDs and executive management
team, implements the strategies approved by the Board.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (INCLUDING
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS)

NEDs of the Company are appointed with a specific term of three years
which is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election of Directors
under the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”). Details
of the mechanism are set out in below paragraph headed “Appointments,
Re-election and Removal”.

The roles and responsibilities of NEDs are clearly set out in writing. NEDs
are not involved in the day-to-day management of the Group's
businesses but participate in Board/Board Committee meetings where
they bring independent views and judgment on issues of strategy,
policy, performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standards of conduct.

INEDs, in particular, will oversee the management and the Company
implementing the rules, procedures and policies established and help to
ensure that the interests of the shareholders as a whole are taken into
account by the Board. Each of the INEDs has provided to the Company
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers that all of them continue to be
independent with reference to the terms of guidelines set out in the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

The Articles stipulate that at each annual general meeting (“AGM"), one-
third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
any Director appointed by the Directors shall hold office only until the
first AGM of the Company after his/her appointment and be eligible to
offer himself/herself for re-election. Re-election of each eligible Director
is subject to approval by shareholders at the general meeting of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors are provided with continuous updates on latest changes or
material development in laws, the Listing Rules, corporate governance
practices relating to the duties and responsibilities of directors and are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
seminars to update their knowledge for discharging directors’
responsibilities.

The Directors, who are in office during the year under review and remain
at the date of this annual report, have participated in the following
various continuous professional development activities in order to
develop and refresh their skills and knowledge. Each Director has
provided his/her training records for the year under review to the
Company with particulars set out as follows:

EEZREERRR

EETRESEREETRG MBE ZEH -
EHRAERERERZENETLERXN
BR2EFEHN RETEZB2EFER
XERVSN G NEHNEETESTBRAEZ
AN o

REBEFEARRAERAMOAEEZE
EC2RATAZEKEEXRREPIUER
HRpEUERAN#E SEFERAAQAREHR
RREBEERZEIRE  FEHINWT

Type of training(s)

Name of Director EEHS EIEE
Victor CHA B A
TANG Moon Wah BB I A
CHEUNG Ho Koon REE A
Ivan LEE Z 3L ER A
NGAN Man Ying PR 5 A
Madeline WONG TEXESE A
Johnson CHA BHE A B
Benjamin CHA B+ A
Linus CHEUNG 9K K FF A
Henry FAN SBIEER A
Barbara SHIU AR B AB
TANG Kwai Chang HEZ A B

Notes:

A.  Reading/viewing materials/articles/commentary/video in relation to directors’
duties and responsibilities as well as updates, developments and refreshments on
regulatory requirements, government policies, environmental, social and governance
("ESG"), banking, accounting standard, cybersecurity and corporate governance
including but not limited to board agenda and board diversity.

B. Attending workshops/seminars/conferences/forum/webinar in relation to the
directors’ duties and responsibilities as well as updates and developments on statutory
and regulatory requirements, accounting standard, China real estate market, artificial
intelligence, financial technology, green financing, cybersecurity, digital frauds, digital
payments and settlements, banking, tax, sustainability, ESG, global business and
economic environments.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated and set out levels of authority and expressed
terms of references for the Board Committees and reserves the rights to
oversee and decide all other non-delegated matters, in particular, major
acquisitions or disposals and connected transactions. The Board also
delegates certain management and administrative functions to the
management as it considers appropriate from time to time, with
directions as to the powers of management, including circumstances
where management shall report to and obtain prior approval from the
Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee, Corporate Governance Committee and other
committees, namely Finance Committee, Investment/Divestment
Committee, Buy-back, Reissue and Transfer of Shares Committee, Inside
Information Committee and ESG Committee. All committees are entitled
to seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s expenses, if
they consider necessary in order to perform their duties. The Board may
also on a need basis set up special committees with clear terms of
references to deal with specific transactions or matters of the Company.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established in March
2012 and its terms of reference follow closely the requirements of the CG
Code. The full text of the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee require, inter alia,
that the Nomination Committee comprises not less than three members
with a majority of INEDs and the chairman must be either an INED or the
Chairman of the Board. During the year under review, Ms Loretta HO
retired and Ms Barbara SHIU was appointed as the member of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 23 August 2023. The
Nomination Committee currently comprises five members, namely
Mr Henry FAN, Mr Victor CHA, Ms Madeline WONG, Mr TANG Kwai Chang
and Ms Barbara SHIU with Mr Henry FAN acting as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.
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The principal role and function of the Nomination Committee is to
identify and recommend to the Board suitably qualified persons to
become members of the Board, to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis, as well as to maintain (i) a
policy concerning diversity of Board members (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) and make recommendation to the Board, if required, for
achieving diversity of the Board; and (i) a policy concerning nomination
of Director (the “Director Nomination Policy”).

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Board in March 2013 and
updated in March 2022. Pursuant to the policy, the Nomination
Committee will review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and discuss and agree annually measurable objectives, targets, timeline
and plans, if any, based on rigorous analysis and benchmarking data for
achieving diversity of the Board and recommend them, to the Board for
adoption. The Nomination Committee also monitors the progress and its
policy implementation for annual reporting in the corporate governance
report. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of services. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The policy will be reviewed by the Nomination Committee on an
annual basis and when required to ensure its effectiveness.

The Director Nomination Policy was adopted by the Board in November
2018. Pursuant to the policy, the Nomination Committee will discuss and
consider the nomination of candidates from various sources for new
Directors, examine the qualification of these candidates, and then
recommend such candidates to the Board, which has the final authority
on determining the selection of such candidate to be appointed as a
Director. The major criteria considered by the Nomination Committee
are, inter alia, candidates’ educational backgrounds, experience and
expertise in their chosen industries, their proposed commitment to the
Company and the goal, if any, of diversity of the Board. Regarding the
nomination of INEDs, the Nomination Committee will also particularly
consider the independence of such candidates. The policy will be
reviewed by the Nomination Committee on an annual basis and when
required to ensure its effectiveness.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee in the meeting held in
March 2024 has (a) reviewed the retirement of Directors and
recommended to the Board the re-election of Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon (ED),
Ms NGAN Man Ying (ED), Mr Henry FAN (INED) and Ms Barbara SHIU (INED)
at the forthcoming AGM of the Company to be held in August 2024,
(b) reviewed, assessed and considered that all INEDs are independent;
(c) reviewed, assessed and considered the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy; (d) reviewed
the benchmarking data and determined the target number of female
members to be not less than 25% of the Board remains adequate; and
(e) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, in
particular on gender diversity, during the financial year of 2023/2024 and
considered that the current diversity of the Board, including the proportion
of female directors of the Board (with three out of twelve Directors)
which still meet the target set, is appropriate and it is not necessary to
set out any timeline or plan for enhancing the diversity of the Board for
the financial year of 2024/2025. However, taking into account the views
of Directors according to the board evaluation results for the year under
review, the Nomination Committee will put particular focus on
identifying young female and independent candidates with expertise on
information technology and digitalization, risk management, strategic
planning, property development and investment or finance for joining
the Board as when required. The records of the meeting held by the
Nomination Committee during the year are set out in the below
paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board
Committee Meetings”.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established in
December 2004 and its terms of reference follow closely the
requirements of the CG Code. The full text of the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee require, inter
alia, that the Remuneration Committee comprises not less than three
members with a majority of INEDs. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three members, namely Mr Linus CHEUNG, Mr Henry
FAN and Mr Victor CHA with Mr Linus CHEUNG acting as the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The principal role and function of the Remuneration Committee is to
exercise the powers of the Board to review and determine the
remuneration and packages of individual EDs and senior management,
including salaries, bonuses, benefits in kind, share options and other
plans. Factors such as remuneration paid for comparable positions, time
commitment and responsibilities of the EDs and senior management as
well as the Company’s remuneration policy will be considered. More
information in relation to the Directors’ remuneration policy of the
Company can refer to the below paragraph headed “Directors’
Remuneration”.

During the year, no Remuneration Committee meeting was held but the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved by electronic
circulation the proposals of (a) additional bonus payment to EDs for the
financial year of 2022/2023 based on the audited account; (b) bonus
payment payouts for EDs for the financial year of 2023/2024; (c) salary
review for the financial year of 2024/2025, including salary freeze for EDs;
(d) employment extension for an ED after his retirement age with
housing allowance adjustment; and (e) employment extension for
another ED after his retirement age. The records of circulated electronic
communication of the Remuneration Committee during the year are
duly set out in the below paragraph headed “Attendances of General
Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company was established in July 1998 and
its terms of reference follow closely the requirements of the CG Code.
The full text of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee require, inter alia, that
the Audit Committee comprises not less than three members who are
NEDs and a majority of them must be INEDs of the Company. During the
year under review, Ms Loretta HO retired as member of the Audit
Committee with effect from 23 August 2023. The Audit Committee
currently comprises three members, namely Mr TANG Kwai Chang,
Mr Linus CHEUNG and Ms Barbara SHIU with Mr TANG Kwai Chang
leading the Audit Committee as the chairman.

The principal role and function of the Audit Committee is to assist the
Board in (i) meeting its responsibilities for ensuring an effective system of
risk management and internal controls and compliance; (i) meeting its
external financial reporting objectives; and (iii) maintaining the
Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Fraud Policy.

During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held, of which two
meetings were held with the Independent Auditor together with senior
management and has (a) reviewed and received the audit strategy
memorandums for the audit of the financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024; (b) considered the Independent Auditor’s
projected audit and non-audit services fees; (c) reviewed the
independence of the Independent Auditor, the nature and scope of the
audit as well as recommended the re-appointment of Independent
Auditor after considering the matters set out in the guideline of Financial
Reporting Council; (d) reviewed and discussed the interim and final
financial statements and the Independent Auditor's review report for the
Board's approval; and (e) reviewed Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Fraud
Policy with no amendment be recommended to the Board. In these two
meetings, the Audit Committee also met with the head of the Internal
Audit Department of the Company to receive their work plan and, review
and discuss on their findings and rectification actions taken by the
business units. In addition, the Audit Committee had met with senior
management in another meeting to review and receive the risk
management report in evaluating the effectiveness of the risk
management system of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023.
In accordance with new requirement of Code of Ethnic for Professional
Accountants of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
effective in December 2022, the Audit Committee has also approved four
non-audit services provided by the Independent Auditor during the year
under review by electronic circulation. The records of the meeting held
and circulated electronic communications of the Audit Committee during
the year are set out in the below paragraph headed “Attendances of
General Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee was established in September
2018 for the purpose of enhancing and ensuring that the Company
maintains a high standard of corporate governance. lts terms of
reference follow closely the requirements of the CG Code. The full text of
the terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee is
available on the website of the Company.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee require,
inter alia, comprises not less than three members with majority of them
must be NEDs (including INEDs) of the Company. The Corporate
Governance Committee currently comprises four members, namely Ms
Madeline WONG, Mr Victor CHA, Mr Henry FAN and Mr TANG Kwai
Chang with Ms Madeline WONG leading the Corporate Governance
Committee as the chairman.

The principal role and function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to assist the Board and the Chairman in developing, reviewing and
monitoring the Company's policies and practices on corporate
governance to ensure their compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements.

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee held a meeting
in March 2024 and through an circulated electronic communication
have (a) reviewed the corporate governance report to be incorporated
in the annual report of 2022/2023; (b) received and reviewed the training
records of all Directors for the financial year of 2022/2023; (c) reviewed all
the key Company’s policies and practices, among others, the Company
Culture Policy, Shareholders” Communication Policy, Board Evaluation
Framework, Model Code of the Company, code of conduct for Directors
and employees as well as terms of reference of officers and respective
Board Committees. The Committee recommended to update the Model
Code of the Company for the alignment with Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuer” for the approval of the Board and considered all other policies
and practices remain adequate and effective. The records of the meeting
held by the Corporate Governance Committee and circulated electronic
communication during the year are set out in the below paragraph
headed "Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee
Meetings".
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ATTENDANCES OF GENERAL MEETINGS,
BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the meetings of the
Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination &
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee held during the year 3£

under review are set out below:

Corporate
Governance
Audit Committee Remuneration Committee
Meeting/ Committee Nomination Meeting/
Board circulated circulated Committee circulated AGM held on
Meeting communication communication Meeting communication 23 August 2023
EE® EHNZEEYE FMZEEe REZEE BEXERZES W2023F8H23H
Name of director EERF 22 S2/EHER BREN 82 S3/ERBEN BTzRRFE
Victor CHA'e* BRI 6/6 - 5/5 1/1 2/2 v
TANG Moon Wah B m 6/6 - - - - v
CHEUNG Ho Koon RIEE 6/6 - - - - v
Ivan LEE FLER 6/6 - - - - v
NGAN Man Ying e 6/6 - - - - v
Madeline WONG®* FEXRE 5/6 - - 1N 22 v
Johnson CHA BiE 6/6 - - - - X
Benjamin CHA LR 6/6 - - - - v
Linus CHEUNG* RAKTRH 6/6 717 5/5 - - v
Henry FANfe* el T 5/6 - 5/5 1/1 22 v
Barbara SHIU*® R 6/6 717 - N - v/
TANG Kwai Chang*®*  Bf & &+ 6/6 7/7 - I 2/2 v/
Notes: B 5T -
* members of Audit Committee * BIZEBEEKE
# members of Remuneration Committee # HMEEek B2
@ members of Nomination Committee e RBEZEZEe@KE
* members of Corporate Governance Committee + hEEBREZEEKE

Chairman of the Company and chairman of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Corporate Governance Committee and representative of
Independent Auditor were all present at the 2023 AGM and available to
answer questions from shareholders.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation
of accounts for financial year which is required to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group, its results and
the cash flows for the Group. For preparation of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors
selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimations that are prudent and reasonable, and
prepared accounts on a going concern basis. The statement of the
Company's Independent Auditor about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 is contained in the Independent Auditor's report of
2023/2024 annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for evaluating and providing
direction to the Company on the nature and extent of the risks that shall
be taken in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring
that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
systems of risk management and internal controls, which include
financial, operational and compliance controls.

The main features of the risk management and internal control systems
are to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as
well as a reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks
across business operations. Key policies and procedures have been
developed, implemented and communicated to staff as well as regularly
reviewed to ensure that there are continued relevant and effective risk
management and internal control systems and for continuous
improvement which include (a) setting core values and beliefs which
form the basis of the Group's overall risk philosophy and appetite as well
as cultivate a company culture which aligns with the core values and
beliefs; (b) having an organisational structure in place with defined lines
of responsibility and delegation of authority which holds individuals
accountable for their risk management and internal control
responsibilities and provides necessary information flow for risk analysis
and management decision-making on an on-going basis; (c) imposing
budgetary and management accounting controls to efficiently allocate
resources and provide timely financial and operational performance
indicators to manage business activities and risks; (d) ensuring effective
financial reporting control to record complete, accurate and timely
accounting and management information; and (e) having structural
internal audit function to perform independent appraisal of business
units and corporate functions on an on-going and cyclical basis.
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The Board has delegated responsibility to the Audit Committee for
providing oversight in respect of risk management and internal control
activities. The Audit Committee discusses the risk management and
internal control systems with management for the year under review to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have an effective risk
management and internal control systems. Discussion covers areas, inter
alia, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programme and budget (collectively, “Resources”) of the

Company’s accounting and financial reporting functions.

To assist the Board and the Audit Committee in overseeing the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, the Internal
Audit Department is responsible for performing independent reviews on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal
controls and risk management and reporting audit findings to the Audit
Committee and the Board regularly. An Internal Audit Charter, which was
adopted in 2008, formulates the processes and procedures of internal
audit function for strengthening the control framework. The Audit
Committee also separately consults with the Internal Audit Department
in respect of the adequacy of Resources of the Company’s internal audit
function.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The successful management of risks is essential for the long-term growth
and sustainability of the Group's business. To ensure risk management of
the Group is integrated into the day-to-day operation of the Group and
is continuously carried out at all levels of the Group, the Company has
established a risk governance and management framework and
governance structure which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee,
risk management steering group and business lines to facilitate a
systematic approach to the management of risks within the Group.
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The following diagram illustrates the Group's risk governance and
management framework:

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
Exg

AUDIT
COMMITTEE
BEREES

RISK
MANAGEMENT

STEERING GROUP
EEEES

BUSINESS LINES
T e #R P

evaluate and provide direction on the nature and extent
of the risks

PR M E REE RIS EMEER

ensure appropriate and effective risk management and
internal controls systems (the “Systems”)

BREBEERZABEERAPEZRLE ([R5])

Delegation Reporting
R R

oversee management on implementation of the Systems
EEERAR BT

review effectiveness of the Systems

BN RS2 ERSE

review annual risk assessment results from management Reporting
B EERNFERBTMER R
review and consider major investigation findings and

management's response

RAREHEEASHERUARERBNEE

identify any significant risks and bring to the attention of Monitoring
the Board Btz
BAEAEARRLRFESEIE -
consider enhancement proposal from management

and/or Internal Audit Department on the Systems

ZRHEEER / SABELBIIRECRRRE 22E

Overseeing Reporting
EE B

establish and maintain risk management infrastructure
BYRESRBEREE

conduct risk identification and assessment
AT R R A G

escalate risk and control issues on a timely manner

R B [6) - B SR LB K B AR ) R

ensure business lines conducting risk assessment and
controlling self-assessment

R EBALIPIET MR R B BT
provide assurance on the effectiveness of the Systems
RRGEZEYERERE

propose enhancement on the Systems

FECRGREES

Overseeing Reporting
EE 3

manage risks of respective business units

BRHXBEN RS

identify and evaluate risks that potentially impact to business units
BRI REE Y EHEREMREERME

mitigate and monitor identified risks

IR R B AR AT Bl 2 L

conduct risk assessment and control self-assessment

ETRBREHE R B R BRI
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INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT
&R BB P

® perform audits on proper functioning of the Systems
HEASNESEFETER

® report any findings to the Audit Committee
BEZZEEERIMELER

® provide independent and objective assurance
on the effectiveness of the Systems
RAESK AR RHB L REERORE

® propose enhancement on the Systems

MECRGRHER



The Company has also formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy
in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the risk management
steering group, which comprises the heads of all business units and
corporate functions, collects and collates risk information from business
lines, identifies risks (including ESG-related risks), on a group-wide basis,
that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group's objectives,
and assesses and prioritises the identified risks according to a set of
standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans are established and risk owners
are also assigned to closely monitor those risks which are considered to
be significant on an on-going basis and implement the mitigation plans.
The identified risks which are considered to be significant to the Group,
including their changes in nature and extent since the last review, and
the relevant mitigation plans for the year under review have been
presented and accepted by the Audit Committee and the Board in April
and June 2024 respectively.

The Internal Audit Department acts as an independent assessor as
another line of defence on risk management system. It conducts
independent review and assesses, at least on an annual basis, if all the
key risks are properly identified and evaluated in accordance with the
Risk Management Policy and whether the existing risk controls are
operating effectively. A control self-assessment process was also
established which requires risk owners to assess, through questionnaire,
the adequacy and effectiveness of risk controls over the areas under their
responsibilities. The process and its results were reviewed by the Internal
Audit Department and form part of the Audit Committee’s annual
assessment of control effectiveness.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

In addition to the independent assessment of the risk management
system, during the year, the Internal Audit Department also carried out
reviews on (a) the operation of the Insurance Department; (b) the
operation of the Hong Kong Sales and Marketing Department; (c) the
operation of Discovery Bay Recreation Club (ad hoc review); (d) the
operation of Procurement Department; (e) the voting mechanism and
arrangement in 2023 AGM of the Company; (f) the whistleblowing cases
received; and the reviews on the other business units with audit follow-
up. With the implementation of follow-up measures after the audits, the
areas with irregularities have been gradually improved. Findings on the
audits, control weaknesses, if any, and the relevant recommendations
have been presented to and accepted by the Audit Committee and the
Board in November 2023 and June 2024.
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The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The Board, through the works of
the Audit Committee, risk management steering group and the Internal
Audit Department, has conducted an annual review on the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024 and considers that the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems for the year were effective
and adequate. Management of the Group has also provided
confirmation to the Audit Committee and the Board on the effectiveness
of such systems for the year under review.

HANDLING OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”") and the Listing Rules. A Disclosure of Inside
Information Policy has been established by the Company to set out the
procedures on reporting the likely inside information to ensure that
potential price sensitive or inside information of the Group can be
promptly identified, assessed and escalated for disseminating to the
public. The Company discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the “Safe
Harbours” as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully
disclosed to the public, the Company will ensure that the information is
kept strictly confidential. If the Company believes that the necessary
degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality
may have been breached, the Company will immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Company is committed to ensure that
information contained in announcements are not false or misleading as
to any material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of any
material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

86 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2023/2024

EREENANNEERFEEETIEMIEHER
REEEREBBEEZRR BEIRBREE
ARKERMKIBRIZBHEGEMIERE 2R
B EETERERZTET AREEEE
NERANBEZIMCTIIE SEEREE
24F3ANNBIEFE AR ERE KA E
TERBRIKNBCETFERN  URAEEX
FEZRREEBMANETZZABAILT
Boltih EEEEENCREZRZESR
EEeRRAEBESNRLEEFERNZ BB -

REEARARZHEE

SE-—EBEETEFLRARGRMNTESFGMD
REMRUZBRE - ARRERIABHEE
BEBRR JHERATETARTEEZRE
Fr CAWEAR SEE AT DB 4 Rl ~ R A & E 3R ¥
BREAEEZEZENIARTEE  UWER
RNB|BEWR - ARAEERAGEATZER
T EERAAZBEANBEL KIEAH
HEBREFGITEMIZE2EI2&EE -
ARABERAAREEREARBEEA 28
REZHBHEBRHYRE - WARAR R TRERER
VEZREREXAEERREEL A2
AEgERNARBEERRER -ARARN
BRASTHEAHREAFTEZEHNTE
ERIAREE  UWEMEFFZITAZ5
ER BIMMEEFEEFREESEREZR
BUBRTERERENAETEMBENER
HEREM -



DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company strives to maintain a stable dividend to shareholders and
has adopted a dividend policy (the “Policy”). Pursuant to the Policy, the
declaration or recommendation of dividends is subject to the sole
discretion of the Board. The Board shall consider the following factors
before declaring or recommending dividends:

° the Company's actual and expected financial performance;

° shareholders’ interests;

° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

° any restriction on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

° the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plan;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
motion control business or financial performance and position of

the Company;
° taxation considerations;
° statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

° any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board, through the Corporate Governance Committee, will
continually review the Policy, and reserve the right in its sole absolute
discretion to update, amend and/or modify the Policy at any time, and
the Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by
the Company in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate
the Company to declare dividend at any time or from time to time.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE ESG REPORTING
GUIDE

The Group has complied with the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock
Exchange and has released its standalone ESG Report for the year ended
31 March 2024 online at the same time with the publication of
2023/2024 annual report, which captures in detail the Group's ESG-
related initiatives, policies and performance in Hong Kong, mainland
China and Thailand throughout the financial year.
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WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Company strives to maintain gender-balanced workforce and
considers capability is more important than gender. Except for the
general staff level which has relatively more male than female due to the
nature of works and the workforce availability in the market for
transportation industry sector such as crew, technician, engineer and
bus captain, the Company maintains a relatively balanced gender ratio
across the workforce and it is considered not necessary to set out any
plan or measurable objectives for enhancing workforce diversity for the
financial year of 2024/2025. Detail of the gender ratio in different level of
workforce for the year under review can refer to the ESG Report
published at the same time with the 2023/2024 annual report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration (save for directors’ fees which are subject to
shareholders’ approval at general meeting) is determined with reference
to prevailing market situation, their respective duties and responsibilities
and the Group'’s remuneration policy. Under the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee, the Remuneration Committee should
make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and it
has the delegated responsibilities to determine the remuneration of the
EDs. In general, the EDs under the remuneration policy are entitled to
(i) basic salary which will be reviewed on an annual basis by making
reference to remuneration survey conducted by independent external
consultant on companies operating in similar businesses; (i) discretionary
bonus which are subject to the ED’s and the Company’s performance;
and (iii) contribution to retirement schemes and other fringe benefits.

The Chairman, who is a member of the Remuneration Committee, is
involved in recommending proposals on the remuneration of other EDs
for due consideration and approval by the Remuneration Committee.
However, he abstains from discussion and voting when his remuneration
is reviewed and considered by the Remuneration Committee. No
Director will participate in the discussion and review of his/her own
remuneration under the remuneration policy.
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The remuneration of NEDs is in the form of annual directors’ fee. To ensure
that NEDs are appropriately remunerated for their time and responsibilities
devoted to the Company, the Remuneration Committee will periodically
review and consider the factors including fees paid by comparable
companies, time commitment, responsibilities in the Company and the
prevailing market situation, and make recommendation for the approval
of the Board pursuant to the authority given by the shareholders at
general meeting from time to time. Currently, a sum of HK$100,000 per
annum being the basic fee for acting as a NED, additional fee of
HK$100,000 per annum will be paid to each member, who is NED, of each
of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company and additional fee of HK$ 150,000
per annum will be paid to each member, who is NED, of the Audit
Committee. An additional fee of HK$50,000 will also be paid to each INED
having a seat in any independent board committee which is required to
be set up from time to time under the Listing Rules.

All Directors are also eligible to be granted of share options under the
Company's approved share option schemes. Each grant to Directors is
subject to the approvals of the Remuneration Committee, INEDs and the
Board having regard to their respective role and responsibilities as well
as the prevailing market situation.

Remuneration details of the Directors (on individual name basis) for the
year ended 31 March 2024 are disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 169 to 171 of 2023/2024 annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR
RELATED MATTERS

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC’) is the Independent Auditor of the
Company. The remuneration for audit services provided by PwC to the
Group for the year under review amounted to approximately HK$8.7
million. In addition to the audit fee, the Company had appointed PwC
for the interim results review and the other non-audit advisory services
in respect of accounting system migration, major transaction and cyber-
attack simulation assessment, remuneration of which amounted to
approximately HK$4.2 million for the year under review. All the non-audit
advisory services were approved by the Audit Committee pursuant to
the requirement of Code of Ethnic for Professional Accountants of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants effective in December
2022.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
(including amendments as effected from time to time) as its own code
of conduct to regulate securities transactions by Directors (the “Model
Code”). All Directors, who were in office during the financial year ended
31 March 2024 and remain at the date of this annual report, have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during
the year from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 (both days inclusive). The
Model Code has been extended to and has become equally applicable
to dealings in the securities of the Company by senior management and
relevant employees.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is an employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affair. During the year
ended 31 March 2024, she has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and
will continue to comply with such requirement for the year ending 31
March 2025 and report regularly.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 72 of the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall
also be convened by the written requisition of any one or more
shareholder(s) of the Company holding together, as at the date of
deposit of the requisition, shares representing not less than one-tenth of
the voting rights of the Company which carry the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. Shareholders wishing to do so must
serve a duly executed written requisition to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at 23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun
Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong (the “Principal
Place of Business”) specifying the object(s) of the meeting and the
resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda. If the Directors do not
within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed to
duly convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, such
shareholder(s) may convene a physical general meeting at only one
location, provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by such shareholder(s)
as a result of the failure of the Directors to convene the meeting shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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In addition, any shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) may
nominate a person to stand for election as Director at the general
meeting in accordance with article 120 of the Articles. Any shareholder
wishing to do so must serve (a) a written notice of intention to propose
such person for election as Director; (b) a notice executed by that person
of his/her willingness to be elected; and (c) the information of that
person as required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules to the Principal Place of Business between the period, which shall
be at least three days, commencing from the date after the despatch of
the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
ending on (and excluding) the date that is ten clear business days prior
to the date of such general meeting. The Company shall issue an
announcement and/or a supplementary circular, if applicable, to inform
the shareholders the biographical details of the candidate proposed if a
valid notice to propose a person to stand for election as Director is
received.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with the shareholders and other stakeholders. A
Shareholders” Communication Policy has been adopted by the Board
which sets out the Company's policy for maintaining an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and investment community. Full text of the
Shareholders” Communication Policy is available on the website of the
Company and the same is subject to regular review by the Corporate
Governance Committee to ensure its effectiveness. In view of the below
stakeholders’ activities conducted by the Company, the Shareholders’
Communication Policy is considered as effectively implemented during
the year under review.

The Company's 2023 AGM, for which at least 21 days' prior notice is
given, was held on 23 August 2023 and is one of the Company’s
principal channels of communication with its shareholders for each year.
Shareholders have the opportunity to communicate face to face with
the Directors if they have any questions on the Company’s performance
and operations. In addition to the AGM, extensive information on the
Company'’s activities in respect of its financial, business and operations is
provided by way of announcements, annual and interim reports,
circulars, ESG Report, relevant policies and procedures such as
Shareholders" Communication Policy, Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-
Fraud Policy, etc,, as well as various corporate news and information are
sent to shareholders and/or available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. Investor/analysis briefing, site visit, media
interviews, marketing activities for investors are also available from time
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to time in order to facilitate communications between the Company,
shareholders and the investment community. During the year, there
were over twenty meetings, media interviews and projects’ or
Company's marketing communications (including social media) for
sharing and exchanging views between the Company and various
stakeholders.

Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary is
responsible for forwarding communications relating to matters within
the Board's direct responsibilities to the Board and communications
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
customers concerns, to the relevant executive officers of the Company
under the direction of the Chairman or Managing Director of the
Company. While other investors and stakeholders may send their
enquiries to the Company's investor relations officer. During the year, the
Company has fully responded to all the legitimate enquiries through the
above channels. The contact details of both Company Secretary and
investor relations officer of the Company are set out in the Shareholders’
Communication Policy.

As one of the important stakeholders, employees’ view on the elements
in relation to company culture such as working environment, benefits,
relations and engagement, training and development, talent retention
and management style, etc. is also collected through employee survey
conducted biennially. The first employee survey was conducted in 2022.
With the valuable feedbacks and opinions from employees, the
Company's focus and priority on enhancing employee engagements
can be set more precisely for the identified areas.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. No
change was made to the Company’s constitutional documents during
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Financial Highlights
BT

2024 2023

For the year ended 31 March BE3IANHLEE HK$'M HKS'M
Results B4 BEEBT BEATT
Revenue e A 3,940.7 1,693.7
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners KRAFEA ANEMN(EE)/mF

of the Company (468.0) 4556
Basic (loss)/earnings per share (HK cents) FRER(ER)/BF EL) (31.5) 30.7

2024 2023

At 31 March M3HA31H HKS$'M HKS$'M
Financial Position B 75 AR R BEAETL BEBTT
Total assets BEMAE 41,824.7 46,9024
Total liabilities BEEBE 15,677.8 19,6315
Equity attributable to owners of the AR ANEMLER

Company 23,358.3 24,3979
Net asset value per share (HKS) FREEFEGET) 15.7 16.4

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (HKS)
BREEFE (Br)
20
16.8
15.9 164 15.7
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OVERALL RESULTS

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries’
(collectively, the “Group”) revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024
("FY2024") amounted to HK$3,940.7 million, increased by 132.7% from
HK$1,693.7 million in the last year primarily due to revenue recognition
of Starlight One, a project in Jiaxing, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").
The Group also posted an increase of 35.3% in underlying profit, being
profit or loss attributable to owners of the Company excluding the
Group's attributable share of non-recurring asset impairment provisions,
fair value changes (net of taxes) of investment properties and one-off
gain on disposal of joint venture investments, of HK$172.6 million as
compared to that of HK$127.6 million calculated on the same basis for
the previous year.

With the inclusion of the Group's attributable share of fair value losses of
investment properties held by the Group and its joint venture
amounting HK$263.9 million, non-recurring asset impairment provisions
of HK$376.7 million and absence of non-recurring gain on disposal of
joint venture investments as recorded in the preceding year, the Group
however recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HKS$468.0 million for the FY2024, a decrease of HK$923.6 million from a
profit attributable to owners of the Company of HK$455.6 million for the
preceding year.

Apart from the above-mentioned factors, the Group's operating result
for the FY2024 was also impacted by the continuous depreciation of
Renminbi, Thai Baht and Japanese Yen as well as interest rate hikes,
leading to higher exchange losses and finance costs.
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SEGMENT RESULT ANALYSIS

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

During FY2024, the Group recognised a segment revenue of HK$2,554.8
million (2023: HK$274.3 million) and segment loss of HK$221.3 million
(2023: profit of HK$213.2 million) from property sales and other services
rendered in Hong Kong and mainland China. Despite sales launch of
Starlight One, a project in Jiaxing, the PRC in March 2023 led to a
rebound in segment revenue from the last year, segment loss was
recorded as a result of the Group’s recording of non-recurring asset
impairment provisions of approximately HK$336.3 million for certain
properties held for development, under development and for sale of the
Group and its joint ventures as of 31 March 2024 as well as the lack of
disposal gain of property project during the year (note: a net gain of
disposal of a joint venture of HK$368.0 million was recorded in 2023).

As the competition among property developers becoming more intense
in the second half of the year, putting pressure on prices and margins,
the Group has recognised respective impairment losses on certain
property assets reflecting net realisable value under prevailing market
circumstances.

As of 31 March 2024, the Group has HK$771.5 million contracted but
unrecognised property sales.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The Group recorded segment revenue of HK$551.0 million (2023:
HK$585.3 million) and segment profit of HK$597.7 million (2023:
HKS$605.4 million) from its investment properties portfolio in Hong Kong
and mainland China for the FY2024 with the Group's share of results of
HKRI Taikoo Hui, the Group’s flagship project in Shanghai, PRC. Decline in
segment revenue and profit was mainly attributable to the decline in
occupancy rates of major properties in Hong Kong and mainland China.

In view of the slow-down of local economy and rental property market,
the Group recognised net unrealised fair value losses attributable to the
Group of HK$263.9 million with reference to the valuation report from
independent valuer. This amount has not been included in the segment
profit above.
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TRANSPORTATION SERVICES AND PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT

The segment recorded revenue of HK$285.8 million (2023: HK$270.8
million) and profit of HK$S11.0 million (2023: HK$53.9 million) for the
FY2024. Despite demand for ferry and bus services in Discovery Bay has
stabilised during the year, average daily ridership has yet to catch up
with the pre-COVID levels. Besides, transport operations have faced
challenges of rising fuel costs and higher staff overtime costs as a result
of shortage of operation staff while received smaller amount of subsidies
from the government. The other factor affecting the segment’s
operating performance included asset impairment provision of HK$5.4
million (note: an impairment provision of HK$6.5 million was reversed in
2023). Property management services continued to provide a stable
contribution to both revenue and net profit of the Group for the year.

HOTEL OPERATIONS

The segment recorded revenue of HK$252.3 million (2023: HKS$274.7
million) and loss of HK$22.5 million (2023: HK$4.4 million) for the FY2024.
The enlarged segment loss is primarily attributed to low occupancies.
The Sukhothai Bangkok's occupancy has remained low during the year
as the guest room and spa facilities were undergoing renovation.
Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong's occupancy has decreased as
compared to that of the preceding year due to increasing trend of out-
bound cross-border travel which has largely offset the inbound tourism
and the increase in competition at Lantau Island, leading to lower
demand for rooms and food and beverages. Auberge Discovery Bay
Hong Kong has lowered its room rates to attract visitors’ stays.

LEISURE BUSINESSES

The segment including mainly Discovery Bay Recreation Club, Club
Siena, Discovery Bay Golf Club, Lantau Yacht Club, DB Ice Rink and Peony
Chinese Restaurant. The segment recorded revenue of HK$296.8 million
(2023: HKS$288.6 million) and loss of HK$73.2 million (2023: profit of
HKS$2.7 million) for the FY2024. Segment loss was mainly attributed to
absence of income from membership fee forfeited as recorded in the
preceding year, reduction in government subsidies during the year as
well as recording of asset impairment provisions of HK$52.1 million.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

NET DEBT AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As of 31 March 2024, the Group had total bank balances and cash of
HKS$1,605.8 million (2023: HKS6,212.6 million) and a net debt of
HK$9,021.4 million (2023: HK$5,366.5 million) after deducting total bank
borrowings and other loans of HK$10,627.2 million (2023: HK$11,579.1
million). The decrease in bank balances and cash was partly attributable
to the refund of over-subscription monies received from property buyers
totaling HK$1,206.6 million in April 2023.

As of 31 March 2024, about 33% of the Group'’s bank balance and cash
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, 27% in Renminbi, 14% in US
dollars, 17% in Japanese Yen and the remaining were mainly in
Singapore dollars and Thai Baht.

As of 31 March 2024, the Group's debt portfolio comprised of primarily
bilateral and syndicated bank loans to finance its general working capital
and the development projects. The unlisted notes of HK$300 million was
issued under Medium Term Note programme in May 2021.

The maturity profile of bank borrowings and other loans were 35.2% (2023:
19.8%) falling within one year, 27.2% (2023: 34.2%) falling between one
and two years, 34.8% (2023: 43.4%) falling between two and five years
and 2.8% (2023: 2.6%) falling over 5 years.

As of 31 March 2024, all bank borrowings and other loans were on
floating rate basis whereas the unlisted notes were with fixed coupon
rate. The Group's total bank borrowings and other loans were all
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUND AND GEARING

As of 31 March 2024, the shareholders’ fund of the Group decreased by
HK$1,039.6 million to HK$23,358.3 million (2023: HK$24,397.9 million).

The Group’s gearing ratio was 38.6% (2023: 22.0%) as calculated by the
Group's consolidated net borrowings to the shareholders’ fund as of 31
March 2024. The consolidated net borrowings as of 31 March 2023
included bank balances and cash of HK$1,206.6 million, being the over-
subscription monies received from property buyers which have been
refunded in April 2023. If these amounts were excluded, the gearing ratio
would be 26.9%.

RBESRMBER

BERFERERLE

M2024F3A31H  SEFERITEBR LIRS B
541,6058 8 878 70 (20234F 1 62126 B &B L)
MINBBITEE R HE A E KL 5106272
BEAETQBE - NS799BEBT) B2
BE1% % 8 Bo02148 & B 7t (20234 : 53665
BEBL) RITHEBERERL  FoER
203 F4AREMMEERWI 2 BERE
RIEA 12066 E BB TTATE -

R2024F3A318 - SEMFAEMPBTLHEH
BB EPR BT AHME3R% AREL527% -
ELAMH14% - BHEHOGH17% EHANFEAL
s oT R Fdk o

MR2024F3A3R  EBE 2 EHRHEETEBRE
AHE—REBEShERBEERERECE
ERIEEETER EEZR2021F5AE
B EEEET0EE BT ZIELT

i -

BROEEREMERAATERE A —F
M EY (5352% (20234 : 198%) * —FEMER
B 1 27.2% (20234 © 34.2%) ~ M & & 1 F A HY
1534.8% (2023 4F : 43.4%) & 1 F LA £ #Y1528%
(20234 1 26%) °

M2024F3A3H  SEMERITEEREM
BEREEZFHMNETE  MIFLMEEAIZ
BEMEFE - SEZRTEEREMER
WER I AE TTEHE »

BRRETREFRBLR

20243318 EB 2 REE £ 41,0396
B E BT E2335838 878 7T (20234 : 243979
BEBIL)

MN2024F3A31H  REBLGEASEBEFHERI
BEESFTECEBEARABELL X A386%
(20234 : 220%) > FA2023E3 A31H A EE
FHEeRBETESKRLIA 120668
RYEXEERMUMHBERERE  ZEX
JHE R2023F4 R0 MMiGRZERE &
ABELER269% o

FERAREMREERRAT 20232024 8 97



Financial Review

i JE) -

AVAILABILITY OF FACILITIES

Total available loan facilities as of 31 March 2024 were HKS17,611.0
million (2023: HK$17,523.8 million), of which 83.5% were committed.

As of 31 March 2024, the unutilised credit facilities were approximately
HK$6,958.2 million (2023: HKS$5,918.2 million). The Group closely
monitors its liquidity requirements and arranges financing for its
development projects and operations as and when appropriate.

During FY2024, the average financing cost was at 5.9% per annum as
compared to 3.3% per annum in the preceding year.

With the unutilised loan facilities, cash on hand and expected cash flows
from operations, the Group has sufficient financial resources to fund its
current commitments and future potential investment opportunities
ahead.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has centralised treasury functions and adopted a conservative
approach for its treasury management. The Group closely reviews and
monitors its foreign currency exposure. To manage foreign currency
exposure in certain overseas investments, the Group maintains certain
naturally hedged positions and will make any swap or future
arrangements as appropriate. The Group’s banking facilities are
principally on floating rate basis and interest rate swaps will be employed
to manage interest rate risk for its short- to medium-term borrowings
when appropriate and necessary.

The use of derivative financial instruments is strictly controlled and are
primarily used for management of interest rate and currency exposures.
It is the policy of the Group to restrict the use of financial derivatives for
speculative purpose.

MAJOR ACQUISITIONS AND PROJECTS

During FY2024, the Group completed the acquisition of a piece of land
lot in Jiaxing, PRC by settlement of land cost balance payment of
HK$1,273.9 million.

In June 2023, the Group acquired the Hotel Kanronomori in Niseko,
Hokkaido, Japan for a consideration of HK$117.9 million.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 31 March 2024, the loans advanced to a joint venture by the Group
including interest payable amounting to approximately HK$1,695.8
million (2023: HK$1,506.3 million) were subordinated to banks to secure
a banking facility granted to the joint venture for financing the
development project in Tai Po.

In addition, as of 31 March 2024, no bank loan of the Group was secured
by investment properties (2023: HK$434.0 million).

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The financial guarantee contracts relating to a corporate guarantee in
the Group's proportionate share given to bank was released (2023:
HK$98.9 million) in October 2023 after loan refinancing of an investee
company.

The Company provided a corporate guarantee in proportionate share to
banks for securing a banking facility granted to a joint venture to finance
the development project in Tai Po. The bank loan balance in
proportionate share of 40% is HK$884.5 million (2023: HK$1,252.0 million)
as of 31 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other significant
financial guarantee contract as of 31 March 2024.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR S

_B
pwc

To the Shareholders of HKR International Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of HKR International Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages
110 to 239, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024,

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and its joint
venture

Recoverability of properties held for/under development for sale
and properties held for sale
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Key Audit Matter
AREITER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NMNEEERESNSE

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and
its joint venture

BEEBRASENAMFENREYENIEE

Refer to notes 4, 15 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2024, the investment properties held by the
Group were stated at fair value of HK$13,843.2 million with a
net realised and unrealised loss of HK$339.4 million recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group's joint
venture also has significant investment properties.

Independent external valuers were engaged to determine the
fair value of the investment properties held by the Group and
its joint venture.
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

We understood management’s controls and processes
for determining the valuation of investment properties
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
the judgements involved in determining the fair value;

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers;

We obtained the valuation reports and met the
independent external valuers to discuss the valuation
methodologies and key assumptions;
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Key Audit Matter
ARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNESANAEEBERENSE

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and
its joint venture (Continued)

BEREBRAGERNAMFENREY XN 1EE (&)

The fair value of investment properties was generally derived
by using the income capitalisation approach and where
appropriate, the direct comparison approach. The income
capitalisation approach was based on the capitalisation of the
rental income and reversionary income potential by adopting
appropriate capitalisation rates and market rents. The direct
comparison approach assumed sale of property interest in its
existing state based on comparable market transactions, as
available in the relevant market.

We focus on this area because the fair values of investment
properties are subject to significant judgement, estimates and
assumptions involved in determining the valuations.
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We involved our in-house valuation experts and
assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuation of investment
properties, based on our knowledge of the property
industry, research evidence of capitalisation rates,
market rents and comparable market transactions for
similar properties, where applicable; and

We tested, on a sample basis, the data used in the
valuation of investment properties, including rental rates
from existing tenancies by agreeing them to the
underlying agreements with the tenants.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
methodologies used in preparing the valuations were
appropriate and the key estimates and assumptions were
supportable in light of available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter
AREITER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NMNEEERESNSE

Recoverability of properties held for/under development
for sale and properties held for sale
RHEESFRE/ZEFYRERGFELHEYER 7K O
i3

Refer to notes 4 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying values of the Group's
properties held for/under development for sale and properties
held for sale amounted to HK$3,398.5 million, HK$7,261.8
million and HK$1,405.5 million respectively.

Management assessed the recoverability of the carrying values
of properties held by the Group based on estimates of the net
realisable values of the underlying properties. These involved
the estimation of selling prices of the properties based on
current market prices of properties of comparable locations
and conditions, the construction costs to complete based on
the existing development plans and the costs necessary to
make the sales, where applicable.
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Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of properties
held for/under development for sale and properties held for
sale included:

We understood and evaluated management’s internal
controls and processes in determining the net realisable
values of the properties and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and the judgement involved in
determining the net realisable values;

We evaluated and tested the operating effectiveness of
relevant controls around the property development
cycle with particular focus on, but not limited to,
controls over cost budgeting for estimated costs to
completion, where applicable;
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Key Audit Matter
ARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNESANAEEBERENSE

Recoverability of properties held for/under development
for sale and properties held for sale (Continued)
REESFRE/ZREFYRERFELHEYER 7 KO
(&)

If the estimated net realisable values of the underlying
properties were significantly different from their carrying values
as a result of changes of market conditions and/or significant
variation in the budgeted development costs, material write
down for the properties held for/under development for sale
and properties held for sale may result.

We focus on this area because the existence of estimates and
assumptions involved in the recoverability assessment warrants
specific audit focus and attention.
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We evaluated management’s assessment on the
recoverability of the properties, and assessed the
reasonableness of key assumptions and estimates in
management’s assessment including:

(i) For the estimated selling prices, we compared, on a
sample basis, to the current market prices of properties
of comparable locations and conditions; and

(ii) For the estimated costs to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales, we assessed the
reasonableness of the costs necessary to make the sales
and the latest budgets of total construction costs and
tested, on a sample basis, the construction costs to
committed contracts and other supporting information.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the key
estimates and assumptions in the recoverability assessment
were supportable in light of available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Mr. Ho Chiu Ping, Dennis.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
EORKESHMERAR
Certified Public Accountants

HEEEED

Hong Kong, 19 June 2024
B 20246 A 19H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

meEmR

Fortheyearended 31 March2024 &, Z=2024F3 A31 B IEFE

2024 2023
Notes HKS$'M HKS'M
B 2 BEE®BT BEAT
Revenue WA 5 3,940.7 1,693.7
Cost of sales 3 € R (2,550.3) (906.0)
Gross profit E F 1,390.4 787.7
Other income E b U A 6 148.9 1796
Other gains and losses E bz K g5 18 7 (441.1) 2493
Selling, administrative and other operating HE THREMEERS
expenses (714.5) (656.1)
Change in fair value and (losses)/gains on KREMELAFEZESHREE
disposals of investment properties 2 (B8 /W=
Realised (losses)/gains on disposals HER 2 228 (B18) /s 15 (3.0) 266
Unrealised losses REIHER 15 (336.4) (86.3)
Finance costs MEER 8 (409.4) (230.0)
Share of results of associates DIGEE AR EE (0.1) (0.2)
Share of results of joint ventures NIEEERRIER 192.0 2843
(Loss)/profit before taxation BT AT (E518) /0@ F 9 (173.2) 554.9
Taxation tIa 10 (373.9) (76.7)
(Loss)/profit for the year RNEE (EE) /=T (547.1) 4782
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: T3S ARFE (EE)/
am A
Owners of the Company KARER A 11 (468.0) 4556
Non-controlling interests FEFE PR R S (79.1) 226
(547.1) 478.2
HK cents HK cents
78 il AL
(Loss)/earnings per share % (B8 /& T 14
Basic B IN (31.5) 30.7
Diluted e (31.5) 30.7
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

meEmkEMZEKRER

Forthe yearended 31 March 2024 #{Z= 20243 A31 B ILFE

2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEAT BEAT
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE (FE) /& T (547.1) 4782
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Emrm(FEX) /W :
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss BB P EEEmEH
Investments in equity instruments measured at R A F{EF AE M EE KR FE =
fair value through other comprehensive AT AEE:
income:
Fair value changes during the year FARFEES (12.7) (19.2)
Deferred tax arising from fair value changes NEEEHELE ZEERIE (0.1) 0.1
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit BERERANEB cENTE
obligations 0.7 -
(12.1) (19.1)
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to HEiEsked T BB
profit or loss
Exchange differences arising from BN ERNREEZIER =5
foreign joint ventures (267.4) (639.3)
Exchange differences arising from translation of ~ & H M JBINE R E L 2
other foreign operations fE R =% (283.2) (404.5)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal of HERING & D AR KR
a foreign joint venture BE 3 1 1 - 223
Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration 18§85 35 90t BB A &) 5+ i B
of foreign subsidiaries % B B 3 (A 1 0.9 28.1
Share of asset revaluation reserve of NIEEERRICEEEM
ajoint venture &G - 22
(549.7) (991.2)
Other comprehensive expense for the year, AEFTEMETERX - AKRTHE
net of tax (561.8) (1,010.3)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEErERA A (1,108.9) (532.1)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income THEG2E (FAX)/ W45 :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company iN/NICTE 7 =N (1,030.1) (554.7)
Non-controlling interests JE 1 A% 7 (78.8) 226
(1,108.9) (532.1)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M BARRR

At31March2024 #2024 3 A31H

2024 2023
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
B 5 BEART BEAT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investment properties KEWE 15 13,843.2 14,1572
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE MK 16 2,635.5 2,648.1
Intangible assets BEEE 8.8 =
Right-of-use assets TRAEEE 17 70.7 782
Interests in associates RN Dol £ 18 - =
Interests in joint ventures AENRZER 19 9,908.1 10,105.3
Properties held for development for sale HHEEFERDE 23 3,398.5 3,149.7
Equity instruments measured at fair value EAFEGFAEMER
through other comprehensive income WHirE2RATA 20 11.5 247
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAERZ
profit or loss TREE 20 423.9 462.1
Investments in debt instruments measured at REHEK AT EZ
amortised cost BEBEITAKE 20 11.5 495
Other assets HEmEE 21 325.2 396.8
Deferred tax assets BELEBIHEE 31 58.4 109.4
30,695.3 31,1810
Current assets MEE E
Inventories FE 22 39.2 31.8
Properties held for sale BHIELEmE 1,405.5 23375
Properties under development for sale HEEZRERYE 23 7,261.8 6,067.8
Trade receivables JEWE SRR 24 46.1 476
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e B IE K
Eh fE KT 25(a) 360.4 7504
Loan to a joint venture ERTEERN T 19 119.4 -
Amounts due from associates JFE Uk Bt 2 N B) TR T8 18, 25(b) 4.1 40
Amounts due from joint ventures U A &N Rk IE 25(c) 167.3 192.1
Investments in debt instruments measured at R SE R AR a‘|’g 2
amortised cost BEEIAEKE 20 57.3 216
Taxation recoverable Al 3R [B 7 18 62.5 56.0
Bank balances and cash RITEBRKRIRE 25(a), 34(c) 1,605.8 6,212.6
11,129.4 15,7214
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2024 2023
Notes HKS$'M HKS'M
B 5 BHEBTT BEETT
Current liabilities MENEE
Trade payables, provision and accrued charges  JEfN B SR - BE &
EstE R 26 1,111.7 1,169.3
Deposits received and other financial liabilites ~ B UWiEE€ kHEM e g E & 160.5 1,363.1
Contract liabilities aHhaE 27 97.1 2,0754
Bank and other loans due within one year —FAHEHZRITR
H A& 28 3,744.1 22974
Lease liabilities HEBE 29 6.3 6.0
Taxation payable &1~ 7 18 239.1 2910
5,358.8 7,202.2
Net current assets mENEEFE 5,770.6 8,519.2
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTBDAG 36,465.9 39,700.2
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Contract liabilities EHBE 27 226.5 70.9
Bank and other loans due after one year —FRIBPZRITR
H B % 28 6,883.1 92817
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 42.2 479
Other liabilities due after one year —FRIPrEMEE 30 2,735.3 26219
Deferred tax liabilities BRERIEEE 31 431.9 406.9
10,319.0 12,429.3
26,146.9 27,2709
Capital and reserves BERKFE
Share capital & 7 32 371.3 3713
Reserves & 22,987.0 24,026.6
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KAREAE AN 23,358.3 24,397.9
Non-controlling interests FEVERR HE 2 2,788.6 2,873.0
26,146.9 27,270.9

The consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 239 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 June
2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

TANG Moon Wah
Managing Director
B w2
EFREE

F10BEE F

NG

VOHAMEABRAHBERERERN
204F6 HIORBEEESHAERKETE - I
ATHEERERES

AN Man Ying

Executive Director

BXH
HITEE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

Fortheyearended 31 March2024 &, Z=2024F3 A31 B IEFE

2024 2023
Note HK$'M HKS'M
Bt 5 BEAT BEAT
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 2EMH)/FERS 34(a) (2,327.8) 3,035.7
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ERNEARNER (39.8) (76.9)
Overseas tax paid B8N IR (294.5) (98.6)
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities SEER(FAA)/MERS
F R (2,662.1) 2,860.2
Investing activities BEEE
Cash distribution from a joint venture KEAZL AR ZHEEDIK - 175
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture HESZERNAZEIE - 704.6
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BERRHEZ
plant and equipment F 18 5 IE 5.6 26
Redemption of investments in debt instruments & Bl IR # S5 B AN EH 8 2
measured at amortised cost B IEKE 8.3 200
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at PERATFEFAERZ
fair value through profit or loss SRBEEZFEHRIEAE 28.1 242
Interest received B FE 51.1 264
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties  HER &Y 2% 2 FT1E5 X IE 49.1 2489
Repayment of loan from a joint venture EERNAIEEER 887.9 910
Loans to joint ventures BERxTELERNA (872.8) (675.0)
Additions of investment properties NEREYE (139.2) (25.5)
Additions of property, plant and equipment REME BE K& (237.6) (109.1)
Additions of intangible assets REBEEE (10.9) =
Additions of investments in debt instruments REREHKATEZ
measured at amortised cost BEEIEKE (20.9) =
Additions of financial assets at fair value through ~ REIE A FEE ABZ=H 2
profit or loss SREE (7.8) (2.5)
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities WEEE(FTA)/FEHES
FRR (259.1) 323.1
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2024 2023
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
B 5 BHEBTT BEETT
Financing activities B R &) 34(b)
New bank and other loans raised FRITREMERK 10,710.0 64328
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder EI O N - 780
Club debentures redeemed FBO=EmMES (18.8) (14.0)
Repayment of bank and other loans BEEBITREMER (11,635.0) (54987)
Interest paid SRR (601.3) (334.0)
Dividends paid =Y es) (14.9) (74.3)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEHEARE (8.3) (9.3)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder 2 [A] FE 12 A% A% B8 Ik 1~ IR 2. (5.6) (69.0)
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities MEEE(TA)/FMBRE
gt (1,573.9) 511.5
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HekBEEEHBEBEZ
cash equivalents CRLA) /38 o0 58 (4,495.1) 3,694.8
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYIzREeMNREEEIER
of the year 6,212.6 2,717.7
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXREHH &8 (111.7) (199.9)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FEFRZEERRESEEER 34(c) 1,605.8 6,212.6
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e AR MR

1T GENERAL INFORMATION

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information
section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
development, management and provision of essential and recreational
services for residential housing and leisure projects in Discovery Bay,
Lantau Island, other property development, property investment and
hotel operations. The Group's associates and joint ventures are
principally engaged in property development and property investment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.

2 APPLICATION OF NEW STANDARD, AMENDMENTS
TOHONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND INTERPRETATION

NEW STANDARD AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs
THAT ARE MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR

The Group has applied the following new standard and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17

Insurance Contracts

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

The application of the new standard and amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance and on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs AND INTERPRETATION
IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
and interpretation that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

Lack of Exchangeability

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The Group anticipates that the application of above amendments to

HKFRSs and interpretation will have no material impact on the Group's

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for mortgage instalment receivables,
investment properties and financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset taken into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted
at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Group.
Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and

circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in
an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or
other parties;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders” meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until the date
when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY NOT CONSTITUTING
A BUSINESS

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do not
constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating the
purchase price first to investment properties which are subsequently
measured under fair value model, and financial assets and financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase.
Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase
gain.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and joint
ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net
assets of the associates and joint ventures other than profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an

alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.
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Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”.
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

In contrast, a

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the
Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying
each performance obligation is determined at contract inception. It
represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not
directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods
or services to the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods or
services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in an
amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group’s
performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in the
amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances, the
contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment
terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer of
the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for the
promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the period
between the advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services are accounted for on the same basis as
other borrowing costs.
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Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the Group
incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not have
incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset if it
expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all incremental
costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of buildings and office equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Except for those that are recognised as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented within “investment
properties”.
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Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liabilities at the present value of lease payments that
are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and

any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liabilities based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value model. Variable lease
payments for operating leases that depend on an index or a rate are
estimated and included in the total lease payments to be recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income when they
arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group'’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customer” to
allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for
which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in a foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group's
interests in associates or joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group's operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation, attributable to owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. For properties under
development, the Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as
the properties are ready for the Group's intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is
ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit before taxation because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on the tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than freehold land and construction in progress as
described below). Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the
entire properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in asset revaluation reserve.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to accumulated profits.
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Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, other than
freehold land and construction in progress, less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.

Hotel properties

Freehold land

Buildings, commercial and
leisure facilities

3-40 years
No depreciation
5-50 years, or over the lease term if shorter

Leasehold improvements 5-10 years, or over the lease term if shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 3-7 years
equipment

Plant, machinery and 5-15 years
equipment

Ferries, launches and motor  3-20 years

vehicles

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.
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An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.

If there is a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to
owner-occupied property evidenced by the commencement of owner
occupation, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting shall
be its fair value at the date of change in use.

The Group transfers a property from properties held for/under
development for sale to investment property when there is a change in
use to hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation
rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced
by the observable actions taken to support the change in use. Any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer
and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

IMPAIRMENT ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER DEVELOPMENT
FOR SALE

Properties held for/under development for sale are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the related development
expenditure incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to
make the sales.
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Properties under development for sale are transferred to properties held
for sale upon completion. Properties under development for sale
included in the current assets are expected to be realised in, or is
intended for sale in the Group's normal operating cycle.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are completed properties and are classified under
current assets. Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost relating to the development of properties,
comprising lands and development costs, are included in properties
under development for sale until such time when they are completed.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all
anticipated costs to be incurred in marketing and selling.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount
is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL"), are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the gross carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost and debt instruments
designated as at FVTOCI

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the subsequent reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit- impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit
or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of
the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.
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(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss
("ECL") model on financial assets (including investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, loan to a
joint venture, loan to an investee, other receivables, amounts due from
associates, amounts due from joint ventures, bank balances) and other
item (financial guarantee contracts) which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL ("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL
on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.q.
a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (a) it has
a low risk of default, (b) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (c) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a
party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the
contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  thelender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation.
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(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the
cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
expected losses is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other

party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective interest
rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount rate
instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.
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Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and other
receivables, are each assessed as a separate group. Loans to associates
and joint ventures are assessed for ECL on an individual basis);

Past-due status;
Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised at
the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises reversal of
impairment or impairment loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of
trade receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
accumulated profits.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification of debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities, except for derivative financial liabilities, are
subsequently measured at amortised costs, using the effective interest
method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank and other loans, trade payables,
deposits received, advances from non-controlling shareholders,
advances from joint ventures and club debentures are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Club
debentures were issued to members at the principal amount and is
recognised initially at fair value. The difference between the initial fair
value and the principal amount is recognised as deferred income.
Deferred income is recognised to profit or loss over the terms of
debentures.
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Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contracts are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with
HKFRS 9; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes/state-
managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing
similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
at the grant date.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to accumulated profits. Regarding to the share
options of the subsidiary, when share options are exercised after the
vesting date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
of a subsidiary will be transferred to share of net assets of subsidiaries
within non-controlling interests.
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GOVERNMENT GRANTS/SUBSIDIES

Grants/subsidies from the government are recognised at their fair values
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant/subsidies will be
received and the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Government grants/subsidies relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary to match them
with the costs that they are intended to compensate. Government
grants/subsidies relating to the purchase of property, plant and
equipment are deducted from the cost of the property, plant and
equipment.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the financial statements in the financial period when the
dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders/directors, where
appropriate.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

148 HKRInternational Limited Annual Report 2023/2024

BUKRT % Bh /%8 By

i BE %8 & I i E &= [ 5 Yo BR BT 48 Bh/#68 Bh 2
SEBTEMMEN SRS IZEQFEE
P I il B/ #9 BE o B R AN B B 2 BUAT M BY/
HUECEME)/ M EREERAT TEY
ZHEA - EREER - BEBEYE BER
RBEROBTME/ MM AYE  BERE
B2 R IR

Bﬁ/%\ﬁi}ﬁ
ARARRESRZBENRARARE/ES

(@ E) #4E R 3 A B 2 B 15 B PR A 7 B 7%
BRTPERSEE-

4 i%%#ﬂ%&ﬁﬁ*%%
HEZ2FERR

RERFENMEIZEEEHRRE - ARF
EEARCHEMARFELTEMBRAZEENR
BEKREEELHE At REBR- bRk
*EFﬁ1?““)%5‘&?&5&”«%ﬁ&a@d%ifﬁE%ZEM
HAEEL - BERERTEANEHTER -

Bt REABRRRFEEERN - FatfHat
& 7T & ] (A 5T BB A A (i & ?1 TEZHY
) RERT R AR KB A (RE T FEE A

R AR RHRE) R -



CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimation, that the directors of the Company have made in the process
of applying the Group'’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the investment property
portfolio of the Group and concluded that none of the investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, the directors of the
Company have determined that the “sale” presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The Group has not
recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment
properties to the extent in which the disposal of those investment
properties are not subject to income taxes.

The directors of the Company also determined the investment
properties held by a joint venture whose business objective is to
consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the
directors of the Company have determined that the “sale” presumption
set out in HKAS 12 is rebutted.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Management had made the following estimations that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements and a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2024 at their fair value of HK$13,843.2
million (2023: HKS$14,157.2 million) (Note 15). The fair value was based on
valuation of these properties conducted by independent firms of
professional valuers (the “Valuers”). In determining the fair values of the
Group's investment properties, the Valuers applied a market value basis
which involves, inter-alia, significant unobservable inputs and significant
judgements, representing appropriate market rent, capitalisation rates
and adjusted market price that has taken into account of property-
specific adjustments including location and timing of referenced
transactions. The management of the Company has reviewed the
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

As at 31 March 2024, the fair value of the investment properties held by
a joint venture amounted to HK$22,978.8 million (2023: HK$23,591.2
million) (Note 19) and the Group's share of the value of the investment
properties amounted to HK$11,489.4 million (2023: HK$11,795.6 million).
The valuation of such investment properties was conducted by an
independent firm of professional valuers (the “Valuer”). In determining
the fair value of the joint venture's investment properties, the Valuer
applied a market value basis which involves, inter-alia, significant
unobservable inputs and significant judgements, representing
appropriate rentals and capitalisation rates.
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Properties held for/under development for sale and properties
held for sale

Management reviews the recoverability of the Group’s properties held
for/under development for sale and properties held for sale amounting
to HK$10,660.3 million (2023: HK$9,217.5 million) and HK$1,405.5 million
(2023: HK$2,337.5 million) respectively with reference to current market
environment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets may exceed its net realisable value.
Write-down for estimated irrecoverable amounts is recognised in profit
or loss when the net realisable value is below cost. The estimates of net
realisable value are based on the evidence available at the time the
estimates are made of the amount the properties held for/under
development for sale and properties held for sale that are expected to
realise. Actual realised amount may differ from estimates or changes in
facts and circumstances may result in downward revision of estimated
net realisable value of these properties held for/under development for
sale and properties held for sale and additional write-down may be
required.

Interests in joint ventures

The Group determines whether interests in joint ventures are impaired
by regularly review whether there are any indicators of impairment of
the investments by reference to the requirements under HKAS 28 (2011)
“Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” and HKAS 36. For
investments where impairment indicators exist, management estimated
the recoverable amounts of the investments, being higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use.

The measurement of ECL of the loans to joint ventures is measured as
either 12m ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, through the
management’s critical assessment on the recoverable amounts based on
cash flows from underlying assets, the actual and expected changes in
business performance and general market default rate. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime ECL.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WA K& 9 338 %

The Group is organised into five operating divisions: property £ E 5 2R EXLESMY: WERE  WEK
development, property investment, transportation services and property & ~ X@BIRIE R MESTIE B/EE K LRAKH
management, hotel operations and leisure businesses. Each of the % KL EHFAHAREKX —EEE LA 2R
operating divisions represents an operating and reportable segment. B °

(i) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE (i) WADHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BZ2024F3ANALFE

Transportation
services and

Property Property property Hotel Leisure
development investment management operations businesses Total
RBERBER
NEBR NERE NEEE BEEXKE KEXH )
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEERT HEER BEERT BEER HEERT BEER

Types of goods or services: EmSREESE:

Sales of properties HEME 2,521.9 - - - - 25219
Hotel revenue el N - - - 2523 - 2523
Other services rendered R E AR 329 95.6 283.4 - 295.4 707.3
Revenue from contracts with REARFANZ

customers A 2,554.8 95.6 283.4 252.3 295.4 3,481.5
Rental income HE A - 455.4 2.4 - 1.4 459.2
Consolidated revenue, as reported #7 & WA » 11 2 2,554.8 551.0 285.8 252.3 296.8  3,940.7
Geographical markets: HhEME
Hong Kong &b 218.9 529.2 285.8 179.7 2968  1,510.4
Mainland China HE A 2,175.0 19.7 - - - 2,194.7
Japan B A - 2.1 - - - 2.1
South East Asia REE: 160.9 - - 72.6 - 2335
Total =t 2,554.8 551.0 285.8 252.3 296.8 3,940.7
Timing of revenue recognition: 4 A\ # 52 B
Ata pointin time 1A 3 1B 5 L 2 2,523.3 - 260.2 103.6 171.0  3,058.1
Over time e By 31.5 95.6 23.2 148.7 1244 423.4
Total =t 2,554.8 95.6 283.4 252.3 295.4 3,481.5
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For the year ended 31 March 2023
HZ03F3A3AILFE

Transportation
services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure
development investment ~ management  operations  businesses Total
MR R
NEER YERE MEERE BEELE KBEB Bt
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M

BEET AEATL BEAET BEAT BEET BEAT

Types of goods or services: ERSREES:

Sales of properties HEME 2415 = = = = 2415
Hotel revenue e N = = = 2747 = 2747
Other services rendered e ftt E A AR % 328 1126 2700 = 2872 7026
Revenue from contracts with RERFAEHZ

customers WA 2743 1126 2700 2747 287.2 12188
Rental income HelA = 472.7 08 = 14 4749
Consolidated revenue, as reported 474 UL A » 11 2 5§ 2743 585.3 2708 2747 2886 16937
Geographical markets: HEME
Hong Kong &b 1633 561.3 2708 1986 2886 14826
Mainland China B A 1106 237 = = = 1343
Japan BA - 03 - - = 03
South East Asia BED 04 = = 76.1 = 765
Total gt 2743 5853 2708 2747 2886 1693.7
Timing of revenue recognition: W A B/
Ata pointin time 1A 35 1B 5 D 2 2415 = 2526 1244 176.2 7947
Over time BE 5 328 1126 174 150.3 1110 4241
Total B 2743 1126 2700 2747 287.2 12188
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(i) PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS FOR
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Property development

Revenue from sales of residential properties is recognised at a point in
time when the completed property is transferred to customers, being at
the point that the customer obtains the control of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and collection of
the consideration is probable.

The Group receives 5% to 70% of the contract value as deposits from
customers when they sign the sale and purchase agreement. However,
depending on market conditions, the Group may offer customers a
discount compared to the listed sales price, provided that the customers
agree to pay the balance of the consideration early while construction is
still ongoing. Such advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities
being recognised throughout the property construction period for the
full amount of the contract price.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all incremental
costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Transportation services

Revenue from provision of various transportation services in Discovery
Bay, including ferry, land transport and tunnel operations, is recognised
when the related services are provided.

Property management

Revenue from property management represents charge-out collections,
which consist of payments in respect of the operation of the properties
which are payable by the tenants, are recognised over time using output
method when the services and facilities are provided. The Group applied
the practical expedient in HKFRSs by recognising revenue in the amount
to which the Group has right to invoice, since the Group is entitled to bill
a fixed amount in advance for each month according to the terms of the
relevant agreements. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the aggregate
amount of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.
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Hotel operations

Hotel revenue from the room rental is recognised over time during the
period of stay for the hotel guests using output method. Revenue from
sales of food and beverage and other ancillary services provided is
generally recognised at a point in time when the goods and services are
provided.

Leisure businesses

Revenue from using the club and ice rink facilities in Discovery Bay by
customers is recognised over time during the period in which the
customers are entitled to use the facilities.

Revenue from sales of food and beverage and various services provided
under leisure businesses is generally recognised at a point in time when
the good and service are provided.

(iii) TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED TO THE
REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION FOR
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT CONTRACT WITH
CUSTOMERS

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2023 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as
follows:

W IE E5

KEHEFRAZBERARBEZAANES
LA B HOABERT PRI RE AR © 2R B B RIH & 3R
HEMEERSE 2 WA —RREHRSE @ RR
75 By ) 3R {8 By ] A R R0

NEES:S
BEP R R E R & A KB KSR E 2 WA

K& F A #EE R 3% it 2 BE i ] R o

HABEBAIE‘R 2 ERFEERZEARSE 2
WA —RR IR E G KR B & 3 (8 B 2
HER -

(i) 7EEREBUEBRREFEN
ZBRTENEENXZER

MN2024E3 8310 R2023E3A31H 5 B E &
TEBHOET(RERLITD»AEX) O ZE
R FBEERR ARSI E T

Sales of properties

SHEWX
2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAET BEETT
Within one year —F K 92.8 22289
Over one year —F L 678.7 333
771.5 2,262.2

These amounts disclosed above do not include transaction price
allocated to performance obligations which have been satisfied but not
yet recognised due to variable consideration constraint.

EXBEBEsRZESETEERAZERER
HEENERAERZAEZENETNR
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OPERATING SEGMENTS EEDH

Segment information oI E R

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AT ARBEERAESHRO IO AEEE
operating and reportable segments for the year: B2 WA RESE

Transportation
services and

Property  Property property Hotel Leisure
development investment management operations businesses Total
RBERBR
MERRE WERE MEEE BEEK KEER Azt
HKS'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M
HEBT HEER BEBT HE®BT HE#BRT BHEER
For the year ended 31 March 2024 # £ 2024 F
3ANALERE
Revenue A
Segment revenue - sales to external 2 UL A — & &
customers derived by the Group, ’éﬁ EWNEID
an associate and joint ventures DA DE }5
ZHER 34429  2,302.0 285.8 2523 2968  6,579.8
Excluding revenue of an associate  HiBR B4 A &) &%
and joint ventures BEDNAIZHA (888.1)  (1,751.0) - - - (2,639.1)
Consolidated revenue, asreported £ & YA + 11 2 3§ 2,554.8 551.0 285.8 2523 296.8  3,940.7
Results £
Segment results - total realised ) ﬁﬁﬁﬁ—%
results of the Group, associates 5% EWNE] &
and joint ventures (note a) NEZBER %
B (Msta) (281.6) 864.1 11.0 (22.5) (73.2) 4978
Excluding realised results of M IEEE DG
associates and joint ventures not E/NCTIYEEX /N
shared by the Group AlzE#R %iﬁ 60.3 (266.4) - - - (206.1)
Results attributable to the Group SEEGES (221.3) 597.7 11.0 (22.5) (732) 2917
Unallocated other expenses AOREEMAT (26.7)
Unallocated corporate expenses AABREIER (164.7)
Finance costs and corporate level ~ BIEEBR R A 7B
exchange difference mZERERR (340.2)
Net unrealised losses on fairvalue ~ RENE N FLEE
change of investment properties B REHRER
(note b) 8 (M Eb) (336.4)
Net unrealised gains on fair value SEEGEERT
change of investment properties REEMERR
attributable to the Group'sinterest 7 AP {EEE 2
in ajoint venture, net of deferred tax & %438 U 25 /%
B NBRETEH
15 29.2
Loss for the year AEEER (547.1)
Non-controlling shareholders’ share ~ 3E#22 A% A% 58 215
of loss for the year AEEEE 79.1
Loss for the year attributable to N/NGTE =Nl
owners of the Company AEEBRE (468.0)
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Transportation
services and

Property Property property Hotel Leisure
development investment ~ management operations  businesses Total
RipkR% R
NEER WERE WEER BEEL KHEED st
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M

BEAET ABET BEET BEET BEET ABET

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z2023F

3AIBIEEE
Revenue A
Segment revenue - sales to external D UL A —EE
customers derived by the Group, ~ &R FI R A&
an associate and joint ventures DRI E P
ZHE 5355 23116 2708 2747 2886 3,681.2
Excluding revenue of an associate i BR B 2 A 7] ]z
and joint ventures EXUNGI4 Hﬁz)\ (261.2) (1,7263) = = - (1,9875)
Consolidated revenue, asreported R A UA » T2 2743 5853 2708 2747 2886 16937
Results b4
Segment results - total realised DEMEE—KF -
results of the Group, associates ’éﬁ ERRIREE
and joint ventures (note a) NEZBEER %
A ET) 1949 8693 539 (44) 27 11164
Excluding realised results of MBR IS E D IAE
associates and joint ventures not BNRIRAER
shared by the Group A BERER 183 (263.9) = = = (245.6)
Results attributable to the Group SEEGESR 2132 6054 539 (44) 27 8708
Unallocated other expenses AoREMAS (32.0)
Unallocated corporate expenses ZN) @E AE&H (145.3)
Finance costs and corporate level BB R R A 7 E
exchange difference HAZEREHE (162.1)
Net unrealised losses on fairvalue ~ IREMEAFEE
change of investment properties B AEBER
(note b) 558 (fitiEb) (86.3)
Net unrealised gains on fair value SEREESERAT
change of investment properties E’\ Tﬁ BMERER
attributable to the Group's interest NFEE @J Z
in a joint venture, net of deferred tax EE vl gnget
B MBETEH
15 33.1
Profit for the year KEEHER 4782
Non-controlling shareholders’ share 322 A A% 58 215
of profit for the year AEE & (226)
Profit for the year attributable to /NI =N el
owners of the Company AEE i 7l 4556
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Notes:

(a) The segment results of the Group include the entire results of associates and
joint ventures, excluding the net unrealised gains or losses on fair value change of
investment properties net of deferred tax arising from change in fair value.

(b) The net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment properties for the
year ended 31 March 2024 of HK$336.4 million (2023: HK$86.3 million) represented the
unrealised losses on fair value change of investment properties of HK$336.4 million (2023:
HK$86.3 million) net of deferred tax charge arising from change in fair value of HKSnil
(2023: HKSnil).

Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit earned by/(loss from) each
segment without allocation of unallocated other expenses, unallocated
corporate expenses, finance costs and corporate level exchange
difference, net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment
properties and net unrealised gains on fair value change of investment
properties attributable to the Group’s interests in a joint venture, net of
deferred tax. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision
maker for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

All of the segment revenue reported above is from external customers.
No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by operating and
reportable segments is disclosed as they are not reviewed by the chief

operating decision maker nor otherwise regularly provided to the chief
operating decision maker for review.
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Other segment information Hth 5 &R
Transportation
services and
Property  Property property Hotel Leisure Unallocated
development investment management operations businesses amounts Total
RERBR
WERRE WERE NMEEE FEREE KBER XoBLHEH Bt
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEERT HE#ER BEEn AE#RRT BEEn RHE#ERT BEAR
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ2024%3831H
LEE
Amounts included in the measure of RN HBERMAE
segment profit or loss: 8%
Revenue from inter-segment sales* HEE HERA* - - (8.1) - (0.1) - (8.2)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERREZ
equipment e 208 186 14.7 50.4 73.0 41 181.6
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBEZNE 3.7 - 0.8 - 0.5 3.3 8.3
Impairment loss reversed on loans to BOEZTAELEDA
joint ventures ZREER - - - - - (0.4) (0.4)
Impairment loss on investrents in debt REHEKRHEL
instruments measured at amortised cost B L EREZ
WEER - - - - - 15.5 15.5
Impairment loss on properties held for HHEFLERMEY
development for sale REEE 164.3 - - - - - 164.3
Impairment loss on properties under HHEERERYEY
development for sale WEERE 13.1 - - - - - 13.1
Impairment loss on properties held for sale 5 {EH & ¥ % 2 (&
B 943 - - - , - 943
Impairment loss on property, plant, ME BERREZ
and equipment R EEE - - 5.4 - 52.1 - 57.5
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL BATEGARR
SREEFREE - - - - - 14.1 14.1
Net loss on mortgage instalment receivables i Yt i% 18 2 B¢ 77 2
BRFE 53 - - - - - 53
Net (gain)/loss on deregistration of HEHB ARG
subsidiaries (hz)/ BRFE (0.5) 0.9 - - - (1.8) (1.4)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEME  BERR
plant and equipment B BB/ (KaR)
ek - - 1.1 (0.1) (0.4) - 0.6
Interest income 2 WA (37.6) (6.8) - (0.2) - (31.9) (76.5)
Finance costs MEER 123.3 0.1 13 - 0.6 284.1 409.4
Income tax charge/(credit) FEHx i/ (Ke) 3305 339 (1.3) 4.6 49 13 3739
Share of results of associates Db ERREE 0.1 - - - - - 0.1
Share of results of joint ventures DEEEAREE 103.6 (266.4) - - - (29.2) (192.0)
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Transportation
services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure  Unallocated
development investment  management operations businesses amounts Total
MR R
MEER MERE MEER BEXE KBEE KOREE Fhy
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEAT BEARL ABEET BEAT BAEET BEET BEAR
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BZE2023F3A31H
HFE
Amounts included in the measure of TENBEREMBE
segment profit or loss: k-
Revenue from inter-segment sales* 5 ERE 2 S E A - - (7.7) ©.1) 32 = (11.0)
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BERZEZ
equipment neE 214 138 144 609 694 77 1876
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 40 = 08 = 05 32 85
Impairment loss on loans to joint ventures ER FA & A 82
EREY S = = - - - 23 23
Impairment loss on investments in debt X% $4FK A5t 8 2
instruments measured at amortised BERITRAREZ
cost EREY S = - - - - 165 165
Impairment loss reversed on property,  EEI¥ ¥ - BE &
plant, and equipment REZREBR = = (6.5) = = = (6.5)
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL BAFEEFABREZ
TREEBREE = = - - - 496 496
Net loss on mortgage instalment FEWIZB D Bt R
receivables EiEFE 15 - - - - - 15
Net loss on deregistration of subsidiaries 18 85 Ff BB A Al £ it 2
B = = - - - 278 278
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, ~ HEWE « BE K&
plant and equipment wEZERE/
() #8 01 (03) 0.1 - - 02 01
Net gain on disposal of a joint venture HEAE QA 2 Wz
FEE (368.0) - - - - - (368.0)
Interest income FE WA (17.6) (13) = = = (33.9) (52.8)
Finance costs BB ER 02 0.1 13 = 06 2278 2300
Income tax charge/(credit) FrEfi st it/ (%) 25.1 284 07) 6.8 56 113 765
Share of results of associates DIHEB AN REE 02 - - _ _ _ 02
Share of results of joint ventures DEEBNREE 127 (263.9) = = = 33.1) (284.3)
o Inter-segment sales are entered into in accordance with the relevant PHEACHEDNRBREZSER G2 BB ZE

BIET RXFERDBBRITTERERELEK
BFERBRME)ETE

agreements, if any, governing those transactions, in which the pricing was determined (zn
with reference to prevailing market price or actual cost incurred, as appropriate. A (
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Revenue from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major
products and services:

FEEMRBRBEZBWA
MTIREBTEEREREZWADI
2024 2023

HK$'M HKS'M
BEABT BEBT

Sales of properties HEME 2,521.9 2415
Rental income e WA 459.2 4749
Hotel revenue B IE A 252.3 2747
Other services rendered B2 H Ath AR 7% 707.3 7026

3,940.7 1,693.7

Geographical information

For each of the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the
Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, mainland China, Japan
and South East Asia.

The Group's revenue from external customers based on the location of
properties and goods delivered or services rendered, and location of
properties in the case of rental income, and information about its non-
current assets by geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

ih & & R

H Z22024%F3831H K2023F38318 It & F
B rEBZEBURNES FEA  BAR
HEgn e

SEREIFEEFADE XNERIEH
R HESEE BRESKAME A
MEMEMAEE) ZWARBHEREEW
BUEEDZIRBEEER ZFBET

Revenue from Non-current
external customers assets (note a)
REIIBEFZWA FREBE E (Ffzta)
2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M

BEEBET BEBT BHEBRT RBEET

Hong Kong &= 1,510.4 1,4826 17,742.8 17,7857
Mainland China Fh R A 3 2,194.7 134.3 4,251.6 42779
Japan =P 2.1 03 167.0 50.1
South East Asia (note b) R (M sEb) 233.5 765 1,617.4 1,709.0

3,940.7 16937 23,778.8 23,8227
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Notes:

(a) Non-current assets excluded those related to financial instruments and deferred
tax assets.

(b) Revenue from respective country within “South East Asia” contributed less than
10% of the Group's revenue.

Information about major customers

The revenue from individual customer contributed less than 10% of the
total revenue of the Group for both years.

6 OTHERINCOME

@ FRDEETEBHELBMIAREERBAEE-

b REMRBEIENBRZBEALREREAZ
10% °

ERETEFEFZ2ER
RERMEFE REEBAEFZWALR
EBEBWAZ10% °

6 HMA

2024 2023
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEAETT

Bank and other interest income RIT R EMF B A 76.5 529
Other income (note) Huug A (KfsE) 72.4 126.7
148.9 179.6

Note: Included in other income are government grants and subsidies of HK$36.7
million (2023: HK$88.9 million) recognised by the Group during the year, which are
mainly contributed by the Employment Support Scheme, Anti-epidemic Fund, 5-year
Special Helping Measures and other government subsidies that compensate the Group
for staff costs and other expenses incurred.
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7 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

7 HttR=mRER

2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BE®BT BEAT
Other gains/(losses) include the following: HEab i zs/ (BB BE T &SIE :
Net gain on disposal of a joint venture HEGEQNE 2 W F5E - 368.0
Net gain/(loss) on deregistration of subsidiaries BSEM B A R M 2 W/ (B i8)
R 1.4 (27.8)
Net foreign exchange loss HNEERE H B8 F 8 (78.3) (18.0)
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant HEMZE  BEREZE (EEB)/
and equipment - (0.5) 05
Impairment loss (recognised)/reversed on (BR)/BEME - BEEREBEZ
property, plant and equipment B &R (57.5) 6.5
Impairment loss on properties held for HENEFERMEZRERIE
development for sale (164.3) =
Impairment loss on properties under HEEREPMEZRERIE
development for sale (13.1) -
Impairment loss on properties held for sale BEELEYE 2 REERE (94.3) -
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL REATEFABREZ EREESE
pEc (14.1) (49.6)
Net loss on mortgage instalment receivables W18 o B i 2 B5 18 5 58 (5.3) (115
(426.0) 268.1
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of FEHEEBBEEA T ZRERRE
reversal, include the following: (IR BETHSIE:
— Impairment loss reversed/(recognised) on -BE/(BREXRTEERAZ
loans to joint ventures B EE 0.4 (2.3)
— Impairment loss on investments in debt -RBHEKAGFECEBLIRERE
instruments measured at amortised cost 2R EEE (15.5) (16.5)
(441.1) 2493
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8 FINANCE COSTS

8 MBEHR

2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEEBT BEBTT
Interests on Ty &EBEZFE
Bank and other loans RITREMER 601.3 334.0
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder FE 158 AR AR R E R 132.3 823
Lease liabilities HEBa®E 2.1 22
Bank and other loans arrangement fees RITREMERTHER 33.5 29.1
769.2 447 6
Less: Amounts included in the qualifying assets ~ Jfl : 5T AR BB EZ &5
(note) (Bt 3E) (359.8) (217.6)
409.4 230.0

Note: To the extent funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of
financing certain properties under development for sale and assets under construction,
the capitalisation rate used to determine the amounts of borrowing costs eligible for

the capitalisation is 6.19% (2023: 3.53%) per annum.
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9 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9 PFRFAT(EIE)/ &R

2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BE#ETT BEAT
(Loss)/profit before taxation has been arrived at K& Al (E518) /3% FI 2 0B/ (G A)
after charging/(crediting): T%| & 18 :
Auditor's remuneration % S 6N B &
Audit services E R 8.7 85
Non-audit services FEEET R 4.2 3.1
Cost of properties sold EHEEWMERR 1,669.9 129.7
Salaries, wages, bonus and other benefits IE #He B hEAMET 586.8 5534
Retirement benefits schemes contribution RAKAE T ET B g0 27.0 238
Staff costs incurred (including directors’ EELAEBEIRAN(BIEESHE)
remuneration) 613.8 5772
Gross rental income under operating leaseson:  &E&FHE T 2L U A 58
Investment properties KEYE (446.0) (464.6)
Other properties Hih 2 (13.2) (103)
Less: Outgoings o 2 70.2 576
(389.0) (417.3)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BMELRXEBEZITE 181.6 187.6
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEEZNE 8.3 8.5
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10 TAXATION

10 B8

2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEET BEAT
Hong Kong Profits Tax calculated at 16.5% REFFEHFHERTE MR X
(2023: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profit 16.5% (20234 : 165%) 5T & 2
for the year EENEH 41.8 476
Overseas tax calculated at rates prevailing in WREBR ZERBR R EAE
respective jurisdictions Z BN IR 89.5 160.7
Land appreciation tax ("LAT") 4 b 1% (B T 157.8 (2.5)
289.1 205.8
Deferred taxation for the year NG SR T 1A 84.8 (129.1)
373.9 76.7

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing
in the relevant jurisdictions for both years.

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations of the PRC
on LAT effective from 1 January 1994 and amended on 8 January 2011,
and the Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations of the PRC
on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the sale or
transfer of real estate in the PRC with effect from 1 January 1994 are
subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of
properties less deductible expenditures including payments made for
acquisition of land use rights, costs and expenses for the development
of the land or for construction of new buildings and supporting facilities,
or the assessed value for old buildings and structures, tax payable
relating to transfer of the real estate and other deductible items
prescribed by the Ministry of Finance.
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The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit before 7K 4 & i 18 X 1 £ ,? BRXRAK A

taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: (BR)/mizEENT
2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEAT BEAT
(Loss)/profit before taxation AT (E518) /3% (173.2) 554.9
Less: Share of results of associates W DB E RAREE 0.1 0.2
Share of results of joint ventures DIREERRESE (192.0) (284.3)
(365.1) 270.8
Tax charge at the domestic income tax rate of B AT SR E165%:tE 2
16.5% %)fé BX (60.2) 44.7
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 7B R B A 2 B 75 52 & (13.2) (86.1)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax TAHBAT RIS E
purpose 173.4 69.9
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERBMEBREB GG E 73.1 344
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised 195 FBERER Z ?R BHEE (0.5) 0.5)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating R EH th B AR & E 2
in other jurisdictions (SiERNGIE NG Z g 65.3 106
Effect of LAT in the PRC B I E R 118.4 (1.8)
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings of BINBRRRDIKAEF Z
foreign subsidiaries TR 18.8 56
Others HAb (1.2) ©.1)
Taxation HiIE 373.9 76.7
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11 (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1N AATDEEABESEE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE (E51a) /%R
COMPANY

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company ZAZAREA ABEGAFTE (FBB)/ &5 821
comprises:

2024 2023
HK$'M HK$'M
HEABT BEABT

(@) Net unrealised (losses)/gains on change in @ FAREMEATFEHEHZ

fair value of investment properties RER (BE) /W= F8E
during the year
— The Group - £ (336.4) (86.3)
Attributable to non-controlling interests FEFE AR = PR 43.3 132
(293.1) (73.1)
— Joint venture, net of deferred tax - 58 AR IRIELETIE 29.2 33.1
(263.9) (40.0)
(b) (Losses)/profits excluding net unrealised gains (b) IR EME A FEE T 2
or losses on change in fair value of RERWRNEBRFEL
investment properties (&B18) /& T (204.1) 495.6
Net accumulated gains on change in fair value FABHEMERBAFER
of investment properties, net of deferred BEaBR s REWERNTE
tax recognised in profit or loss in prior years BE) s Bt TR Ik
for properties disposed of during the year IR FE Fi I8 24.1 314
(180.0) 527.0
Sub-total Nt (443.9) 487.0
Less: Net accumulated gains on change in fair W FABEHEYERBEFEE
value of investment properties, net of BRI EWERTE
deferred tax recognised in profit or loss in ) 2t FRE K
prior years for properties disposed of during IR JE 7 18
the year (24.1) (314)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of QA &l BB A JE(G AEE (E8)/
the Company bl (468.0) 4556
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12 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONANDFIVE 12 EEMEe R AT E=SHE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION E 24

() DETAILS OF DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONARE (i) EE=EMESHBUT :
AS FOLLOWS:

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the thirteen (2023: fourteen) B {5 8k JE {134 (20234F : 144) EH & A 2 T

directors were as follows: ST

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZE2024F3A31HILELFE
Performance Equity-  Retirement
Salaries related settled benefits
and other incentive  Ex-gratia share-based schemes

Fees  benefits payments payment  payments contribution Total
NREGREE

HFER NRHE  RAEEAN

e HER BYR RERE E@zAR HEMEX k]
(noted) (note e)
(MaEd)  (Miete)
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEEn BEERT HE®RT AEERT HEEBR HEART BEAER

Executive Directors (note a) HITES (fi3ta)
Cha Mou Zing Victor BN - 1.4 7.5 - 1.2 - 20.1
Tang Moon Wah HinE - 6.4 17 - 0.8 - 8.9
Cheung Ho Koon REH - 36 0.9 10.0 0.4 0.2 15.1
Lee Ivan Wank-hay ZRLER - 2.7 0.1 - 0.2 - 3.0
Ngan Man Ying @ - 37 0.9 - 0.4 0.2 5.2

Non-executive Directors (note b) EHRTEE(5ED)

Wong Cha May Lung Madeline TEXE 0.3 - - - 0.4 - 0.7
Cha Mou Daid Johnson EmE 0.1 - - - 0.3 - 0.4
Cha Yiu Chung Benjamin R+ 0.1 - - - 0.3 - 0.4

Independent Non-executive Directors 337 3F#{T& =

(note ¢) ik29)

Cheung Wing Lam Linus KK 0.4 - - - 0.2 - 0.6

Fan Hung Ling Henry BBk 0.4 - - - 0.2 - 0.6

Ho Pak Ching Loretta (note ) oA & (B &) 0.1 - - - - - 0.1

Barbara Shiu BE 0.3 - - - 0.2 - 0.5

Tang Kwai Chang i 0.4 - - - 0.2 - 0.6
Total Bt 2.1 27.8 1.1 10.0 4.8 0.4 56.2
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For the year ended 31 March 2023

HE2003FE383BILEE

Performance Retirement
Salaries related benefits
and other incentive schemes
Fees benefits payments  contribution Total
ek BRTE A
we HMERM B B e
(note d)
(Bt=Ea)
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEATL BEAT BEAT BEATL BEBRL
Executive Directors (note a) HITEE (i ita)
Cha Mou Zing Victor BIHK = 110 158 = 268
Tang Moon Wah B 2 - 62 33 = 95
Cheung Ho Koon ROGER - 36 16 0.2 54
Lee lvan Wank-hay (note g) 2L B (fT7Eq) - 08 04 - 12
Ngan Man Ying BAN B - 36 16 02 54
Non-executive Directors (note b) FHTES (MiEp)
Wong Cha May Lung Madeline TEEE 03 - - - 03
Cha Mou Daid Johnson BRHE 0.1 = = = 0.1
Cha Yiu Chung Benjamin (note h) & RS (ftzkh) 0.1 - _ _ 0.1
Ronald Joseph Arculli (note i) B8 (M sk = = - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors §8 37 JE#117 &
(note ) Cix:29)
Cheung Wing Lam Linus o K 7R 04 = = = 04
Fan Hung Ling Henry BEpg 04 - - - 04
Ho Pak Ching Loretta (CIRizR=) 04 = = = 04
Barbara Shiu AR 0.2 - - - 02
Tang Kwai Chang HNEZ 04 _ _ _ 04
Total it 23 252 227 04 506
Notes: Mt -

(a) For Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

(b) The Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as Directors of the Company.

() The Independent Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as Directors of the Company.

(d) The performance related incentive payments are determined with reference to

the operating results of the Group and comparable market statistics of the Group, and
individual performance of the directors.
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(e) The ex-gratia payment was given to the Executive Director to recognise his
long service and contribution to the Group.

) Ms Ho Pak Ching Loretta retired as Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 23 August 2023.

(9) Mr Lee Ivan Wank-hay was appointed as Executive Director of the Company
with effect from 1 December 2022.

(h) Mr Cha Yiu Chung Benjamin was appointed as Non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 4 July 2022.

(i) Mr Ronald Joseph Arculli retired as Non-executive Director of the Company
with effect from 24 August 2022.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join. No directors waived any emoluments
during both years.

(ii) EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the five highest paid individuals of
the Group included four (2023: four) Executive Directors, whose
emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining one
employee (2023: one employee) are as follows:

© FHEFRENTESFEIMNFBEARTREE
Bz RERBRER -

G} MHELZELH2023F8ABHRERERARIB L
EHITEE -

(@ ERRRAELEB202F1N2AIBREZTAARRAR
WITEE -

(h BREPEEB200NF7A4BLEZTAEART
FEHITES -

0) EEEAEB202F8A 24 BETARDT IS

RMERN SELTERAEEIMIERRER
EMAKEZME RMER BEEEK
BZEAMME -

(i) EEMSE
BEUFIANBIFE  SEREZ xS H
A+ BIEME (20234 : MB)#HITES H
TR EXHE -~ —%EE (Q023F : —
HEE)NFHMOT

2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEBTT BEBTT
Salaries and other benefits FekEMER 3.2 42
Retirement benefits schemes contribution R RAE F EHE R 0.1 0.1
3.3 43

The emoluments of the aforesaid employee were within the following — F#t{E B 2 B & B T 5485 :

bands:

2024 2023
HK$3,000,001- HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7 7T -3,500,000 7% 7T 1 =
HK$4,000,001- HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7% 7T -4,500,000 78 7T - 1
1 1
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13 DIVIDENDS 13 BRE
2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEBRT BEAT
Final dividend paid for the financial year ended KB ZE 202363 A31 A LM BUFE
31 March 2023 of HK1 cent (2023: final dividend 2 5K BAAR B & AR 178 1L (2023 FF -
paid for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 &~ & = 202263 31 B IFBF X
of HK5 cents) per share FE2RHAREGFRRS BN 14.9 743
No interim dividend paid for the financial year I RSB = 2024F3 A31H 1E
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: no interim dividend B B 4 J& 2 7 HA % 5. (2023 4F :
paid) 3 IR < AR HA R ) - =
14.9 743

The directors of the Company did not propose any final dividend for the
financial year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: for the financial year ended 31
March 2023 of HK1 cent per share totaling HK$14.9 million).

14 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

KRB EET#RIKEME £2024F38318
IFEEFE 2 RH IR B (2023 4F « B £2023F
SABLEMBREESRIEWL 414988
L) °

14 BR(EE)/BF

ARRFEAEANEBEERERREE(BR)/A
MTRE T INBURAE -

2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAT BEAT
(Loss)/earnings (B8 IZBF
(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of calculating STEERERNEE(EE) /B2
basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (E#E)/BF (468.0) 4556
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2024 2023
Number of shares %
Number of ordinary shares in issue during HTEEBREXR(BR) /BN ZAFE
the year for the purpose of calculating BETEBREE
basic (loss)/earnings per share 1,485,301,803 1,485,301,803
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary share: BEgEB N T RAR2EE
Adjustment in relation to share options issued HARNAEIT 2RO PEEL 2
by the Company HE - -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 5+ 3 & i% #8 (E548) /B Fl| 2 hikE F
the purpose of calculating diluted (loss)/ HEBREE
earnings per share 1,485,301,803 1,485,301,803

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, diluted (loss)/earnings per
share was the same as the basic (loss)/earnings per share since the share
options had anti-dilutive effect.

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

AR MDEEAER B EER  MEZ2024F
F203F3A3BITFESREE(ER)/ &
FEFREEA (BB /BFERFE -

15 BEWE

2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEABTT BEAT

Fair value AF¥E
At beginning of the year F 1) 14,157.2 14,303.1
Exchange translation differences b =58 (41.3) (43.0)
Additions INE 139.2 255
Change in fair value and losses on disposals REZBERZATFEEHRLEE 2

recognised in profit or loss &5 18

— Realised losses on disposals -HERZEEHER (3.0) (03)

— Unrealised losses -REBHEE (336.4) (86.3)
Disposals k=5 (49.1) (34.5)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note) B E= ¥ ¥ « B E &R & (K 5) (21.5) =
Adjustment of cost for renovation of certain TETREYE BT AETT

investment property FEES (1.9) (7.3)
At end of the year FR 13,843.2 14,1572

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2024, the use of certain property of the Group
has been changed from capital appreciation and leasing out for rental income to
owner-occupation. The investment property amounting to HK$21.5 million at date of
transfer were transferred from investment properties to property, plant and equipment
at the date of commencement of owner occupation.

e - REZE204F3A3BLEFE SEETYEZ
AEmEARELRIBAUKRNES) BA%2ETEaR-
REEEASHEBNSBEEBTZREMEREETH
WERAZBBEREMEEEME  BE RLE-
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For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group disposed of
certain investment properties and the details of which are as follows:

REE2024F K203FE3/3NBIEFE &8
HEETHREMEZFBUOT :

2024 2023

HKS$'M HKS'M

BEAT BEAET

Net sales proceeds received B IEE TS RIRFRE 49.1 345

Original cost of acquisitions U Bg 2 R AN E (28.0) (12.6)
Accumulated gains on change in fair value BEFEERRLATEEZH RS

recognised in prior years g (24.1) (22.2)

Realised losses on disposals recognised during FRHERERZEEHEIR
the year (3.0) (0.3)

The Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The management works closely with the qualified external valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The management reports the findings to the board of directors of the
Company every half-year to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair
value of the property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and best use of
the property is the current use.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2024
and 31 March 2023 have been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried
out on the respective dates by the following valuers with appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations.

Location of investment

SEZERE=TAERMAEMETHE - &
BEEAERIINMHEEMBEZSF UYL
BEMNEETEARBEANBARE BEEE
BYFAARAESGERER UREY
ERTFERSZRA -

NEHDEZ ATES NEZBSRAHE
RENERARS -

£ B R2024F38318 &2023F3H31H 2 #%
EMERATFE DEULTEBEEEREE
HEEEAE B EMELR 2 HE
MRESEHBETZHEST -

Name of valuer properties HEMZE REYERZEZHE
Cushman & Wakefield Limited Hong Kong and mainland China HEZTAERA G EA NP E A
Land Coordinating Japan Land Coordinating =N

Research Inc. Research Inc.
N&A Appraisal Company Thailand N&A Appraisal Company 2=

Limited
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VALUATION TECHNIQUES

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong is
determined either by using income capitalisation approach or direct
comparison approach. The income capitalisation approach is calculated
by capitalising the rental income derived from the existing tenancies
with due provision for any reversionary income potential. The direct
comparison approach assumes sale of property interest in its existing
state by making reference to comparable sales transactions as available
in the relevant market.

The fair value of investment properties located in mainland China and
Thailand is determined by using direct comparison approach assuming
sale of the property interest in its existing state by making reference to
comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant market.

The fair value of investment property located in Japan is determined by
using income approach by capitalising the net rental income derived
from the existing tenancies with due provision for any reversionary
income potential.

EERD

MNREENRENENRFELIERKRAELR
FOELERLEBEMETE - WA B R(LE
BRENCHBREEP WA EEHAER
HEMBEARLQWANEEREBEMNSE -
BEERLEAER2EMAMSAFALA LK
ZHEXRGBEADEHEEZRAREHLEY
EMETE °

MNRPBEALREENRENENRFET
ERERLEEZ2ERAMSAFLA LK
ZHERGBRUADEEZRBRELEY
EMETE -

MR BARANKREM RN R FETERKRAE
BRENMCNRBHEPL WA HEE WA FER
BERYETABEERBEELKRANEE EEM
BT -
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e PR R M

SUMMARY OF FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AND LEVEL 3
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, all investment properties of the
Group are valued by reference to a Level 3 fair value measurement.

Level 3 valuation methodologies

Below is a table which presents the significant unobservable inputs:

ARFEEBRARE=BRAFETE
M=

MR2024F3H31H K2023F3A31H - £BZFF
ERBAMENZEE="BRAVTEHELHE -

FZBRMEEL X

TREHNERTABRH AR :

Unobservable inputs (note a)

FABERAHE (Hia)
Market rent (note b) Adjusted market price (note c)
Fair value Capitalisation rate (per square foot per month) (per square foot)
miEH S (KaEb) BEHHER (K
AYE BA{LE (BAEEHR) (B¥ER)
Investment properties (note d)
REWE (fitd)
Hong Kong
Industrial HK$329.7 million 35%10 3.875% HK$13 to HKS36 N/A
(2023: HK$340.9 million) (2023:3.5% to 3.875%) (2023: HKS14 to HKS38)
I% 397EBAT 35% % 3875% BATEGAT TER
(203% : 34098 BT (2035 : 35%F3875%) (203%F : 14T E/ET)
Commercial HK$10,155.4 million 325%107.25% HKS$18 to HKS74 N/A
(2023: HK$10,397.0 million) (2023:3.25% to 7.25%) (2023: HKS18 to HKS75)
RS 1015548 &AL 32502 7.25% 18ETEMET T@Em
(203% : 1039705 BT (2023 < 325%E7.25%) (203F 18T ETSET)
Residential HK$2,507.5 million N/A N/A HKS6,500 to HK$38,600
(2023: HKS2,656.1 million) (2023: HKS7,100 to HK$38,400)
£ 2075EBAT TiEh TiEh 6,5007% 7T £ 38,6007 7T
(2023 : 26561 BBATT) (2023% : 710078 L £ 384007 7T)
Mainland China
R
Commercial HK$414.7 million 45% RMB8.0 N/A
(2023: HKS434.0 million) (2023:4.5%) (2023: RMB7.9)
R H4TRBAT 45% ARESOT T@ER
(203F : $340EBAT) (2023 : 45%) (2035 : ARB797T)
Thailand
ZH
Residential HK$3134 million N/A N/A THB2,400
(2023: HK$329.2 million) (2023: THB2,300 to THB7,600)
FE IB4EERET TER TER 240058k
(203 : 2292B B %) (203% : 2300R 5 £ 7600% %)
Japan
BA
Commercial HK$122.5 million 5% N/A N/A
(2023: nil) (2023:N/A)
HE 1SEBAT 5% TER T@Em
(203 : &) (2035 : T ER)
Notes: Mk -

(@) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i) the higher the
capitalisation rate, the lower the fair valug; (i) the higher the market rent, the higher the
fair value; and (iii) the higher the adjusted market price, the higher the fair value.

(b) The monthly rent takes into account the differences in location and individual

factors, such as frontage and size, between comparables and the property.

(© Adjusted market price takes into account the recent transaction prices for
similar properties adjusted timing of reference transactions and property-specific
adjustments including nature, location and condition of the property.
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(d) Fair value measurement of investment properties is positively correlated to the (d)

market rent and adjusted market price, but inversely correlated to the capitalisation

rate.

There was no transfer among different levels of the fair value hierarchy in

the current and prior years.

The movements during the year in the balance of investment properties
under Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

BANENATEHBERDSEE RERLD

BEBZILHER  BREXCXAUZRAER -

RAFEEBEFE RAFEERZITRARE

Mz W EEHE -

FRNE=ZBRAFEFETZREMELR
ZEEBMT

Investment
properties
REYE
HK$'M
BEBET
At 1 April 2022 K202 4818 14,303.1
Exchange translation differences bE N Z 5 (43.0)
Additions NE 255
Change in fair value and losses on disposals REZBERAZATEZEGREHEZBEE
recognised in profit or loss
— Realised losses on disposals -HERZEEREBIA (03)
— Unrealised losses -REBHEE (86.3)
Disposals H e (34.5)
Adjustment of cost for renovation of certain B TEREME B ARETHARE
investment property (7.3)
At31 March 2023 7202353 A31H 14,157.2
Exchange translation differences EHER (413)
Additions NE 139.2
Change in fair value and losses on disposals REZERAZATFEEZHRHE ZEE
recognised in profit or loss
— Realised losses on disposals - HERZEERER (3.0)
— Unrealised losses -KERERE (336.4)
Disposals A== (49.1)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment WEEYE  WENKE (21.5)
Adjustment of cost for renovation of certain METREME BT RETAE
investment property (1.9
At 31 March 2024 2024538318 13,843.2

EREXEREEFRAF 20232024 £/ 177
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16 W% BERRE

Furniture, Plant, Ferries,
Commercial fixtures  machinery  launches
Hotel  Freehold and leisure Leasehold and and  andmotor Construction
properties land  Buildings facilities improvements equipment  equipment vehicles  inprogress Total
KAXRE BARKE  BENE GR XE BE HE E& Ak
BENE T L 2 Rt % RRE R&RE RAE HEIR st
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEBT AE¥T HEER GBEER  FBEER BEAT  FAEEn AEER  BEART BEER
Cost RE
At1 April 2022 RanE4818 15343 2396 8543 10807 4722 2526 689 6894 151 52071
Exchange translation differences EHES (155) (1) (94) - (10) (15) - (04) (02) (341)
Additions NE 95 = = = 365 124 = 14 393 1091
Disposals/write-off e/ (34) - - - 61) @) 49) (87) S 272)
At31 March 2023 RABE3IA3A 15249 2335 8449 1,0807 5016 2594 640 691.7 542 52549
Exchange translation differences ERZE (36.1) (144) (60) = (08) (09) = (04) 12) (598)
Additions wE 160 = = = 131 198 = 165 1722 2376
Disposals/write-off &/ (324) - - (1) (173) 47) - (110) (08) (663)
Transferred from investment properties & B 1R &% = = 15 - = = - - - 215
Reclassifcation EXipyd 104 - - - 692 - - - (796) -
At31 March 2024 R04E3A318 1,482.8 219.1 860.4 1,080.6 565.8 2736 64.0 696.8 1448 5,387.9
Depreciation and impairment HERRE
At T April 2022 RanE4A1R 8200 = 1890 4911 27715 1523 663 4691 - 24653
Exchange translation differences ERZE 19 = (05) = (09) (10 = 03) = (145)
Provided forthe year TEEHE 584 = 15 307 346 168 05 bE)| = 1876
Disposals/write-off HE/ M (34 - - - (54 @7 (49 (87) - (251)
Impairmentloss reversed REREER = = = - = (36) = (29 - (65)
At31 March 2023 R03F3A31A 8632 = 2120 518 3058 1618 619 4803 = 26068
Exchange translation differences ERER @) - (04) - (07) (08) - (03) - (333)
Provided for the year FEERE 550 - 248 299 297 162 05 255 - 1816
Disposals/write-off &/ (286) - = = (160) (46) = (110) = (602)
Impairment oss REFE - - - = 29 88 = 258 = 575
At31March 2024 2024535310 858.5 - 236.4 5517 347 1814 624 5203 - 2,7524
Carrying values REE
At31March 2024 #2024%3H318 6243 219.1 6240 5289 2241 922 16 1765 1448 26355
At31 March 2023 RABE3IA3E 661.7 2335 6329 5589 1958 976 21 214 542 26481
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[tems of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis, over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Hotel properties 3-40 years

Freehold land No depreciation

Buildings, commercial and leisure facilities  5-50 years, or over the
lease term if shorter

Leasehold improvements 5-10 years, or over the
lease term if shorter

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-7 years

Plant, machinery and equipment 5-15 years

Ferries, launches and motor vehicles 3-20 years

17 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

ERZTRERMNINZYE BERKREEREERIA

TEFAERFHAERETE

B JE ) % 3-40%F
KA SERE T 1 W E
BT - EmARIKE 5-50F M E - Bl A
B:3iid HEHR
HEWMERE 5-10F kMR - Al A
THEHR

R HERZE 3-74F
5 - 23 5-154F
s ARk RE 3-204F

17 EHEEE

Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and

buildings equipment Total
HEtih KW -HEBE
kEF REE BEr
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT HERERT BESBR
As at 31 March 2024 202453 A31H
Carrying amount AR A 70.4 0.3 70.7
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE£2024F3A31HLEFE
Depreciation charge TEXH 8.1 0.2 8.3
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHEERBENRX 4.0
Total cash outflow for leases HMERSRLEE 8.3
Additions to right-of-use assets NETRESE 0.9
As at 31 March 2023 202353 A31H
Carrying amount BRMEE 78.2 - 782
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE2023F3A31BIEEE
Depreciation charge ELH 83 02 8.5
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHHERANMAX 71
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R @5 93
Additions to right-of-use assets NETREEE -

EREXEREEFRAF 20232024 £ 179
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For both years, the Group leases various offices, ferry pier, leasehold land,
warehouses and equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 6 months to 50 years, but may have
termination options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has termination options in certain leases. The Group assesses
at the initial measurement of leases, it is reasonably certain the Group
will not exercise the termination options after considering the significant
initial cost incurred on the leased properties and the removal cost that
may arise.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain that a
termination option will not be exercised, upon the occurrence of either
a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that is within
the control of the lessee. During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31
March 2023, there is no such triggering event.

7k R E FE %@Tﬂﬁﬁ;ﬁl#ﬁ“i‘iﬁ
HSSE HELIH  BRERREBEEERSR -
HESHTAEN Tl AZE0FREEFH -
BT REFT A 4R 4 - THERIR @ B E ERERY
EFPBEELZENAGKREEH REEHEE
FAFETARESRRAOREE SEEAS
PR EEWETE S LR ARG FN1THIR -

SERE
HER-
HIIA AR A R

ERE

m

THERHEBERILE RUBFTE

SEKERHEMEMELEZER

AREELEZRBEXRARAEETE
TEAR IE4E -

/

AN WEBEEREBAZESNGEANZ EX
EFFERNBRED EESEHIHER
BAEEBTRIEERETETE - RNE E2024
F3HA31H8 &2023F3A31 8 IFFE RHEEE
EREEEEM-

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS 18 B & /\ 5] > #& 35 / & Uit Hé
DUE FROM ASSOCIATES =N %k 15
2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEEBRT BEBTT
Cost of unlisted shares JE Em R Z B AR - =
Share of reserve bRk - =
Share of post-acquisition losses, DG B EE -
net of dividends received B E Wik & - =
Amounts due from associates (Note 25(b)) JE Wi BEs 2 A m) T8 (B 5% 25(0)) 589.3 589.1
Loss allowance provision sHIRE B EE (585.2) (585.1)
4.1 40

180 HKRInternational Limited Annual Report 2023/2024



The summarised financial information of the Group's associates as at

31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 is set out below:

=B E RN E N2024F3 8318 &2023F3 A
STEZHBERBMEERHNNT

2024 2023

HKS$'M HKS'M

BEAT BEAT

Total assets BERE 13.6 145
Total liabilities BERzE (1,901.4) (1,902.0)
Net liabilities BEFRE (1,887.8) (1,887.5)
Group's share of net liabilities EESHEEFE (585.2) (585.1)
Revenue N - =
Loss for the year NEEEE (0.3) (0.6)
Group's share of results for the year EENEAFEES (0.1) 0.2)

Details of the principal associates of the Group as at 31 March 2024 and %2 B X 20243 831 8B K2023F3A31H & =
===}
=

31 March 2023 are set out in Note 42(jii).

The financial information in respect of each of the Group’s associates is
not material and no separate summarised financial information of each

Bk & N B 2 5 1B R BT RE 420 -

associate is presented. ME -
19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19 EENAl 2R

The interests in joint ventures include the Group’s 50% equity interest in
Dazhongli Properties Limited (“Dazhongli”). An analysis is as follows:

N

n
A

&
7N

EHEESHEATZHEEARLEEA
AHLEsBE AR EBRBEER

BERRAZEGZEREEANATENEER
Al(RKPR]) Z50%K%E  EHMmT :

2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAT BEAET

Interests in: R TIREZS -
Dazhongli AFE 8,123.0 8,386.6
Other joint ventures Htba&E QT 1,785.1 1,718.7
9,908.1 10,105.3
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DAZHONGLI

Dazhongli and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli group”) are engaged in the
operation of investment properties and hotel properties in the Jing'an

District of Shanghai in PRC.

RpE

RFEREMBARITATEREDRER
BURFELEETELRZEENERBEE
/e

2024 2023
HK$'M HK$'M
HEABT BEABTT

Cost of unlisted shares EEMRRG Z KA 0.1 0.1
Cumulative exchange differences RitER E=5 (96.2) 1712
Share of post-acquisition profits DG EE R T 3,795.2 3,499.6
3,699.1 3,670.9
Loans to Dazhongli ERTAFE
— Non-interest bearing (note a) -5 8 (fisxa) 4,423.9 44229
— Interest bearing (note b) —-&5F 8 (MisEb) 119.4 2928
8,242.4 8,386.6
Amount included under current assets FARBEECZSE (119.4) -
8,123.0 8,386.6
Notes: B 3T -

(a) The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand. The Group has no intention to exercise its right to demand repayment of
these loans within the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The
directors of the Company believe the settlement of these loans is not likely to occur in
the foreseeable future as they, in substance, form part of net investment in Dazhongli
group as the proceeds of the loans have been substantially used by Dazhongli to inject
as registered capital into its PRC subsidiary. Accordingly, the amount is classified as
non-current asset and included in the Group’s interests in joint ventures for the
purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(b) The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured and interest bearing at 1.71% (2023: 1.71%)

perannum.

As at 31 March 2023, pursuant to the undertaking of bank loans, Dazhongli group was
refraining from settling the loans from shareholders until the settlement of all bank
loans. The directors of the Company believed the settlement of these loans was not
likely to occur in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the amount was classified as non-
current asset and included in the Group's interests in joint ventures for the purpose of

presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the bank loans were refinanced and there was
no restriction clause on settlement of loans from shareholders. These loans were
partially settled. The remaining amount is repayable in April 2024 and classified as a

current asset as at 31 March 2024.
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The summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
Dazhongli group as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 is set out

K B &£ B 2024438318 K2023F3 A4
STAZKEEUBERMEHANNOT -

below.
The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in these A& R AIIRERFEIAREZXSGEAVEREK -
consolidated financial statements.
2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEER BEATT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment properties wEME 22,978.8 23,5912
Property, plant and equipment ME - WBE KK 1,635.4 1,759.8
Other non-current assets HiIERHEE 48.9 543
24,663.1 25,405.3
Current assets mENE E
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 822.6 710.1
Other current assets HimHEE 246.5 299.2
1,069.1 1,009.3
Current liabilities mEIaE
Bank loans — secured RITER-F K 220.6 1,142.3
Loans from shareholders REEX 9,131.5 9,505.5
Other current liabilities HiRBa R’ 1,383.8 13946
10,735.9 12,0424
Net current liabilities BB EFE (9,666.8) (11,033.1)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTHARG 14,996.3 14,3722
Non-current liabilities InRBEaE
Bank loans — secured IRITEH-FHA 5,078.4 46163
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIAAE 2,420.9 23137
Other non-current liabilities HMIERHARB 98.7 1003
7,598.0 7,030.3
Net assets BEFHE 7,398.3 73419
Group's share of net assets EBHIhEEFE 3,699.1 3,670.9
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For the year ended 31 March
BE3AHLEE

2024 2023

HK$'M HKS'M

BEABTT BEAT

Revenue I@N 1,751.0 1,7263
Direct operating expenses BEEEESTH (551.8) (567.5)
1,199.2 1,158.8

Other income H g A 13.7 30.1
Change in fair value of investment properties KREMERNFLEED 78.0 88.3
Other expenses Hih H (263.1) (242.3)
Finance costs B 1% & (234.9) (272.7)
Taxation 7518 (201.6) (167.1)
Net profit after taxation for the year REEBRE%EF 5 M 591.3 595.1
Group's share of results for the year EBOEAFEES 295.6 2975

Note: The investment properties were measured at 31 March 2024 at fair value of
HK$22,978.8 million (equivalent to RMB20,831.5 million) (2023: HK$23,591.2 million
(equivalent to RMB20,652.0 million)) which was based on the valuation conducted by
Cushman & Wakefield Limited, who has appropriate qualification and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations. The valuation
of investment properties was determined by using income capitalisation approach. The
income capitalisation approach was calculated by capitalising the rental income
derived from the existing tenancies with due provision for any reversionary income
potential. The fair value measurement of investment properties was valued under Level
3 fair value measurement, which was measured based on the significant unobservable
inputs including the estimated market rent and capitalisation rate. The investment
properties are held within a business model of the joint venture whose business

M REBERTERARETZHE REME
R2024F3A31HZ AFEAE29788E BB T(HEER
AR #2083158 & 7T ) (20234 : 2359128 & % 7T (18
ERARM2065208&7T)) c Z A RIERH A B2
ZREMEBEFBAGCBEERRIOHER - 188
MEZHEDNFERARABRNLEMETE - WAERE
EEBEAMHER AP KRB MA S WA ERE M
BEABDKANBEERENTE - BEMEZ QT
B ENRE-EBERAFEFEHEE EDBEREKX
THABRGARB(BEGATTEEE REREE)
H-BEMENGERRIZAERAFTE MBEBE
AZEBKENRBEREERAZSRENENBSZ®

objective is to consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in the ~ AZH K EHz - MIEFBHEETI -
investment properties over time, rather than through sale.
Level 3 valuation methodology E=—EBHRGHELE
Below is a table which presents the significant unobservable inputs: TREVNEATA B R AZIE
Unobservable inputs (note a)
AUEHEH AHE (Ha)
Market rent (note b)
Fair value Capitalisation rate (per square metre per month)
miEHEE (MEb)
NFE BEXR{LE (BRABY¥EX)
Investment properties (note c)
REWE (Hiate)
Mainland China
] A i
Commercial HK$22,978.8 million 3.5% to0 6.25% RMB253 to RMB1,189
EE3 (2023: HK$23,591.2 million) (2023: 3.5% to 6.25%) (2023: RMB248 to RMB1,067)
29788BEB T 35% % 6.25% ARB23TEARK1189TT

(20234 : 235912 B BB TT)
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Notes:

(a) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i) the higher the
capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value; and (i) the higher the market rent, the
higher the fair value.

(b) The monthly rent takes into account the differences in location and individual
factors, such as frontage and size, between comparables and the property.

(@] Fair value measurement of investment properties is positively correlated to the
estimated market rent, but inversely correlated to the capitalisation rate.

OTHER JOINT VENTURES THAT ARE NOT

By &E

@ FTHBEEBASBEAFERZBEERROER
bR RFELEE: ROTSESES XAFE
e

b AHEFEATLBYMEEYEZBLERESR
Ax@lammkR N zER-

© REVDENLFEFEBEGHTSES2EM
B EREERCRRNZRIEM-

HitERIFERZEE QT

INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEET BEATT
Cost of unlisted shares FETR’RGS 2 KA - =
Share of reserve o5 - =

Share of post-acquisition gains, Sl E RIS -
net of dividends received MR 2 W E 23.0 19.9
23.0 19.9
Loans to other joint ventures (note) ERTEMEZE QA (M) 1,762.1 1,698.8
1,785.1 1,718.7

Note: The loans to other joint ventures are unsecured and repayable on demand. As
at 31 March 2024, the loans to other joint ventures included an amount of HK$162.6
million (2023: HK$255.9 million) bearing interest at 2% (2023: 2%) per annum over
1-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (‘HIBOR"). The remaining balance is non-
interest bearing. The amounts of the loans to joint ventures are classified as non-current
assets as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023.

The summarised financial information in respect of other joint ventures
as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 is set out below:

M ERTFTHGBELRAA NERKBFERERERE
BoM2024F3A3B ERTHEMEERABERRE
16268 B L (2023F - 2559 BB L) Wik — @A E
75 IR 1T R 247 B SR N4 F 3 29% (2023 4F : 2%) 5T B 2 &K
B-BTRERARE -BEXTFAEE AR ZETEN2024F
3A31B R2023F3ANH D EAERDEE -

Hih& &R A R2024%3 318 K2023%F3 A4
STEZHBERBMBEINNT

2024 2023

HKS$'M HKS'M

BEAET BEEABTT

Total assets BEBE 7,098.7 7,856.9

Total liabilities BEHEEE (7,340.7) (7,837.8)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BE)/BEFHE (242.0) 19.1
Group's share of net assets EENEEEFEAE 23.0 199
Revenue WA 888.0 261.1

Net loss after taxation for the year AEEKRHREBFER (99.1) (324)

Group's share of results for the year EFDENFEEEE (103.6) (13.2)

Details of the principal joint ventures of the Group as at 31 March 2024
and 31 March 2023 are set out in Note 42(iv).

%= E R202453 8318 K2023F3/8318 & =
TEENE ZFBER M E420y) ©
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20 INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND EQUITY

SECURITIES

20 EHEREAFHZZRE

Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2024 using
720243 H831H

AFEIGTE
2024 Level 1 Level 3
F—BHK B=ZEBR
HKS$'M HKS$'M HKS$'M
BEE®BT HEBIT BEBER
Investments in debt instruments REHEKATFEZ
measured at amortised cost BB ITAKSE
Debt securities (note a) B E % (ista)
Current T E 57.3
Non-current ERB 11.5
68.8
Equity instruments measured at FVTOC| BRAFEFAREMEE
WmEtE2RAT A
Listed equity securities (note b) EWRAES (MsEp) 10.2 10.2 -
Unlisted equity securities (note c) FE E MR AEF (M) 1.3 - 1.3
11.5 10.2 1.3
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BEREHNZOWBOT :
Non-current FEM B 11.5
Market value of listed equity securities ETRABESH 2TE
Listed in Hong Kong RES LT 1.9 1.9 -
Listed overseas RGN ET 8.3 8.3 -
10.2 10.2 -
Financial assets at FVTPL ERAFEFAEZ
Unlisted equity securities (note d) JE TR A EE (M sEd) 359.9 - 359.9
Listed debt securities (note e) EHEBES (MisTe) 43.0 43.0 -
Unlisted debt securities (note f) EEMEBFE S (D 21.0 - 21.0
423.9 43.0 380.9
Analysed for reporting purposes as: REWREWZHTWAT :
Non-current R 423.9
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Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2023 using
720233 A31H

NEEF=
2023 Level 1 Level 3
F—EH FZER
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEEXET BEAT BEAET
Investments in debt instruments BEENATEZ
measured at amortised cost BB IEKE
Debt securities (note a) B E % (isEa)
Current ikl 216
Non-current IEmED 495
711
Equity instruments measured at FVTOCI EAFEGFAEMER
WasrE 2B ATA
Listed equity securities (note b) EWRARES (M Eb) 138 138 -
Unlisted equity securities (note c) JEETRRAEF (HaEo) 109 = 109
24.7 13.8 10.9
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BEREBNZOWBOT :
Non-current IE 7 B 24.7
Market value of listed equity securities ERAFBESH 2TE
Listed in Hong Kong RES LT 58 58 =
Listed overseas REIE™ 80 8.0 =
138 13.8 -
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEFAEBRZ
Unlisted equity securities (note d) FEETRAEZH (H5Ed) 3840 = 3840
Listed debt securities (note e) EmEKES (HiEe) 55.8 558 =
Unlisted debt securities (note f) EEMEREFH (K FEn) 223 = 223
462.1 558 406.3
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BEREMNZOMBOT :
Non-current IE 7 B 462.1
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Notes:

(a) The Group intends to hold the assets to maturity to collect contractual cash
flows and these cash flows consist solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

(b) The Group elected to present in other comprehensive income for the fair value
changes of certain equity investments. These investments are not held for trading and
not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future.

The fair value of listed equity securities amounting to HK$10.2 million (2023: HK$13.8
million) are determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the
relevant exchanges in active markets as at 31 March 2024.

() The unlisted equity securities of HK$1.3 million (2023: HK$10.9 million) represent
investment in unquoted equity investment in a private operating company which is
not held for trading purpose.

The fair value of the unquoted equity investment represents calibration to the
investment's latest round financing price without adjustment.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant
unobservable data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to

the Group.

The movement in the unlisted equity securities is as follows:

@ SERSEZFEEEZIHMNURBRAOED
mMZERERERINAERREEREZAE -

b KERERETERAREZAFEZBHRNEA
EEBEFIR ZERELFFERS AEHRRT
BERARETGHE -

THRABEZ AFE102BE BT (2023F 1 13888
BIL) IR ER4FIANBEERTEZ2HABERS
FrzmiBEANREMERT -

(© 1I3E8ETQ023F 10988 BIT) LMK
AEHFERERTUHHEETARZIALE AR ZER
BERAEE -

BHRERAREZATEEZRENRN —HREE
ORI HRHEB) L -

HRERERAEHRAREEEMS L NEAN &I
EREETTBRUA B Y ERBRHEREN -

FLETRABHRZEEHMT

2024 2023

HK$'M HK$'M

ER- VP BEATT

Balance at beginning of the year FH A 10.9 24.1
Net fair value loss to other comprehensive income REMEERES 2 A FEFEE (9.6) (132)
Balance at end of the year F R4 1.3 10.9

(d) As at 31 March 2024, the unlisted equity securities represent investments in
private equity funds of HK$141.7 million (2023: HK$167.5 million) and unquoted equity
investment of HK$218.2 million (2023: HK$216.5 million) which are measured using
valuation techniques based on inputs that can be observed in the market in addition to
unobservable inputs such as company specific financial information.
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In accounting for the fair value measurement of the investments in private equity
funds, management has determined that the reported net asset value of the private
equity funds provided by the general partners represent the fair value of the private
equity funds. The general partners used different valuation methodologies to measure
different underlying investments of the funds. The general partners measured the
unrestricted actively traded public equity and debt investments at the closing price or
bid price of the identical assets as of measurement date. The general partners also used
methodology based on relevant comparable data whether possible to quantify the
adjustment from cost, transaction prices or latest financing price when adjustment if
necessary, or to justify that cost, transaction prices or latest financing price is still a
proper approximation of fair value of the underlying investments held by the
investment funds in determining the net asset value. The factors to be considered in
assessment may require the judgement. For those investments that have achieved
positive and sustainable operating performance, the general partners adopted Earning
Multiples Methodology. The valuation using this methodology is calculated by applying
the most appropriate and reasonable multiple derived from reference to market based
conditions of quoted companies or recent private transactions. If the multiples are
derived from public company comparable, it is discounted for considerations such as
illiquidity and differences between the comparable companies and portfolio
companies, based on company specific facts and circumstances according to the
general partner’s judgment. The general partners also adopted discounted cash flow
methodology. The cash flows are projected based on the budgeted cash flows of the
portfolio companies, which are adjusted for current market environment. The
significant unobservable inputs include discount rates ranging from 6.25% to 13.5% (2023:
6.25% to 11.5%). The discount rates are derived from observable return of comparable
companies, which are adjusted for considerations such as different capital structure,
sizes and other specific risk of the portfolio companies. The higher the discount rate,
the lower the fair value and vice versa.

For unquoted equity investment, the Group applies a minority interest discount on the
net assets value of the investee adjusting with the fair value of the underlying
properties to determine the fair value. The valuation of the underlying properties is
determined by income capitalisation approach. The income capitalisation approach is
calculated by capitalising the rental income derived from the existing tenancies with
due provision for any reversionary income potential. The fair value measurement of the
underlying properties is measured based on the significant unobservable inputs
including the estimated average market rent ranging from RMB114 to RMB321 (2023:
market rent ranging from RMB143 to RMB415) per square meter and capitalisation rate
of 4.25% (2023: 4.5%). The higher the market rent, the higher the fair value. The higher
the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant
unobservable data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to
the Group.

RALEREESCREZAFAENEZ S EEM S -
EEECETHLRGBAMREZZRALERE
BEevEEFERLEREES 2 ATFE -TREE
AFERTRBERE Rt ETRAES 2 HHAKRE -
ETRAEARBREERBEFEHZUMERE
AEBFEFRIIBEBAEREREHRE - T
BABANSEAEZIBERTERREMEE LR
BzhZE UEBLERER RXIERIEHBEERZ
AE(MFAE) AFEARE XFERKETRE
BRINDAETEEFEFPHREESHMBAHRBIRE
ZAVTEZAEBHNE FhHP B TFTEEZ2REZT 8k
TEHE o RZSEERLIERAFECEERE Y
REME  TBABARMBAGE L - FA LMY
EZEENEBRERLE2E EMARAKIEHZIAAR
SZMBHBEREMBIRAERAE ZEHEITT
H-MARGHFREARTLRAR  AEBRLBES
BAZHERBERARAZEETSERER  TRRBIE
TRRALBEAGEKEEHAA AR ZEZEEETH
H-ERABANKABRBESREL - BEAREZ
BADERKREMHARRIZBERSRE  LIREMN
MBEREETAE EATABERGARBELER
R () F6.25% & 13.5% (2023 4F : 6.25% & 11.5%) ) ° BL IR &
TREANLERARZAHRLE®  TRIFREEEA
RAZTAREAAGEE HEREMFTRRSERRET
AR -BEREE AFERE RZITFA-

MEREBRALEMN:S  EEHREHR 2 EEFE
ERALHBERER IR ABBEYEZAFEES
AR UBEAFE - HEDEGAEIERKRAEAR
EEAMEE - WMABREEBEAN MR EAS K
R € Uk A GE B ST B E T B ER AW EE B
MetE - HEVECZAFEMAENERERTTER
BASEREGFIEITEEESEEIRNTAR
BIMTEAREDTQ023E : MBEHEENTFARE
143 E AR 4157T) R & A1 FR425% (20234 : 45%) )
HE-mBAsME ATFEIMSE ERMLRBS
AFEABAE -

HREEERREHARYEBRMELTEKR &AL
EREE T BRBES I ERERRENN -
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The movement in the unlisted equity securities is as follows:

FETRABEZEDMT -

2024 2023

HK$'M HKS$'M

BEBT BEET

Balance at beginning of the year F 384.0 409.8
Net fair value loss in profit or loss REZPZAFEFEIE (12.8) 312
Proceeds from disposal & BT 1S 3RIR (7.5) =
Exchange translation differences M X =R (3.8) 54
Balance at end of the year FREH 359.9 384.0

(e) Even though the Group's business model is to hold debt securities assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, the cash flows of these investments do not
meet the HKFRS 9 criteria as solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

The fair value of the debt securities as at 31 March 2024 is HK$43.0 million (2023:
HK$55.8 million) which is valued by reference to the Level 1 fair value measurement
deriving from quoted prices in active market for identical assets. The weighted average
effective interest rate is 5.6% (2023: 5.9%) per annum.

) The unlisted debt securities of HK$21.0 million (2023: HK$22.3 million) represent
investment in an unquoted convertible loan to a private operating company.

The fair value of the unquoted convertible loan is taking reference to the tranches of
settlement partly in form of converted share at a price based on the latest round
financing without adjustment and partly in form of a loan adjusted by ECL upon an
extended maturity.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant
unobservable data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to

the Group.

The movement in the unlisted debt securities is as follows:

© BEFEZEBEARBEEBIEFEENK
BAanmBeneg BEHBAREZRERERERFLS
BERHAEEASBENBZNRMARTEEBHBE IR
EEREIFRZHATE -

M2024F3A310 - EBBEHFZ2ATFEABIBE BT
(203F :S58EBETL) R ATFENSEERMS L
HMRAEEZHREMEZS —BRATFEFEMmMMEE-
DNHE T B B F F K A56% (2023 F 1 59%) ©

f) Q0B BAET(023F : N3AEBT) 2 LT
BEEEFHFERENA—HLERARREZERE TR
BRER -

BHRENARERZIATENDEZ2ERDERN —H
BMAECRERB)ERUNEBREMND WK R AE
RIMERERBEERERRABCEFVAETZD
HAEHE o

HREEERASERARYEEME L AEKN &AL
EREETIBRREEH Y ERBEHEESN -

FLETEBEHRZEEHMT

2024 2023

HK$'M HKS'M

ER- ¥ BEAT

Balance at beginning of the year F YA 223 350
Net fair value loss in profit or loss RIERZRZATFEFERE (1.3) (127)
Balance at end of the year FREH 21.0 223

There was no transfer among different levels of the fair value hierarchy in the current
and prior year.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND VALUATION
PROCESSES

The Group determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
for Level 3 fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to
the extent it is available. The valuation is performed at the end of each
reporting period. Where there is material change in the fair value of the
assets, the cause of the fluctuations will be reported to the management
of the Group.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in
determining the fair value of assets are disclosed above.

21 OTHER ASSETS

AFPEFERGERRE

SERF=-ERRFETEETE
BRID R B ABUER

BEMGE

REFRFER SERAITEATEERE
AMZABERE fHERSERSHRE
T-HWEEZAFELREARES HEFY
ZRARAEEEEERS

ERETEERAYEMERAZHAERT RS
ABBZEHN EXHE-

21 HtEE

2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAETT BEBTT
Mortgage instalment receivables (note a) JE W% ¥ o BR 3 (BT 5T a) 110.2 1919
Loan to an investee (note b) AEBIEEYRER(MiEDb) 106.2 106.2
Other assets EMmEE 108.8 98.7
325.2 396.8

Notes: B 5E -

(a) The mortgage instalment receivables represent the financing provided to the
buyers of development properties of the Group. The amounts bear interest at prime
rate minus 2.5% to prime rate (2023: prime rate minus 2.5% to prime rate) and are
receivable by instalments over a period of not more than 25 years (2023: 25 years) from
the sale of relevant properties. The receivables are secured by a first mortgage or a
second mortgage over the respective properties. The portion of mortgage instalment
receivables due within one year of HK$86.1 million (2023: HK$271.7 million) is included
as other receivables in current assets.

(b) The Group owns a 15% interest in an unlisted company incorporated in
Singapore which holds a commercial complex comprising a retail mall, 2 office towers
and a residential rental apartment in Tianjin, the PRC. The loan to the investee is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The Group has no intention to
exercise its right to demand repayment of these loans within the next twelve months
from the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the amount is classified as non-
current asset for the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

@ EREBIHERDNEERTFEEREDEERR
ZEE  WEHREREEFERB2EREEREFEZ
BQ0BE  REBEMRFEREBEFR) T E€4E
BREYMEESHRETBBF(203F : 25F) AH HK
Bl ot EURER A BBEMEESE —RIBKE_ILE
Ao RBsIBHEBIT(2023F : 271788 B T)
R—FRNBHZERERD HEREFTARBDEEZ
HhERKIBA -

()  FER—REFNE ML 2 I TR A B
Brswks  ZARRFRRESE -HBESZAER
BRE-EEDTL MERAEAZER —RBEHAEE
AB-AEBREHRERSEER RERREX
EE -SEESRBSHRESRENREARNTEER
R BREEZSFER Al R2IRGEEFBMR
RRME FHESEEIMERRBDEE -
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22 INVENTORIES 22 FE
2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEBTT BHEBTT
Consumables 5 39.2 31.8
23 PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER 23 HHEFER/ZED
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE LE 3
2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEETT BEBTT
Current: RE

Properties under development

BERARLEERTYE

for sale in Hong Kong 4,467.6 4,208.5
Properties under development BEABIIMIEEERAME
for sale outside Hong Kong 2,794.2 1,859.3
7,261.8 6,067.8
Non-current: FEME
Properties held for development BEEBAHLEFERDE
for sale in Hong Kong 2,523.9 2,2186
Properties held for development BABIIMLESERDE
for sale outside Hong Kong 874.6 931.1
3,398.5 3,149.7

At the end of the reporting period, total borrowing costs capitalised in 20 ¥ & B K > 5191 & & & 7T (20234 : 2310
the properties held for/under development for sale were HK$519.1 B&EBIL) ZBBERADBIEHLEFER/
million (2023: HK$231.0 million). The properties under development for &R YIE Z B < 7,261.8 8 &8 7T (2023 F
sale amounting to HK$7,261.8 million (2023: HK$6,067.8 million) are 60678 A BB L) 2L EERP WEFEHRL
expected to be completed after twelve months from the end of the & BARAEFT 1218 A& TAK -

reporting period.

192 HKRInternational Limited Annual Report 2023/2024



24 TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit periods allowed by the Group to its customers are dependent
on the general practices in the industries concerned. For property sales,
sales terms vary for each property project and are determined with
reference to the prevailing market conditions. Property rentals are
receivable in advance. Payments for clubs and hotel services are
receivable on demand.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance
for credit losses, presented based on the payment due date at the end of
the reporting period:

24 EIRE FERR

KSEGRTHEEFPZEEMRFTFERA—RED
EE -ROEXHEMS HEKRRREME
HEME Y2REFTRAEET -WEHES
AREBN SR EEREZERARE
B AT o

MTRARUEZER(NBKEEERER R
BEMRZIBANKRBBE2NN ZRE D

2024 2023

HKS$'M HKS'M

BEART BEAT

Not yet due &) R 2 HA 12.7 245
Overdue: w g

0-60 days 0-60K 22.6 134

61-90 days 61-90K 34 16

Over 90 days B0 K 7.4 8.1

46.1 47.6

As at 31 March 2024, included in the Group's trade receivables balances
are debtor with aggregate carrying amount of HK$33.4 million (2023:
HK$23.1 million) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the
past due balances, HKS$7.4 million (2023: HKS$8.1 million) has been past
due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default because based
on the Group's historical information, the counterparty is of a good
credit quality and usually settles after due date. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

The Group has provided allowance for receivables overdue beyond 120
days because historical experience is such that receivables that are past
due beyond 120 days are generally not recoverable. Management
closely monitors the credit quality of trade receivables and considers the
trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired to be of a good
credit quality.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41.

R2024F3 8318 SBZEWRE 5 RNLEH#
BRERNREBCHBHZEKEE  FEES
HARIBEBT(2023F 3 BEHET) o
BMHEHRER  74AEBETQ0BF81ES
BT BEH0REIA L BHRBIEEED
BEER RXPEFHFEEEERT B
REHAEBEN WMIFRAEH - E@ET
ERZEERBFETMNERR -

SEEHBHBBI20KRZ ERERGTIRRE
U THRRBEEER RFHHESB
NR0ORZ YRR — KRBT WE - EEER
DNERBRESERZEELTR XR/ZX
SV EBHABECRKRESRRER R I
ZIEEE=-

BRABER A2 FIEER K T4 -
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25 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2023, deposit, prepayment and other receivables
included an amount of HK$239.6 million which was deposit paid on

acquisition of development projects (2024: nil).

As at 31 March 2024, bank balances and cash represent cash held by the
Group and short-term bank deposits at market interest rate ranging from
0.01% to 5.68% (2023: 0.01% to 5.19%) per annum and included an
amount of HK$1.5 million (2023: HK$0.8 million) which is sale proceeds

arising from property sales held by stakeholders.

(b) AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, non-trade nature, non-

interest bearing and repayable on demand.

(c) AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, non-interest

bearing and repayable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41.
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25 HttEmEE

(a) ®E - A FIE K H WK
H/IBRTHEHERRE

MR2023FE38318 e BNREREM
BUWRBEEE —"E2FEAB6EERTH
HIE ZEREAURBBRREEZEMNERS
(2024 %F : ) o

M2024F3A31H RITEHR LIRS ABEE
BHEZREESEMBFEHENF001%E568%
(2023F : 001%E5.19%) 2 R HRTIF 38 I
BRE—2¢EAI5EEBT(Q2023F 0868
BIIZRIE  ZEFBEVEMEEZHEERN
BRE YHREAEH -

(b) FEULHEE 1 B FKIA
EURBEARFARRER FEFHUEL .
GBRARERER-

() BBEERTRE
ERAEEARRAREBER LERARE
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26 TRADE PAYABLES, PROVISION AND
ACCRUED CHARGES

Included in trade payables, provision and accrued charges are trade
payables of HKS$87.4 million (2023: HK$54.8 million), an aged analysis
presented based on the payment due date at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

26 EHEREN BERE

&

ENEBESER BEREFTERTRERENS
B 5 R840 BB (20234 : 5488 B8
) M TARBERREZINBNIRBEHET
ZERER DT

llid

2024 2023

HK$'M HKS'M

BEER BEETT

Not yet due im) R 2 HA 62.8 394
Overdue: B Hf

0-60 days 0-60K 20.8 134

61-90 days 61-90K 0.7 -

Over 90 days RGN 3.1 20

87.4 548

The average credit period on purchases of goods and payment for
subcontractor works is 90 days.

The trade payables, provision and accrued charges include (i)
construction cost accruals of HK$335.4 million (2023: HK$333.4 million);
and (i) provision for certain construction obligations of HK$349.5 million
(2023: HK$352.5 million). In the course of the property development
activities, the Group is obliged to construct certain common or public
facilities within the development projects in accordance with the
development plans approved by the relevant authorities. Provision for
such construction costs has been made when a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made and the details of the movement of the
provision are set out below:

REEREINODBEIERREBBZFAHEESR
ABIOK ©

ENESHRR BEKEFTEREEOER
B AN3354 8 875 T (20234 1 33348 B8
TL) RS TREEREMIERE9588
BT (20234 1 3525 BB ) - SEEHEITY
¥RREFH2EAET ARBEEHRERME
ZEREFE RERBEBRNERETAERK
NBEE - EEERAUHILBEMTAREZS
BELAUSAENE  BZEEERANEDL#
B mMBEESZFBHINDOT :

HKS$'M

BEER

Balance as at 1 April 2022 R2022%F 418 2 & 368.5
Reversed during the year F A [0 (16.0)
Balance as at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 B2023F3 318 %2023%F 418 2 &% 3525
Provided during the year FRNEIERRB 8.0
Reversed during the year & N # [O] (11.0)
Balance as at 31 March 2024 MN2024FE3A831H 28 349.5
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27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27 S AE

2024 2023

HKS$'M HKS'M

BEEBT BEBTT

Property sale deposits MHEEELRS 224.8 2,034.7
Advance payments from customers B PR 98.8 1116
323.6 2,146.3

Less: Amount included under current liabilities BoEARBABEBEZESHE (97.1) (2,075.4)
Amount included under non-current liabilities FFAERBAGE SR 226.5 709

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the
current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

BHREER-

TRFINAFEEZ IO BRRARES

2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BE#ETT BEAT
Revenue recognised that was included in contract 5t A #1 A N B EAHH

liabilities balances at the beginning of the year: ERERIA
Property sales deposits MEHERS 2,013.7 74.9
Advance payments from customers EFPEMAR 40.7 633
2,054.4 138.2
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28 BANKAND OTHER LOANS

28 BITREMERK

2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BE#ETT BEAT
Bank loans (note a) RITE R (M sEa) 10,328.7 11,2808
Bonds and notes (note b) BEHEEE (M FZb) 298.5 2983
10,627.2 11,579.1
Less: Amount included under current liabilities BEFARBAG SR
(including bank loans with a repayable on (BIEAEERERER
demand clause) EEKERZRITER (3,744.1) (2,297.4)
Amount included under non-current liabilities SFAERBAEGEZ SR 6,883.1 9,281.7
Bank and other loans are repayable: WITRHEMERER T ERES
On demand or within one year HERS—F R 3,744.1 2,297.4
Between one and two years —EMER 2,888.2 3,954.5
Between two and five years “ERFR 3,696.4 50289
Over five years HB®hF 298.5 2983
10,627.2 11,579.1
Secured PEsigi - 9128
Unsecured 4= 45 1 10,627.2 10,666.3
10,627.2 11,579.1
Bank loans that contain a repayable on demand BB AJBE I B RKEE KR Z
clause (shown under current liabilities) and BITEXR R REBEEYTR)
the scheduled payment is (note c): BEFE A (MEo :
Within one year —F RN 100.0 -
Notes: B =E -

(@) As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank loans carried interest at an average (
margin of 1.02% (2023: 1.03%) plus HIBOR, other relevant interbank offered rates or (

a

) R2024F3A3A EEBRTEERST F1.02%
2023%F 1 1.03%) 2 FHEBEERMBEBRITREIRE

other benchmark interest rates per annum.

(b) On 10 April 2013, the Company established a US$1.0 billion Medium Term Note
Programme (“MTN Programme”). On 25 May 2021, a 10-year Hong Kong dollar fixed
rate notes in the principal amount of HK$300 million at a coupon rate of 3.25% per
annum was issued under the MTN Programme.

(0 The amounts due are based on scheduled payment dates set out in the
respective loan agreements.

K HMAARBRTRERE R EMEEN KRG B -
() H2013F48108 KRB RMCI0EERTZHH
ZRTE(THEHERTE]) - 2021 F5H258 @ 1R
FHERAFEERITASLFE0EE ST ZI0EHK
BFIBNEMAKGFEZHETELER -

© EHEFREDRSZENERBHEABERPAE -
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29 LEASE LIABILITIES 29 HEESE

2024 2023
HK$'M HK$'M
HEABT BEABT

Lease liabilities payable: ENEEAE:
Within one year —FR 6.3 6.0
Within a period of more than one year but —F EBETBBEMRF
not more than two years 2 BE A 2.0 59
Within a period of more than two years but MELNEBETBBAT
not more than five years ZHEA 3.7 43
Within a period of more than five years HEFAFZEBA 36.5 37.7
48.5 539
Less: Amount due for settlement within BN mEBAGEIRR2EAR
12 months shown under current liabilities | HR B8 2 BB (6.3) (6.0)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months RIEREBAEY R12MEA 1%
shown under non-current liabilities B HREE 2 RIA 42.2 479

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other than the AEBSEERB 2t BB AN E B E

functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below: ZHEEAEHINWT :
Japanese Yen Renminbi Thai Baht
= ARH £33
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEEET BREERT BHEAER

As at 31 March 2024 R2024%3H31H 0.4 3.7 1.7
As at 31 March 2023 R2023F3H31H 1.5 6.3 2.7
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30 OTHERLIABILITIES

30 HtE &

2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEAER BEAT
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder FE 752 A% A% 3R = R

(note a) (HMt5Ea) 1,956.0 18238
Club debentures (note b) 2 MES (MiEb) 779.3 798.1
Amount due after one year —F BB EAFRIA 2,735.3 26219

Notes: M &
(8  The amount represents an advance from a non-controlling shareholder of (@) KB BKM B R A IEIERZERB R B UAEN

subsidiaries to finance operation of those subsidiaries. It is unsecured, interest bearing
at 1-month HIBOR plus 2.5% per annum and not repayable within one year.

(b) Club debentures are non-interest bearing, unsecured, redeemable on their
maturity dates in 2047. These debentures are issued to members of the following clubs
operated by the Group and the principal amount of the club debentures issued are as

ZEMBAREEMSR ZFREREER B—EA
HEBRITRAEREM25% 2 FHEFENBRFEA
R—FREE-

b)) EREFARE BERRAR047FAEEZ
M EER - EESDETTTIAKREMEEZ
BNEE BEBRTISMESIASEMT

follows:
2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEBT ABET
Discovery Bay Golf Club MEESBAKS 629.6 645.7
Discovery Bay Recreation Club 149.7 1524
779.3 798.1

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of club debentures at amortised cost and
deferred income amounted to HK$596.5 million (2023: HK$603.4 million) and HK$182.8
million (2023: HK$194.7 million) respectively.

R2024F3A318  BEHEKAFEZGHESURE
WA ZBREESD B A59%58 & 78 7T (2023 4F : 6034
BEBIT) K1828B BB T (2023F - 1947BE AT °
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31 DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities)/assets recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting years:

31 IEERIE

KT AE R BIRIEHIE (8 H)/EEMN
BRERBITRBEREEE Y 2D

Fair value Distributable
Accelerated  change of profits of
tax investment Tax foreign Others
depreciation properties losses  subsidiaries (note) Total
REMZE BINH
B8 AYE AR A Hith
E 28 HEFE RN (W) @st
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET HE#RnT AEEn HE#RR AEER HEER
At 1 April 2022 R202F481H (2926) (65.8) 799 2172) 50.8 (444.9)
Exchange translation differences PEH =% 05 48 29 163 04) 183
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (0BR) /T A B = (182) 39 12 654 66.8 129.1
At 31 March 2023 M2023%3H31R (310.3) (57.1) 88.2 (135.5) 117.2 (297.5)
Exchange translation differences &5 =5 0.1 24 - 6.1 02 838
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss CCIE PN E (226) 21 326 (188) (78.1) (848)
At 31 March 2024 2024538310 (332.8) (526) 1208 (148.2) 393  (373.5)

Note: These mainly represent net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in relation
to unrealised profit of certain property development projects.

For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. The following is
the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial
reporting purposes:

M WD ETEXRFTRETHEZREBB REREA
FrERZBELEHIBEEE/(AE)FHE -

REBRGEEVBAREME  ETELEHREA
EERAGBEREEZ S EREEHE - AT
SRANME 2 HmE /RN IE S & (K
BIDH

2024 2023

HKS$'M HKS'M

BERTT BEBTT
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHIEAG (431.9) (406.9)
Deferred tax assets EXERIAEE 58.4 109.4
(373.5) (297.5)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$2,356.7 million (2023: HK$1,945.2 million) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$654.5 million (2023: HK$454.2 million) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$1,702.2 million (2023: HK$1,491.0 million) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams.
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32 SHARE CAPITAL

32 A

Number
of shares HK$'M
IR & BEAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each KBS E Tz @K
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023and R 202244 818 « 2023438318 -
31 March 2024 2023F4 A 18 K2024F3 H31H 4,000,000,000 1,000.0
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRER
At1 April 2022, 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023and 2202244 818 ~ 202343 H318 -
31 March 2024 2023F 4 H1H &2024F3 A31H 1,485,301,803 371.3

33 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted two share option schemes on 8 September 2011
(the “2011 Scheme”) and on 25 August 2021 (the "2021 Scheme”)
respectively (collectively, the “Schemes”) which permits the directors of
the Company to grant share options to all Directors (including any
Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors), full-time employees
and any consultants (employed on a contract basis) of the Group to
subscribe for shares in the Company. The 2011 Scheme was terminated
on 27 August 2021 but the share options granted prior to the
termination continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
2011 Scheme.

During the year, no share option was exercised but 220,000 share
options were lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 2011 Scheme.
In addition, 42,280,000 share options were granted, 880,000 share
options were lapsed and no share option was exercised or cancelled in
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Scheme. As at 31 March 2024, the
number of shares in respect of which share options had been granted
and remained outstanding under the 2011 Scheme and 2021 Scheme
was 35,530,000 (2023: 35,750,000), representing 2.39% of the shares of
the Company and 80,920,000 (2023: 39,520,000), representing 5.45% of
the shares of the Company in issue at that date respectively.

33 R HARESTE

KARDBIFR2011E9A88 (2011 F 521 1)
K2021F 8 A25H ([2021F 5781 1) T4 7 ™ (&
BT B ([ZEaT8)) ZEsa8AF
ARAREERNEEZABES (BIETHAIT
EERFHNTES) 2BEBRIEMUAEL
FRAERZEMBLAUREARARD 2K
15 HAME 22011 G T8I B 2021 F8 27 H &R IE -
BRAKIEAMBE RO BPREES LA
BRI 2011 F 21T -

FANcRERDBEEITE - 822000075 %
D EARE R IR 201 F AT BERE KB o o -
42,280,00017 A% {7 HA # 1 55 1~ 880,00017 A% 17 HA
BB R DA K B8E 4 R 0 2B A AR 4% 2021 F AT
SR FREITE ST - R2024F3A31H - 1R
2011 F 5t 8 2021 FEHEIE BB B HRITE
7 B% 10 B P8 K /9 A% 15 8 B /&35,530,000 B
(20234 : 35,750,000% ) %80,920,000/% (2023 £ :
39,520,0000%) + A BIME AR AN % B B 17K
13 892.39% 2. 5.45% °
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Details of the movements of the share options granted are as follows: EEEEROEEEESFIFOT

Exercise Outstanding Lapsed during Outstandingasat Granted during Lapsed during Outstanding

price per asat theyearended 31March 2023 theyearended theyearended asat
Category of share 1 April 31 March and 1 April 31 March 31 March 31 March
participants  Date of grant Exercise period HK$ 2022 2023 2023 2024 2024 2024
REZE R2023F REZE REZE
BRT  R2022F 2023 F 3A318K 2024F 2024F  R20245F
EE 4A1H 3A31H 2023F4 810 3A31H 3A31H 3A31H
SREEH REBH Ggid B HATE LEEAX MATE LFEERE LEEXR  MATE
Director 28 February 2017 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027 3.845 8,580,000 - 8,580,000 - - 8,580,000
Bz W7%2A288 201742288 E2027452A278
Director 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 14,740,000 - 14,740,000 - - 14,740,000
% 2018F3A128 201863 R 12AZ2028F3A 1A
Director 24 November 2021 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 3028 32,200,000 - 32,200,000 - - 32,200,000
% 021F11A248  2021F 11 B4R ZE206F11A23R
Director 4 October 2023 note 1.636 - - - 36,100,000 = 36,100,000
% 03510848 K
Ex-director 28 February 2017 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027 3845 5,390,000 - 5,390,000 - - 5,390,000
MES 017F2A88  2017F2A288F 027528278
Ex-director 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 6,820,000 = 6,820,000 = = 6,820,000
MES 01838128 2018F3A12AE2028F3 A 1A
Ex-director 24 November 2021 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 3.028 3,600,000 = 3,600,000 = = 3,600,000
MES W1F1MA4B 2021811 B4R E206511A23R
Employee 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 220,000 = 220,000 = (220,000) =
E& 01838128 2018F3A12AZE2028F3A 1A
Employee 24 November 2021 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 3028 4,140,000 (420,000) 3,720,000 - (740,000) 2,980,000
E& 001F11A4B  2021F 11 A24RZE206F11A238
Employee 4 Qctober 2023 note 1636 - - - 6,180,000 (140,000 6,040,000
E&8 WBEI0A4E K
75,690,000 (420,000) 75270,000 42,280,000 (1,700,000) 116,450,000
Exercisable at the end of the year

FRATME 74,310,000

Note: 50% vested on 4 October 2024 will be exercisable from 4 October 2024 to 3 MEsE : 50% 202410 B4 B 8 B 18 A] R 2024F 1084 H

October 2028, while the remaining 50% vested on 4 October 2025 will be exercisable  Z 2028410 A3 8 HIB R FT{E © 8 T 2 50% 5 2025 &

from 4 October 2025 to 3 October 2028. 1048 F B AR 2025610 A48 E2028F 10 A3 H &
AT o
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In respect of fair value of options granted during the year ended FtREE?2 O24¢ 3ANBIEEEREMK G,
31 March 2024, the inputs into the model were as follows: BAFEME BARBZHBAZBBEAT

4 October 2023

2023510 A48

Spot price e HK$1.630

16307 7T

Exercise price TIE(E HK$1.636

163678 7T

Expected volatility T8 HR R 18 26.17%

Risk-free rate 15 3 B Al =R 4.13%

Expected dividend yield T ER AR B e 2.38%

Exercise period 17 A 50%: 4 October 2024 to 3 October 2028

The fair value of the share options is determined using the Binomial
Option Pricing Model. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair values of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimates. Expected volatility is based on the historical share price
volatility of the Company over the past 5 years. Expected dividend yield
is based on the historical dividend payment of the Company. The risk-
free interest rate is interpolated from the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority’s Hong Kong Exchange Fund Bills/Notes as at the date of grant.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$5.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 in relation to share options granted by the

Company to the directors and employees of the Group.

Remaining 50%: 4 October 2025 to 3 October 2028
50% : 202410 4 H £2028%F10A3H
# T50% : 2025510 A4 B £20284F10 A3 H

fo“ﬁ)ﬂézﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ 17 B B
ERABE - HERNUEZATFERER
- %USHEX DREBEESFZRAEREE
1T BHREIREBEARBBESFAERE

Rt & - ﬁ%%%%ﬂfﬁﬁﬁ$gmu
ARBIRMNIBRFTE EN S EE R

@%ﬁ%f%%%?%?l\lﬁ%@%‘%%/%%%ﬁtij H
s -

REBZE20024F3831BIEEE - SE®ARQ A

ETEEEEkEECROHERERI L E
BS54BEABTT
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) RECONCILIATION OF (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE
TAXATION TO CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM

34 rEHERE

® MY &E

(a) PBR¥AT(EIR) /imF R EE
(R /R ERE2H Ik

OPERATIONS
2024 2023
Notes HKS$'M HKS'M
Bt 5 BEAET BEAT
(Loss)/profit before taxation T AT (E518) /3% (173.2) 554.9
Adjustments for BLATIEE fEH 2 A%
Finance costs B ER 8 409.4 230.0
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BMEMEE2INE 16 181.6 1876
Amortisation of intangible assets EREE B 2.1 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEEZINE 17 8.3 85
Amortisation of bonds (EC o 3] (0.6) (03)
Impairment loss on investments in debt RBEKAGTE 2 E
instruments measured at amortised cost TEREZREEIRE 7 15.5 165
Impairment loss (reversed)/recognised on loans (R /IERERTEE
to joint ventures NAElZBEEE 7 (0.4) 23
Impairment loss on properties held for HEEFEREMEY
development for sale BB E 18 7 164.3 =
Impairment loss on properties under development it HEFEF W E 2
for sale BEET 18 7 13.1 =
Impairment loss on properties held for sale BIEHEWEZRAERRE 7 94.3 =
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed) R/ (BE)WE - - BE &
on property, plant and equipment R 2 R EEE 7,16 57.5 (6.5)
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL BERAFEFAEBRZ
CRMEEBBTE 7 14.1 496
Net loss on mortgage instalment receivables & W42 15 > BR 3R
& 15 % 7 5.3 15
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEME BMERSZREZ
plantand equipment EE/ (=) F 5 7 0.5 (05)
Net (gain)/loss on deregistration of subsidiaries WM B ARz
(W) /518558 7 (1.4) 278
Net gain on disposal of a joint venture HESZE RNz WEH F58 7 - (368.0)
Share of results of associates DB L N R ELE 18 0.1 0.2
Share of results of joint ventures DIREERNREE 19 (192.0) (284.3)
Realised (losses)/gains on disposal of investment HEKEMER 2
properties B2 (FE) /W 15 3.0 (26.6)
Unrealised losses on change in fair value of KREMENTFEESZ
investment properties REIHERE 15 336.4 863
Interest income B U A (76.5) (52.9)
Equity-settled share-based payments LARE S S E AR (D &
B2 AR 5.4 =
Change in working capital BIEE G EE)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories ZE g/ m> (7.5) 0.7
Decrease/(increase) in properties held for sale HIELREMER D/ (EM) 1,778.8 (1,533.1)
Decrease in properties held for development HEEFERMERD
for sale 20.7 1,415.5
Increase in properties under development for sale 1 i & 3% & /P ) Z£ 18 /i1 (2,149.5) (1,405.0)
Decrease in trade receivables JE U E 5 Bk FOR 1.5 16.3
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, prepayments e TEREREAM
and other receivables JE W 5K IR (38 00) /0 > (45.3) 746.2
Decrease in mortgage instalment receivables FE W IR 48 o B 208 D 262.0 495
Decrease in amounts due from joint ventures =R /NETE =D 24.8 132
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables, provision ENBESER  BEK
and accrued charges FEETE A (R 2) /38 in (54.3) 953
(Decrease)/increase in deposits received EiEeREMeREE
and other financial liabilities (R ) /3% 0 (1,234.6) 1,174.6
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities S4B ECED) /B (1,791.2) 2,0264
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 2B (FTH)/fER 4 (2,327.8) 3,035.7
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(b) RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement

b) REFEMELERBZHE

TRHAVNEERBETHMELABZEH (B
RAESLIRSEY) BMETHMELZE
BEEAERERECHKARKBESRESNEE
HAERERERTHIELARELZDELSRE

of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. ZBE-
Advance
Bankand  fromanon-
Dividend Interest other  controlling Club Lease
payables payables loans shareholder debentures liabilities Total
RITK FER
EfRE EFANE HtEX RR2Y EffE% HEEHE #st
HK$'M HK$S'M  HKS'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET AEERT AEAR BEEEAT BEAT AEER BEAR
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4R1R - - 11,5791 1,823.8 798.1 53.9 14,2549
Financing cash flows REBSTE (20.5)  (601.3)  (925.0) - (18.8) (8.3) (1,573.9)
Exchange translation differences ERE® - - (27.8) - - - (27.8)
Interest expenses FERX - 359.7 - 47.6 - 2.1 409.4
Interests capitalised in the qualifying assets ~ RA BIREEE AL
ZHE
~ Properties under development for sale -t EHES
LES - 275.2 - 84.6 - - 359.8
Dividend to a non-controlling shareholder 1A — % JE MR AR 3R
AT R S 5.6 - - - - - 5.6
Dividends declared EEIRRE 149 - - - - - 149
New lease entered HAHE - - - - - 0.9 09
Renewal of lease EiRE - - - - - 0.5 0.5
Others Hith - (33.6) 0.9 - - (0.6) (333
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3H31H - - 10,627.2 1,956.0 779.3 485 13,411.0
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Advance
from a non-
Dividend Interest ~ Bankand controlling Club Lease
payables  payables otherloans  shareholder  debentures liabilities Total
RITR FEERR
ERRE ERFAS EMER BRRE2X €My HERE @t
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKSM HKS'M HKS'M
BEAT BEAT ABAR BEAT B8AT HEAL BEATL
At 1 April 2022 R02%4R18 - - 106554 16636 8155 597 131942
Financing cash flows BERERE (1433)  (3340) 9341 780 (14.0) (93) 5115
Exchange translation differences ERER - - (109) - - - (109
Interest expenses FERE = 1885 = 393 = 22 2300
Interests capitalised in the qualifying assets  RNABBREEZ AL
ZH 8
— Properties under development for sale -HEHEXRER
mE - 174.7 - 49 - - 2176
Dividend to a non-controlling shareholder [l — & JEFE R IR &
AR E 69.0 - - - - - 69.0
Dividends declared BEERKRE 743 = = = = = 743
Renewal of lease EiHE - - - - - 22 22
Others Hith - (292) 05 - (34) 09) (330)
At31 March 2023 R03E3A31H - - 11579 18238 798.1 539 142549
() ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND () RERRESEEHBERDN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEETT BEAT
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB LIRS 1,605.8 6,212.6

The market interest rate of the bank balances at 31 March 2024 was in
the range of 0.01% to 5.68% (2023: 0.01% to 5.19%) per annum. The
directors of the Company consider the carrying amount of the Group's
bank balances and cash at the end of the reporting period approximates

their corresponding fair values.

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and concluded
that the probability of defaults of the counterparty bank is insignificant

and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.
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35 PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the loans advanced to a joint venture by the Group
including interest payable amounting to approximately HK$1,695.8
million (2023: HK$1,506.3 million) were subordinated to banks to secure
a banking facility granted to the joint venture for financing the
development project in Tai Po.

In addition, as at 31 March 2024, no bank loan of the Group was secured
by investment properties (2023: HK$434.0 million).

36 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

35 EEEKH

M2024F3H31H - AFE —KREZE R A ERIR
TEESR EARXBEREBEZ2ES  &H
ERETZAEE AT 169588 &8 (2023
F 15063 EEAT) CER(BIEEMNFE)
MERITIERBIRTE -

BEoh - 202453 A31H  EEMERBITE
TSI E Y E (20234F - 4340 B BB ) ©

36 IEEREN

2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEER BEAT

Guarantee given, to the extent of the Group's

proportionate share, in respect of a banking facility

granted to an investee company (note)
Guarantee given, to the extent of the Group's

proportionate share, in respect of a banking facility
granted to a joint venture for the development of

projects (note)

VA S5 B B HE B ) AR R
KR E DA ERHRTT
SERBFEL 2R (M) - 98.9

PASE BB R L ) B ER
EENRERARER
MIRITERERIEL 2B F
(&)

884.5 1,252.0

Note: No provision for financial guarantee contracts has been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements as, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,

M ARARAEERBNEERIANMBERZ A
FERERKETEINBEFSBLTER RAER

the fair value of the financial guarantee on initial recognition and the amount of 4R &M BEHREKABRMBERE N 2BE -

provision to be recognised subsequently was insignificant.

37 COMMITMENTS

37 RIE

2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEAET BEAET
Contracted but not provided for: EENEBRERE

Capital expenditure in respect of investment KEWMEUEDE  BE
properties and property, plant and equipment REHEZERNRXL 67.9 76.2
Others Hib - 20
67.9 78.2
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38 LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

THE GROUP AS LESSOR

Property rental income earned from investment properties and other
properties during the year was HK$459.2 million (2023: HK$474.9 million)
in aggregate, of which HK$446.0 million (2023: HK$464.6 million) was
generated from investment properties of the Group. Investment
properties and other properties with an aggregate carrying amount of
HKS$13,853.5 million (2023: HKS$14,172.2 million) were held for rental
purposes at the end of the reporting period. Depreciation charge for the
year in respect of other properties was HK$1.1 million (2023: HK$1.3
million). The properties held have committed tenants for a period from
one to ten years. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future minimum leases
payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as
follows:

38 HE ZHE

SEAHMEA

WEMEREMMERFANRD o WERES
WAE HEBE4592 5 BB T (2023F 1 47498 8
EIT)  HAP4460B BB (2023F 46460 B
BILT)RESEEREME - RBREHBR A
BA 1385358 BB L (2023 1 1417228 8
BT ZREMERREMMEDFERER
B AFERNEHEMMEZTESIH A
BEBTQBFE 13BEBT) - MEAEY
¥EAANEHB —E+EFETE - RFEEH
R EBECHBAPTH MBETATHBEL
EHERTIHEIPRARFERENK
LU

2024 2023

HK$'M HKS'M

BEER BEATT

Within one year —F R 339.2 270.2
In the second to fifth year inclusive FIEFERLF(BREEREMT) 211.1 89.1
550.3 3593

39 RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

HONG KONG

In order to comply with Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) with employer’s
voluntary contributions has been established on 1 December 2000.

For the members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of the
relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000 effective 1 June 2014 for the MPF Scheme,
which contribution is matched by the employee. The Group also makes
voluntary contribution in addition to the mandatory contribution.

The amount charged to profit or loss represents contributions paid or
payable of HK$20.1 million (2023: HK$20.4 million) to the MPF Scheme
by the Group, less forfeitures on voluntary contribution of HK$1.0 million
(2023: HKS3.2 million) arising from employees leaving the Group prior to
completion of the qualifying service period.
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At the end of the reporting period, there is no forfeited contributions,
which arose upon employees leaving the retirement benefits schemes
and which are available to reduce the contributions payable in future
years (2023: nil).

MAINLAND CHINA AND OVERSEAS

The employees of the Group in mainland China and overseas are
members of state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by
the respective local governments in relevant jurisdictions. The Group is
required to contribute and recognise a specified percentage of payroll
costs to the schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligations of the
Group with respect to these schemes are to make the specified
contributions and recognise the respective retirement pay in accordance
with terms set out in the schemes and relevant jurisdiction requirements.

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the above-
mentioned schemes in the relevant jurisdictions amounted to
approximately HK$7.9 million (2023: HK$6.6 million).

40 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
long-term bank and other loans, short-term bank loans and other
liabilities as disclosed in Notes 28 and 30, net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a periodic
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.
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41 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

41 @I H
SMIAE>ER

2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEEBT BEATT

Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFAEGZEREE 423.9 462.1
Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT ECEREE 8,828.9 13,800.5

Equity instruments measured at FVTOC RAFEFAEMEERERS

ZlERATHE 11.5 24.7

Financial liabilities TRBE
Amortised cost B H KA 13,703.0 14,427 4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity instruments
measured at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, amounts due
from associates, loans to joint ventures, amounts due from joint ventures,
bank balances and cash, other financial assets, trade payables, deposits
received and other financial liabilities, bank and other loans and other
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposure to foreign currency risk as
majority of the Group's sales and purchases are denominated in currency
which is the functional currency of the respective group entities except
for certain bank balances, loans to joint ventures, financial assets at
FVTPL and investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost
which are denominated in foreign currency, other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities.
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The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency

EE]

ERBRNHMEAMINEIEZEERERE

denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as follows: ZIEEESAT
Assets Liabilities
BE a8fE
Currency Eu 2024 2023 2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M HKS$'M HKS'M
BEAET BEETT BEAET BEETT
US dollar eV 4,656.6 4,679.8 - =
Renminbi AR 274.6 2740 - -
Japanese Yen H 271.1 4406 - -
Euro dollar BX JT 223 33.1 - -
Thai Baht B 12.6 8.0 - =
Singapore dollar ¥ oo 10.8 04 - =
Others EHifb - 08 - -
Sensitivity analysis BBE DM

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of US dollar, Renminbi
and Japanese Yen. The sensitivity analysis excludes balances which are
denominated in US dollars for an entity with Hong Kong dollars as its
functional currency since Hong Kong dollar is pegged to US dollar.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% decrease in the
functional currency of the respective group entities against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnels and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. The analysis illustrates the impact for a 5% weakening of the
functional currency of the respective group entities against the relevant
foreign currency and a positive number below indicates an increase in
profits for the year and in exchange reserve. For a 5% strengthening of
the functional currency of the respective group entities against the
relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profits for the year and exchange reserve.

SEXTZAXET ARBRBRELZZE
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Increase in
Increase in profits exchange reserve
a A 48 hn BE 5 fak 48 38

Currency B 2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$'M HKS'M HKS$'M HKS'M

BEATT BEAT BEATT BEAT

US dollar ETT - - 212.6 2126

Renminbi AR 13.7 13.7 - -

Japanese Yen HIE 13.5 21.8 - -

Euro dollar BT 1.1 1.1 0.1 0.5

Thai Baht B 0.2 - 0.4 04

Singapore dollar N oo 0.5 - - -

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of & I2 B R & > BN R4 B R A & I T Bt I e

the inherent foreign exchange risk as the exposure at the end of the FAZEAK MBI RESN I TITRKEE 2
reporting period does not reflect that during the year. HNEE @B o
Interest rate risk I = [ pax

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost and debt
securities at FVTPL (see Note 20), fixed-rate loans to joint ventures and
fixed-rate bank deposits, borrowings (see Note 28) and lease liabilities (see
Note 29). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank deposits and borrowings (see Notes 25(a)
and 28), loans to joint ventures, advance from a non-controlling
shareholder (see Note 30) and mortgage instalment receivables (see
Note 21). It is the Group's policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of HIBOR, other relevant interbank offered rates or other
benchmark interest rates arising from the Group's borrowings.
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Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the end of
the reporting period. The variable-rate bank deposits have been
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the management of the Group
considered that the interest rate fluctuation is not significant. For
variable-rate bank borrowings, advance from a non-controlling
shareholder and mortgage instalment receivables, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability and asset outstanding at the
end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnels and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’'s:

profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2024 would decrease/
increase by HK$53.3 million (2023: HKS$57.1 million). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
bank borrowings, advance from a non-controlling shareholder and
mortgage instalment receivables.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to market price fluctuation through its investments
in both listed and unlisted securities. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a diversified portfolio. The level and volatility of
the prices of securities may be affected by general economic and market
conditions, such as interest rates, availability of credit, inflation rates,
economic uncertainty, changes in laws (including taxation law), trade
barriers, currency exchange controls, and national and international
political circumstances, if applicable.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to price of securities investments at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective securities investments had been 5%
higher/lower:

profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2024 and investment
revaluation reserve as at 31 March 2024 would increase/decrease by
HKS21.2 million (2023: HKS$23.1 million) and HKS0.5 million (2023: HKS$1.2
million) for the Group respectively as a result of changes in fair value of
equity and debt securities instrument measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI
respectively.
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Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by
the Group is arising from:

the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position; and

the amount of financial guarantee contracts in relation to financial
guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 36.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts, except that the credit risks associated with
mortgage instalment receivables is mitigated because they are secured
over properties.

Except for debt securities at FVTPL, the Group performed impairment
assessment for financial assets and other items under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit
risk exposures and the related impairment assessment, if applicable, are
summarised as below:

Loans to joint ventures and an investee/Amounts due from joint ventures
and associates

For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group regularly
monitors the business performance of the joint ventures, associates and
an investee. The Group's credit risks in these balances are mitigated
through the value of the assets held by these entities and the power to
participate or jointly control the relevant activities of the associates and
joint ventures. The management considers that the counterparty has a
low risk of default, after taking into the consideration of the value of the
assets held by these entities and the operating results of these entities.

Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually or based on provision matrix. The
trade receivables are grouped under a provision matrix based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to repayment histories for
recurring customers. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.
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As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
aging to assess the impairment for its customers because these
customers consist of a large number of small customers with common
risk characteristic that are representative of the customers’ abilities to
pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.

Based on the internal assessment, the management considers that the
balances are of low risk and not credit impaired for ECL assessment if the
counterparty has a low risk of default or counterparty has past due debts
but usually settles after due date while the balances are of doubtful and
credit impaired for ECL assessment if there has been significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition through information developed
internally. For the balances that are classified as doubtful, the Group has
made full provision at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023.

The management considers that the amount of loss allowance at 31
March 2024 and 31 March 2023 were considered as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, having assessed the
nature of the business.

Investments in debt instruments and bank balances

The Group only invests in debt instruments issued by issuers that have
strong credit ratings to mitigate counterparty risk. Credit exposures to
debt instruments are monitored and reported regularly to the
management.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that the Group
has guaranteed under the respective contracts was HK$884.5 million (2023:
HK$1,350.9 million) as at 31 March 2024. At the end of the reporting
period, the management of the Group has performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial guarantee contracts.
Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial guarantee contracts issued
by the Group is measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across
diverse industries and geographical areas. Other than concentration of
credit risk on loans to joint ventures and amounts due from joint
ventures, the Group does not have any other significant concentration
of credit risk.
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The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's major N XFJEBBELTEHEEEEBTIHE2E

financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: ESMEENARZEERR
Gross
External Internal carrying
As at 31 March 2024 Notes creditrating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
NREASERAFHRZ
R2024F3H31H Mz MBEETIR ABEETAR BHEEESE REAE
HK$'M
BEER
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBHBAGECEREE
Loans to joint ventures included in 19, N/A Low risk 12m ECL 6,610.7
interests in joint ventures and 25(c) FEA 16 /2 B NREAFREERSE
amounts due from joint ventures
AARERRIZ G ZEX
FTaELAREREERFR
A
Loan to an investee included in 21 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 106.6
other assets TEH 1% B k& NREAFEHEEFSE
AAAHMBE MBRRE
HREX
Investments in debt instruments 20 A1-B1 N/A 12m ECL 45.5
measured at amortised cost A1ZB1 TER NREAFEREERSE
REEKATECEB LA B2-Caa N/A Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 216
K& B2Z Caa TEH EREHAZRABCERE-BEEHE
C N/A Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 434
TER EREHAZABCEERE-EEHE
Bank balances 25(a), Aal-Baa2 N/A 12m ECL 1,605.8
RITER 34(c) AalZBaa2 TER REAEHEEEE
Trade receivables 24 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 46.1
FEYE 5 RN TER &k ERAFHAZEBGERE-BFERE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 25
TER E: ERFEHRNZRABEERE-FERE
Amounts due from associates 18 N/A High risk Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 589.3
FE YR B & 1 ) ROA TER B E kR ERFHRNCRAREERE-FERE
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Gross

External Internal carrying
At 31 March 2023 Notes credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
REAKERFHRN
R2023%3A318 iz BEETR ABEEFR RBEEEHR REAE
HKS'M
BEAT
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBHBAGECERERE
Loans to joint ventures included in 19, N/A Low risk 12m ECL 6,638.2
interests in joint ventures and 25() TiEfA 15 2 B 1A AEHEEEE
amounts due from joint ventures
N VNP £F8 ¢
FAERAREKAEAAHR
B
Loan to an investee included in 21 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 106.6
other assets ~EHA 15 E B REAEBMEEER
FAREMEE 2 ABBKRE
HREX
Investments in debt instruments 20 A1C N/A 12m ECL 536
measured at amortised cost ATEC ~EA REAEBMEEEE
REERATECER LA Caa3 N/A L|fet|me ECL - not credit impaired 145
RE TEA FREBNCEBREREBE-REERA
C N/A Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 292
THEA ERAFHNBBEEBE-EERE
Bank balances 25(a), Aal-Baa2 N/A 12m ECL 6,212.6
RITH % 34() Aal £Baa2 i@ REAEBMEEER
Trade receivables 24 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 476
B E 5 R R THERA 15 [ B FREMAZESREEBE-BEERE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 09
THER R CREFHN EHEEEE-FERE
Amounts due from associates 18 N/A High risk Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 589.1
JE Ui B i 1 R B TEA = AR FREFHN EHEEBE-FERA
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The table below shows reconciliation of loss allowances that have been
recognised for loans to joint ventures included in interests in joint ventures,
loan to a joint venture and loan to an investee included in other assets.

TREIRFTABERAZERZIERT
ENR-BERTFT—REELQRAR Jr)\ﬁﬁﬂﬁ
ERABREYSERERCEBEEEE
R o

12m ECL
NRBEAFEHEEERE
Loans to Loan to
joint ventures aninvestee
EXT OHEHBRE
EE AT HREX
HKS$'M HKS$'M
ER-3:- ¥ BEAET
As at 1 April 2022 R2022F4H1H 215 04
Impairment under ECL model BEEHEEEBEBRER 2 RE 16 =
As at 31 March 2023 720233 A31H 23.1 04
Reversal of impairment under ECL model REFEHEEBSEER 2 RERE 0.3) =
As at 31 March 2024 R2024F3A31H 22.8 0.4
Loss allowances recognised for loans to joint ventures and loan toan HE R FA L AT L AEBEEH R E R
investee are measured at 12m ECL, there is no transfer from 12m ECLto B 32 2 & 18 ﬁé‘ B 12{8 ATE Bl (E E S B AT
Lifetime ECL during the year as there is no significant increase in credit &  HRENZE S éf EZEERRI &
risk for these financial assets. BEEN UHMELEAABHEESBEER
Effﬁ%igﬂﬁﬂz%ﬁ,ﬁmp EEE -
Liquidity risk mENE Rk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and FEEERBELEEME  EEER LT

maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management and ensure the availability of funding of committed credit
facilities, renewal of loan facilities upon maturity to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
Group maintains significant flexibility to respond to opportunities and
events by ensuring that committed credit lines are available to meet
future funding requirements. Management monitors the utilization of
bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. As at
31 March 2024, the Group has available unutilised overdraft and bank loan
facilities of approximately HK$6,958.2 million (2023: HK$5,918.2 million).

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board
of directors of the Company, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework for the management of the Group's short,
medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms except
for the bank loans with a repayable on demand clause. For non-
derivative financial liabilities, the table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.
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Liquidity risk table B & 2 A b 7
Repayable
on demand Total Carrying
or within Over undiscounted  amountat
lyear 1-2years  2-5years 5years cash flows 31 March
RERF AER MW3A31H
- FREE -EZEWE —EZIf IFNLE HLRAE EEE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEERT HE#ERT HEERT AEAER BEERT HEAR
2024 20245
Non-derivative financial liabilities ETESRERE
Trade payables and accrued charges ENESERALEAER 180.0 - - - 180.0 180.0
Deposits received and other financial liabilites BYiRE REME B EE 160.5 - - - 160.5 160.5
Bank and other loans BIIREMER
- fixed-rate -8 9.7 9.7 29.1 3194 367.9 298.5
- variable-rate 38 4,226.9 3,145.5 3,990.2 - 11,362.6 10,328.7
Other liabilities At afE 125.1 125.1 434.0 2,549.8 3,234.0 2,7353
Financial guarantee contracts HBEREN 884.5 - - - 884.5 -
5,586.7 3,280.3 4,453.3 2,869.2 16,189.5 13,703.0
Lease liabilties HEAE 8.2 3.9 8.7 53.0 73.8 485
Repayable
on demand Total Carrying
or within Over  undiscounted amount at
Tyear 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years cash flows 31 March
REKH REEHE  RW3A31A
—FRER —Z2WF ZZ2RF IFNLE BeRLE EHE
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEET BEET AEBET AHEAR BEET HAEATR
2023 2023%F
Non-derivative financial liabilities ETESRER
Trade payables and accrued charges ERESERZRENER 699 - - - 699 699
Deposits received and other financial liabilities 2 Wiz 4& R EM LR E & 156.5 = = = 156.5 156.5
Bank and other loans BIREMER
- fixed-rate -ER 98 98 293 3307 3796 2983
- variable-rate -8 2,7586 42710 52407 - 12,2703 11,2808
Other liabilities HitafE 1114 1114 3934 24927 3,1089 26219
Financial guarantee contracts BERAD 13509 = = = 13509 =
44571 43922 560634 28234 17,336.1 14,4274
Lease liabilities HEEE 80 80 94 559 813 539
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The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, all bank loans are classified in
respective time band based on the agreed repayment terms except for
the bank loans with a repayable on demand clause.

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
“Repayable on demand or within 1 year” time band in the above maturity
analysis. As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate undiscounted principal
amount of these bank loans is HK$100.0 million (2023: nil). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the directors of the Company do
not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors of
the Company believe that such bank loans, if any as at 31 March 2024
will be repaid within one year (2023: within one year) of the reporting
date in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table below:

EREHAEN AL REBEIAIA 2B -
5 70OF B R 7 8 BY B 3R 45 A R B E 2 A
HRIRBEA R R R 2T -

MN2024F3A318 K2023E3A31A - FF A R
TERDNEHBEERY  UEBBRSESD
B A BEREREZEERZBITER
B o

AEBABEREREEERRZBITERGT AN
FRHASMZIBEERSK—FANEE KM
DEF - R2024FE3A3H ZERITERRKR
BRIR 2 K& 4258 510008 & 78 7T (2023 4% -
) - KEBEBZHBERRE  ARFE
ERABOTBEITSTEELRBEE S KA EE
Ko RABIEFHEE R2024F3H31B 2%
ERTER(WME)BRBERMRFEMEAETE
BREH RRE B HEST— FQ0235F:
—F)NEE FBHINRTER:

Total
Within undiscounted Carrying
1year 1-2years 2-5years cash flows amount
KREEH
—FR —ZERFE —EIF HLRLE KEE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEEBET BRERT BEEAR BEEET BEER
At 31 March 2024 R20246F3A31H 100.9 - - 100.9 100.0

At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H =
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FAIR VALUE

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed
by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end
of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than
not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However,
this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the
likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which
are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as
follows:

the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices; and

the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The consolidated financial statements include holdings in unlisted equity
securities which are measured at fair value using valuation techniques
based on inputs that can be observed in the market in addition to
unobservable inputs such as company specific financial information (Note
20).

(i)  Financial instruments carried at amortised cost
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of

financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs on the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

AFE
LA BRRA N AN SEIINE T H
RERCEFEERBLUEAGBN2HER
TENERSBE REXRBSHRNED
SERRRALBARELHEINETME
e AR LLAMGFETHTRIEERRE L
FRER AR REME M RE - T Ut A BE 1 RAR SR
RETHAHANEBURERRZEEBRENA

BEME -

TREERERABZAFEIRATTR
BT

BFHEZEERREHETRERRBMS
BEEZERMEEZAFENDZETEE AR
BmEE: &k

HteMEERERBEBEZAFEDIR
B-REEEZEIEERA  ARURADR
DT METE °

RAMBRRERBIFLTRAESTEE
ZFEENERGERDERAUEREM SR
ABEETABRG ABENRRNEYB
BERIR A FER 2 (5E20)

() REENFIKRzEHMIA
AATEERS RSB EE R AR

RAARzZEREEREHABEZREESR
HAFEBES -
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(ii)  Financial instruments carried at fair value

The financial instruments are measured in the statement of financial
position at fair value in accordance with HKFRS 13. This requires
disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value
measurement hierarchy:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the
use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to estimate the fair
value of an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level
2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present

value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield
curves.
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The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined
using forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period, with
the resulting value discounted back to present value.

Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used
to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

As at 31 March 2024, mortgage instalment receivables at FVTPL of
HKS$196.3 million (2023: HK$463.6 million) is measured with valuation
techniques using significant unobservable inputs (level 3).

The determination of fair value is subject to the valuation policies and
procedures formulated by and the oversight of the Group’s
management. These policies and procedures facilitate the exercise of
judgement in determining the risk characteristics of various financial
instruments, discount rates, estimates of future cash flows and other
factors used in the valuation process. Judgement may also be applied in
adjusting prices of less readily observable external parameters. The
management considers the appropriateness of the valuation model
inputs, as well as the valuation result using various valuation methods
and techniques generally accepted within the industry.

There is no transfer between level 1, level 2 and 3 during the year.

The following represents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year
ended 31 March 2024:

EHIMES X 2 X EM A ®REH R
EREXEE MASEETEERE-

Hib sl fImBiR R RED T B
NEFTHHBEMIAZATE-

R2024F3831 8 BAFEFABEZER
LD B F19%63E BB (Q03F (46368 8
B IEAERATABEGASRE(E=ZE
W)z EERMEE -

APEZEEXSEEEENE ZHER
REBFRBARAEEE ZEBRRENMERF
EPREBEESRESRMITAZREAREE &
B A ARARBERERGEEBETER
ZHMERRRELHE BERKIATERZ
ShES B ERERAIEER A - EEE
ZREERMBABEBEZEE M  ARES
EANRARZEBEETEREMEE ZHE
RBBR-

FR F—BH F-_EBORE-ER2MH
b 45 0 5t o

TR ARE204F3831BIEFEZE=BH
TEEH:

Mortgage

instalment

receivables

at FVTPL

RAFETA

Bz EW

R D HMH

HKS$'M

BEAETT

At 1 April 2022 R2022%F4R18 524.6

Addition B 198

Repayment BN (69.3)
Unrealised loss recognised in statement of ReEERaRERZ REHEIR

comprehensive income (11.5)

At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 202343 4318 K20236E4 818 4636

Addition & 314

Repayment 32 3N (293.4)
Unrealised loss recognised in statement of REEREEERZAEREE

comprehensive income (5.3)

At 31 March 2024 720243 A31H 196.3

EREXEREEFRAF 20232024 £ 223
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42 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES
AND JOINT VENTURES
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REEAT

gl
&
T
s
||

() HEEEIMRIEIELEMHURE
BZXENBARFEET

23

(i) Details of principal subsidiaries incorporated and have their
principal place of operations in Hong Kong are as follows:

31 March 2024
20243 A31H

31 March 2023
202343 A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
NEER BRTRE KEEWGRE BETRA SEEERE IEXB
HK$ % HK$ %
BT BT
Ace Spring Limited 1 100 1 100 Property investment
HERER AR MERE
Beaufort Hotels Limited 1 100 1 100 Provision of hotel management
services
REEEE R RS
Cardiomed Limited 1 100 1 100 Investment holding
TERERRAF REZR
Discovery Bay Commercial Services Limited 2 50% 2 50 Commercial leasing agent
BREREREERL A BMERERE
Discovery Bay Enterprises Limited 400,000 50* 400,000 50*  Operation of a shipyard
EEMG
Discovery Bay Financial Services Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Provision of financial services to first
e EHBEREERAA hand purchasers of properties in
Discovery Bay
MERENEZ—F
BERRHSBERE
Discovery Bay Golf Club Limited 2 50*% 2 50*  Provision of club facilities
BRERRAREERAA REEMARD
Discovery Bay Hotel Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Hotel operator
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31 March 2024 31 March 2023

202453 A31H 2023F3H31H
Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
EIEE BERTRE SEELKRE BEIRE SHEHEGRE IBEHR
HK$ % HKS %
BT BT
Discovery Bay Ice Rink Limited 1 50* 1 50*  Icerink operator
WREBKSERD BIKIGEE
Discovery Bay Marina Club Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Provision of club facilities
MREERSERA R 2 PRI
Discovery Bay Property Limited 2 50% 2 50*  Provision of property agency
MRENERRR services
REMERB RS
Discovery Bay Recreation Club Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Provision of club facilities
MRERLEERLNA REL & TR
Discovery Bay Road Tunnel Company Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Road tunnel operator
MRERERRAF BiEEE
Discovery Bay Services Management Limited 2 50% 2 50%  Estate manager and principal lessee
MRERBEERARAOA of communication network in
Discovery Bay
BRERIMRERA
BEZEZARA
Discovery Bay Transit Services Limited 2 50% 2 50*  Provision of bus and garage services
MREXBERBERR REBTREERHK
Discovery Bay Transportation Services Limited 2 50% 2 50%  Provision of ferry services
MREMERBARAT REUE W R
Dorro Properties Limited 500,000 100 500,000 100 Property investment
EMEXBERAA MERE
Emerald Property Limited 1 50*% 18 50%  Property investment
BRMERRAF MmERE
Fame Wood Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
BIRARAT MERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

31 March 2024
20243 A31H

31 March 2023
202343 A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
AEIEE BRITRE KEEEARE BETRA SEEERE IEXB
HK$ % HKS %
BT BT
Garnet Property Limited 1° 50% 1° 50 Property investment
EENEAERAF MERE
Grace Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
EEREAEBRAA MERE
Greenyield Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
ABHRAA MERE
HKR (PRC) Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding
EREE(PE)ERAR REZR
HKR Limited 2 100 2 100 Property management
EREENEER A nEER
HKR Properties Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
EEREME)ERAA MERE
Hong Kong Health Resort Limited 4 100 4 100 Property investment and
investment holding
MERBRREER
Hong Kong Resort Company Limited 389,243,374.35%* 50%  389,243374.35** 50*  Property development and
BREEARAA investment holding
MEERRREER
Jasper Garden Limited 1¢ 50% 1¢ 50%  Property investment
EEEARAF MERE
Kinter Limited 1 100 1 100 Property investment
BEBRLF MERE
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31 March 2024
20243 A31H

31 March 2023
202334318

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
EIEE BRITRE SEEERE BEIRE SHEHEGRE IBEHR
HK$ % HKS %
BT BT
Lam Island Development Company Limited 2,000,000 99.99 2,000,000 9999  Property development
MEBESER LA MEERE
Lee Wo Company, Limited 300,000 100 300,000 100 Property investment
FMAER A A mERE
Macro Future Limited 1 100 1 100 Investment holding
BERAR QA REER
Moonstone Hill Limited 1¢ 50* 1 50*  Property investment
FAILERAF MmERE
Noble Glamour Limited 1 100 1 100 Investment holding
SEARAT REER
Opal Property Limited 1¢ 50* 1¢ 50*  Property investment
BIRmERARAR MERE
Parocka Investments Limited 20 100 20 100  Property development
MEER
Pearl Development Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
BEERERAR MERE
Peony Restaurant Limited 2 50% 2 50%  Restaurant operator
HAHERBRAF EERE
Quebostage Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
BRERLA MERE
Regal Galaxy Investment Limited 1 100 1 100 Property investment

ERRBERAT

NERE
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31 March 2024
20243 A31H

31 March 2023
202343 A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
AEIEE BRITRE KEEEARE BETRA SEEERE IEXB
HK$ % HKS %
BT BT
Royston Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding
MREEREFRAT REER
TCS Project Management Limited 2 100 2 100 Provision of project management
services
RUER T ERG
The Sukhothai Hotels & Resorts Limited 1 100 1 100 Provision of hotel management
services
REEEER RS
Topaz Holdings Limited 1f 50% 1" 50 Property investment
REZERERAR MERE
Victor Century Investment Limited 1 100 1 100 Provision of financial services to first
BARERERDA hand purchasers of 2GETHER and
properties in Discovery Bay
mMEFRMRENEL
—FERREHMBRE
Wells Estate Services Limited 100,000 100 100,000 100 Property management, estate
BERMERBAERDA manager and investment holding
MERERERRZEER
Wells Property Management Limited 1,000 100 1,000 100 Property management and estate
BERMEERARDA manager
MERERER
World Forum Investment Limited 1 100 1 100 Property development
SAARERRRA MEER
Yintaly Construction Company Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment

ENEETRERAR
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*

According to the shareholders’ agreement of Hong Kong Resort Company
Limited ("HKRC"), the Group is able to control more than half of the voting powers of
the board of directors (which determines the relevant activities) of HKRC and its
subsidiaries.

i In addition to 1 ordinary share, 100% in the value of HK$389,243,373.85 deferred
shares are also held by the Group. The deferred shares held by the Group are shares
whose shareholders are neither entitled to receive notices, attend, vote at any general
meetings nor to receive any dividend out of operating profit and have very limited
rights on return of assets of the company.

a Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company

also includes HK$276,000,000, representing 276,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

b Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$218,000,000, representing 218,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

C Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$267,000,000, representing 267,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

d Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$213,000,000, representing 213,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

e Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$207,000,000, representing 207,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

f Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$ 133,000,000, representing 133,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

* REFEBHEXERARATEBEX]) ZBRH
& RENAEREERENEMBARCESTE(R
EEEBES) BBFBZIREE-

= BREBBIREBRIN £EINEF10%EE
38924337385 B L 2 IBEIER ) - EEEAB B ELER
MZREEEEFNERBN HETARERS RR
CLERE  FERFKDKEERM®HIRZ TR
B REBBZARFEEERZEERREFR -

a BRIREERIOBTZERKRIIN ZRARZE
B 17 B 7K 7R B 35 {8 {E 276,000,000 7 TT £ % 276,000,000 A%
Z Al B E LR -

b BRIREEAIOBTZERBIRIIN ZRARIZE
2% 17 B 2K U B #E {8 1B 218,000,000 JT A 2K 218,000,000 A%
2 °] BE Bl & S AR o

c BRIREERI00B T EBRIN: ZRAFRIZE
17 % 7 78 8§ {8 1B 267,000,000/ JT R 2 267,000,000 A%
2 0] BE Bl & S AR o

d RIBREEARIOBTZEBRIN ZRRZE
B 17 B 7K 7R B $E 18 {E213,000,000 7 7T 18 % 213,000,000 A%
Z Al B E R -

e BRIBREEAI0BTZEEBRIN ZRARZE
2% 17 B% 7N U8 B $E {8 E 207,000,000 7T X % 207,000,000 %
Z Al E B EERR -

f BIREERI0ELZEBRN ZAFAZE

B 47 B R 78 B $E B {8 133,000,000 JT A 2% 133,000,000 A%
2 ] HE BB SR % o
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(i) Details of other principal subsidiaries are as follows: (if)

31 March 2024

Hit X EMBARFBENOT :

31 March 2023

202453A31H 203F3R31H
Nominal value Equity Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued interest of issued interest
incorporation/ place of share capital/ attributable share capital/  attributable
Name of company registration operation registered capital to the Group registered capital  tothe Group  Principal activities
MR/ TERE BRTRA KEES BETRA REERS
NEER B hE HMERZEE kg EMERzZEE ki TEEH
% %
Abraham Holdings Limited Liberia Hong Kong Nil 100 Nil 100 Securities investment
MBS i & & EHRE
Abraham Investment Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ Note* Us$1 100 US$1 100 Securities investment
EREBRER M 1%7 EH EHFRE
Beaufort Holdings Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$10,197,932 100 HK$10,197,932 100 Investment holding
HERE i 10,197,932/ 7T 101979328 T REZRK
Brentall Investments Limited British VirginIslands ~ Hong Kong Us$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
ERAEBRER BA 1%7 EH REER
CDW Building Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$5,100,002 100 HKS$5,100,002 100 Property investment
HERS BE 5,100,0027% Tt 510000278 7 Nx%E
GenRx Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Note** Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
BHEBRERAA SREBRER W™ 1%7 (B RAZR
Hanbright Assets Limited British VirginIslands ~ Hong Kong US$1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
SREBRER BA %7 (B RAZR
HK Resort International Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$3 100 HKS3 100 Investment holding
REES BE 3BT 3BT RAZR
HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore 5%5,000,000 100 $§5,000,000 100 Investment holding
H I K 5,000,003 7T 50000003 7. RAZR
THB24,700,000
24,700,000 % &k
HKR China Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Note** US$1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
ERRETHBRAA SREBRER W™ %7 (B RAZRK
HKR Company Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Note** Us$2 100 Us$2 100 Investment holding
SREBRER W™ 2%% ET RAZM
HKR Japan KK Japan Japan JPY10,000 100 JPY10,000 100 Property investment
BA AA 10,000 A B 10,0002 B NERE
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31 March 2024

31 March 2023

20243 A31H 03%3R31R
Nominal value Equity Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued interest of issued interest
incorporation/ place of share capital/  attributable share capital/  attributable
Name of company registration operation registered capital to the Group registered capital  tothe Group  Principal activities
ML/ TEEE BRATRE REEL BREARE,  £EER
ARER B hE EMERzEE kE IMEAZAE g TEEH
% %
HKR Shanghai Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Note** Uss1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
EAEELEARAR RERBREE M~ %57 E3H REER
HKRJ Development Co,, Ltd.* Japan Japan JPY10,000 100 JPY10,000 100 Property development
B B 10,000 A B 10000E & NEER
HKRJ Resort GK* Japan Japan JPY1,000,000 100 - - Property investment
B BA 1,000,000 NERE
Pine Isle Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Uss1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
RE4RAREE BE (ES 17 REER
Prinia Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore $$2 100 552 100 Investment holding
o g 287 VR REER
Sathorn Park Co, Ltd. Thailand Thailand THB933,600,000 100 THB933,600,000 100 Hotel operator and owner
% F 933,600,005 $ 9336000007 # BERBERDE
Sky Phoenix Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Uss1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
REARREE BE %7 1%L RARKR
MEEEMINBRAF® PRC PRC HK$760,000,000 100 HKS760,000,000 100 Investment holding
i i 760,000,0003% 7T 760,000,007 7T REER
BE(LBEBFABRAA  PRC PRC US$1,500,000 100 US$1,500,000 100 Property management
i i 1,500,000 % 7T 1,500000% 7T NEER
BE(LBEXBRAR PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 100 RIMB20,000,000 100 Property development
i FE A B %20,000,000 7T AR 1200000007 NEER
RHAREEERAR" PRC PRC HK$915,000,000 100 HK$915,000,000 100 Property development and
HE H 915,000,00058 JT 91500000078 T investment holding
NEERIRERR
RERBEXERAA PRC PRC RMBS,000,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
i TE A R #8,000,000 7T AR 80000007 NEER
RRAREEERAA PRC PRC RMBS,000,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
i E A R #8,000,000 7T AR 80000007 NEER
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31 March 2024

31 March 2023

20243 A31H 03%3R31R
Nominal value Equity Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued interest of issued interest
incorporation/ place of share capital/  attributable share capital/ attributable
Name of company registration operation registered capital to the Group registered capital  tothe Group  Principal activities
AR/ TEEE ERTRE  KEES BETRA, KEER
ARER B hE dMERZEE kE AMEAZAE R TEEHR
% %
RERBEXERAA PRC PRC RMB756,500,000 100 RMB756,500,000 100 Property development
& H AR #756,500,000 7 AR 75650000070 NEER
RERARBEEERAA PRC PRC RMBS,000,000 100 - - Property development
E HE AR %8,000,000 7T NERR
BEEBRRERAR PRC PRC US$14,000,000 100 US$14,000,000 100 Property investment
HE i 14,000,000 % 7t 14000000% 7T NERE
MEEEMMBERAF PRC PRC RMB8,000,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
i H A B #:8,000,000 7 AR 800000070 NERERE
MEMEERMmMMERRF  PRC PRC RMB1,000,000 100 RMB1,000,000 100 Property investment
e H A B #1,000,000 7 AR ¥1,0000007C NERE
o These companies are engaged in securities investment business of the Group LERANREEB 2 ESFREEE AMARE
and have no specific principal place of operation. BECEZSEME -
= These companies act as investment holding companies and have no specific ~ ** HERTRREERAA BMEEREZE
principal place of operation. TREME -
a The Group can enjoy all economic beneficial interest, instead of equity interest, ~ a EEREABATZEZERAZHLEER
of the companies by contractual terms. Ham MR AR o
b These companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises. b LERRIREINEDRE -
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(i) Details of principal associates are as follows:

(iii)

31 March 2024

20243 A31H

FEBRERATAFEOT

31 March 2023
20233 A31H

Attributable Attributable
Place of interest held interest held
Name of company incorporation by the Group by the Group  Principal activities
SEFME SEAF
NCIEE &E AR 32 3t B FE 15 RE 2= ElEEms ETBEHR
% %
Polyoung Limited Hong Kong 31 31 Provision of financial
8% B R A A BB services to first hand
purchasers of Coastal
Skyline
MEXREFE—FER
He # B 15 AR 75
Tung Chung Station Development ~ Hong Kong 31 31  Property investment
Company Limited BB MERE

(iv)  Details of principal joint ventures are as follows:

(iv)

31 March 2024
20243 A31H

TEARATNREMT -

31 March 2023
20233 A31H

Attributable Attributable
Place of interest held interest held
Name of company incorporation by the Group by the Group  Principal activities
SEME EEPTFE
NCIEE = 8 B 3L 3t B FE 15 R 2= ElEEs ETEXEHR
% %
Advantage Investor Limited British Virgin Islands 50 50 Investment holding
REBEBRES REZER
Dazhongli Properties Limited British Virgin Islands 50 50 Investment holding
AHEMEER QA REERARES BREER
Everbeam Investments Limited Hong Kong 50 50  Property development
ZAREFRAA & MEER
Everbeam Mortgage Limited Hong Kong 50 50  Provision of financial
FHEBER LA BB services to first hand

purchasers of La Cresta
M mH—FEREM
1 7% PR 7%
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31 March 2024
20243 A31H

31 March 2023
20233 A31H

Attributable Attributable
Place of interest held interest held
Name of company incorporation by the Group by the Group  Principal activities
S ErE B
NEERE =F 8 B 3L b B FE 45 #E &= ElEEw ETEEHR
% %
Gainwick Limited Hong Kong 40 40  Property development
pilik=2 =)l N 5 MEER
Gainwick Mortgage Limited Hong Kong 40 40  Provision of financial
MmEB\ER QA BB services to first hand
purchasers of VILLA
LUCCA
ML —FER
e it B 75 AR 75
Strongbod Limited British Virgin Islands 40 40  Investment holding
REBHEBRES REZRKR
Ultimate Champion Investments British Virgin Islands 50 50 Investment holding
Limited REEB RS REZER
B HHEMEREAR AR PRC 50 50  Property investment
a3 MERE
o The company is wholly foreign owned enterprise. * ZREIREINEDRE -
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(v)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-  (v)

controlling interests:

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company that have material non-controlling interests:

ZEE

Proportion of ownership

BEEAFEERERZFE2ENBEAR

TREJBEEERFERBRAZARBIFER
EMBRRZFS

interests and voting  (Losses)/profits allocated
Place of rights held by to non-controlling Accumulated
Name of subsidiary incorporation non-controlling interests interests non-controlling interests
FERER
FrisEREREE TETRERESR R FEZER
MWEARERE o R B 3L 3t B REBRRE 2L 2 (B8] aF e
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M
BEET BEET HEBRT BEER
Hong Kong Resort Company Limited ~ Hong Kong 50% 50% (79.3) 226 2,788.3 28729
and its subsidiaries (note) B4
BBERERARR
H 8RR (M)
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with 0.2 - 0.3 0.1
non-controlling interests
BREEERERZEREEX
Bt /&8 2 7]
(79.1) 226 2,788.6 2,873.0

Note: Hong Kong Resort Company Limited and its subsidiaries are engaged in the
development, management and provision of essential and recreational services for
residential housing and leisure projects principally in Discovery Bay, Lantau Island.

Summiarised consolidated financial information in respect of each of the
Company's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set
out below. The summarised consolidated financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup elimination.

HONG KONG RESORT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS

SUBSIDIARIES

RAVBERBREHINDT - TXAR
RAMBENBEZSB N SEARAYEIHEATZ

TH -

EREXARAAREKNBE LA

M BEEEARAARENBARANEZRNE
I BRI R
High o F R RERT

EEBFRAMEBEELS

ERBAEEANERBRZARASHE R
Az

2024 2023

HK$'M HKS'M

BEET BEETT

Current assets BN E 5,459.1 51114
Non-current assets EREBEE 8,602.7 8,809.3
Current liabilities RHAE (3,656.4) (1,394.3)
Non-current liabilities ERBaE (4,884.6) (6,780.0)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KANRHEA AEGERR 2,732.5 2,8735
Non-controlling interests I R = 2,788.3 2,872.9
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For the year ended 31 March
BE3AMHLEE

2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEAT BEAET
Revenue A 1,149.7 1,1254
Expenses i X2 (1,308.4) (1,080.2)
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners RARIER AEML(BE)/mF
of the Company (79.4) 226
(Loss)/profit attributable to non-controlling FE 1 AR R 2 PG (5 1B) /% A
interests (79.3) 22.6
(Loss)/profit for the year NEE (F18) /& A (158.7) 452
Other comprehensive income attributable to ViN/NEIE =N K (= AT e
owners of the Company 0.4 =
Other comprehensive income attributable to JEER S EME M2 E RS
non-controlling interests 0.3 -
Other comprehensive income for the year NEEH M2 0.7 =
Total comprehensive (expense)/income XA HEAEARGEZ2E (X)) /W
attributable to owners of the Company 4B 58 (79.0) 226
Total comprehensive (expense)/income JFElRESEEE 2T (AX) /s
attributable to non-controlling interests B (79.0) 226
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AFEE2E(FAX)/ W25
for the year (158.0) 452
Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder & ] JE 42 A% A% 5K 1 A% &, 5.6 69.0
Net cash inflows from operating activities BEEBIERSRAFRE 178.9 127.9
Net cash outflows used in investing activities KEEHMBEESRL F5 (141.1) (101.6)
Net cash outflows used in financing activities MmEEHBEES L FEE (87.4) (82.3)
Net cash outflows e mHFE (49.6) (56.0)

All of the above principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
other than Abraham Holdings Limited, Beaufort Holdings Limited,
Hanbright Assets Limited, HK Resort International Limited, HKR Asia-
Pacific Pte Ltd, HKR Company Limited, HKR China Limited, Macro Future
Limited and Noble Glamour Limited, are held indirectly by the Company.

The above tables list the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of the
Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

Other than club debentures as set out in Note 30, no other loan capital
has been issued by any of the subsidiaries.

236 HKRInternational Limited Annual Report 2023/2024

Bk Abraham Holdings Limited * Beaufort Holdings
Limited * Hanbright Assets Limited » HK Resort
International Limited * HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd * HKR
Company Limited + HE B Z P B AR QA « X
BERARARSEFGRLAASN LA E
ENMBLAA BMERARRSLERFTTHAAR

AIMEREA -

EREINARBDEETRR/UEBXEREE
BEEAFEZEENBLRR BEQARSE
BRAE-ARBDEERS FIEMHEBEL
Al BMERRRALERAETENBNITK -
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43 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43 AR X5

During the year, other than balances with related parties as showninthe 4 & B BRI R T/~ LR BE 75 2 45 68 9] -

consolidated statement of financial position, the Group had significant £ B4 NERE HETZE AL ST -

transactions with related parties as follows:

(@  Transactions with entities controlled by separate discretionary (@) HEFERRETEZEITFAZATBE

trusts with a substantial shareholder act as a corporate trustee. Four (2023:  [E{EsETiE Sl v TR E T2

5 o N

Four) directors of the Company are among the discretionary beneficiaries KA A &) PO & (2023 F : WUZ)EE A Ll {5

of the above trusts at the end of the reporting period. SECZHBEREAC
2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEABT BEATT
Rental income el A 2.9 29
(b)  Transaction with a director of the Group: by HEBERETIZIRNS:
2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEBTT BEAT
Consultancy fee to a director RMESESYNZEMER 2.0 —
(©  Transactions with joint ventures of the Group: (0 HEBESGERRETIRS:
2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEBTT BEAT
Management fee and other service fees from MEERalRcEEER
joint ventures Hi R B 20.9 156
Interest income from joint ventures ma &R aWE M E A 25.2 10.1
Rental expense to a joint venture MEE AT NeHeEA 4.3 43
(d)  Compensation of key management personnel: d FTEZEEBEBAEMNE:
The remuneration of Executive Directors during the year is as follows: HITESRFAZHMEOT :
2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEETT BEAT
Short-term employee benefits EHIEERA
Salaries and other benefits HekEMBEF 27.8 252
Performance related incentive payments 1R R 11.1 227
Ex-gratia payment R E 10.0 -
Equity-settled share-based payments NHEREEURDAERER 2R 3.0 -
Retirement benefits schemes contribution RORAE N 5T 8 5K 0.4 04
52.3 483

The remuneration of Executive Directors is determined by the HITEEZZMEHFMEE S

remuneration committee having regard to the performance of KIRNTIHBLEETF -
individuals and market trends.

2EZ @R BT
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44 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

44 KD\ 2 B AR R R

OF THE COMPANY
2024 2023
HK$'M HKS'M
BEBT BEAT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries (note (a)) B8~ Bl 4 2= (Y 5 (a) 15,476.3 15,651.5
Property, plant and equipment ME - WBE KEE 6.7 8.1
Intangible assets BEAE 5.4 =
Right-of-use assets TRAEEE 22.5 44
Other assets Hitw&EE 119.9 119.9
Amounts due from joint ventures W & & A R FIA 160.3 167.6
15,791.1 15,9515
Current assets MENE E
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e - TBR IR K OCH M e W SRIR 34.0 396
Bank balances and cash RITHEHBRRIA S 608.9 1,195.8
642.9 1,2354
Current liabilities mEBAE
Trade payables, provision and accrued charges ERNBESER BEREFER 32.1 196
Amounts due to subsidiaries XSl NEIE S 1,081.6 1,274.2
Lease liabilities HEaE 8.8 48
Bank and other loans due within one year —FARBHRITREMER 949.8 1,697.8
2,072.3 2,996.4
Net current liabilities mEBEFR (1,429.4) (1,761.0)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTBAG 14,361.7 14,190.5
Non-current liabilities FERBBE
Lease liabilities HEEBE 14.0 =
Bank and other loans due after one year —FREBZETRHEMER 6,883.1 6,276.2
6,897.1 6,276.2
Net assets BEFE 7,464.6 79143
Capital and reserves BRKFE
Share capital % A 371.3 3713
Reserves (note (b)) (M FE®D) 7,093.3 7,543.0
Equity W 7,464.6 79143

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 June 2024 and is

signed on its behalf by:

TANG Moon Wah
Managing Director
B
EFRETE
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BE:

NGAN Man Ying
Executive Director

BN
HITEF
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(@) INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (@) MBS #ER
2024 2023
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEETR BEATT
Unlisted shares, at cost JFEETRRG KA E 2,905.3 2,909.7

Amounts due from subsidiaries NI E G

Interest bearing portion (note) e (ME) 4,853.6 6,276.2
Non-interest bearing portion * B &5 7,717.4 6,465.6
15,476.3 15,651.5

Note: The amounts are unsecured, bear interest at the prevailing market borrowing
rates and have no fixed terms of repayment.

(b) MOVEMENT IN RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

M : ZEFRRABER RATTSEENEFE

(b) XL FHEE D

Share Capital
Share options redemption Accumulated
premium reserve reserve profits Total
RGOHE BEXEE
% 17 %8 B &1 & Zita A #at
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEER BEBAER BEEBT BHEER
At 1 April 2022 R202F 4 A1 H 15379 52.1 3.1 57719 7,365.0
Profit and total comprehensive REERF K
income for the year FHEWERTE - - - 2523 2523
Share options lapsed % 1) HA #E 2k 3K - 02) = 0.2 =
Dividends paid EIRAR & = = = (74.3) (743)
At 31 March 2023 720233 4318 15379 519 3.1 5,950.1 7,543.0
Loss and total comprehensive KEEEER
expense for the year 2EHRAXBE - = = (440.2) (440.2)
Recognition of equity-settled BRAUEZESH
share-based payments AR fn B AR 2
(NP - 54 - = 54
Share options lapsed % 1) B #E 2k 3K - (06) = 06 =
Dividends paid 2R & = = = (14.9) (149)
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31H 1,537.9 56.7 3.1 5,495.6 7,093.3

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,

the share premium of the Company is available for distribution or paying

dividends to shareholders, subject to the provisions of its memorandum

and articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with the

Company’s articles of association, dividends can only be distributed out

of the accumulated profits of the Company, which amounted to
HK$5,495.6 million (2023: HK$5,950.1 million) as at 31 March 2024.

BERSHERARZERE(EER) AR
Al B D& B 5K T R E XM RKRIK
B BEARTHAZEEREAMARAEZEZEMA
BIREMmE  MBEERER W ANAGEHEAERE
HEERBEEBIHZER - RELXQ A
ZHBERMA - ADE R LK R2024F3
B31H 2 &% 754956 8 & 78 7T (20234 -
59501 B EAB L) PR FIRERE o
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Five-Year Financial Summary

HFEBEHE

=
RESULTS E 4
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'M HKS'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M
HEBT BEST BEBT BESET BEAL
Revenue g A 3,940.7 1,693.7 43142 3,9423 4,696.5
Profit from operations & 18 i A 44.3 500.8 1,484.1 1,5085 2,287.3
Finance costs B 7% 8 A (409.4) (230.0) (123.8) (88.3) (271.8)
Share of results of associates DIREE RN R EE (0.1) 0.2) 0.2) (0.1) (0.1)
Share of results of joint ventures D {h & & R B ¥4 192.0 2843 3434 2206 506.6
(Loss)/profit before taxation B AT (B 18) /5 T (173.2) 554.9 1,703.5 1,640.7 2,522.0
Taxation R1E (373.9) (76.7) (484.0) (512.1) (837.7)
(Loss)/profit for the year REZ (B1R) /g A (547.1) 4782 12195 1,1286 1,684.3
Attributable to: T5I FEAf -
Owners of the Company KRABEB A (468.0) 4556 1,097.3 8973 1,624.6
Non-controlling interests JEIE AR RE S (79.1) 226 1222 2313 59.7
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (EFB) /& T (547.1) 4782 1,219.5 1,1286 1,684.3
FINANCIAL POSITION Bf 7 4R S
At 31 March
MA3A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HK$'M HKS'M
BEBT BB BEET BEST BESAL
Total assets BERE 41,824.7 46,9024 43,4075 38,145.0 37,2409
Total liabilities BiERE (15,677.8) (19631.5) (154612) (11,5403)  (12,494.7)
Non-controlling interests JEPEAR RS (2,788.6) (2,873.0) (2,919.4) (2,920.8) (2,678.8)
Equity attributable to owners of AN Q & #EH A JEG
the Company K 23,358.3 243979 250269 236839 22,0674
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Particulars of Major Properties

EEYFEFHE

At 31 March 2024 1202443 831H

A. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER

A STRER/IBRFZUHE

DEVELOPMENT
Attributable
Gross floor Stage of Expected Nature interest to
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) completion completion date of property the Group
BEEES £
R (FER) TRER BEHTHA WEME JE 45 R &
1. The remaining phases, NI =&
Discovery Bay, =
Lantau Island
(@) Residential F=x 1334,736 Construction under 2025-2033 Residential 50%
progress/Planning FE
in progress
TRRETH/HE
EITH
(b) Recreational KE 148,726 Planning in progress 2026-2028 Recreational 50%
REETH VNG
(c) Others H A 214462 Not yet commenced No definite plan  Retained for future 50%
R B T EEE5TEl development
BERGEE
2 Hollywood Road project, ~ BB S 26493 Foundation work in No definite plan  Residential 100%
Hong Kong Island WEEEEE progress EREEE EX
WETRETH
3. River One, RE AT 350,000 Construction under 2025 Residential 100%
Songjiang District, WTE progress FE
Shanghai, the PRC HERH TRR#ETH
4, Land lot no. 2023-06, hEIE 1415000 Construction under 2027 Residental 100%
Nanhu New District, EEmMEATR progress F=E
Jiaxing City, 2023-06 55 3t 58 T
Zhejiang Province, the PRC
5. Rama 3 Road project, ZEHEA 416,180 Planningin progress  No definite plan Residential 100%
Yannawa District, Yannawa & (site area) R ENEITH EETIE EE
Bangkok, Thailand Rama3Road 8 B (MEETE)
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Particulars of Major Properties

TEYEFHF

At 31 March 2024 2202493 831H

B. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR

FEREVERERSBSEA

RENTAL PURPOSES &
Attributable
Gross floor Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) property theGroup  oflease
BEEEE £

R (FER) WEME EEFz HEER

6. 2 houses located at Bijou Hamlet, R gsesEme 5392 Residential 100%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island METEEFE F=E 5

7. 2 houses located at Headland Village, KU L 162 EE 5 6,053 Residential 100%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island METREFRE F=E H

8. 7 units comprising lowrise KU = 2 18 11,429 Residential 100%  Medium
and duplex apartments located at T{E B (RIEEE R F= H Hf
Peninsula Village, RAEA BRI ARK)
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

9. 1 highrise apartment located at KU = 2R & 1,068 Residential 100%  Medium
Greenvale Village, A S EEM FE i Hf
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

10. 18 highrise apartments located at RIELERERRE 12,468 Residential 100%  Medium
Parkridge Village, 18fE = BB FE 5
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

1. 4 midrise apartments and KA LS EmnsE 4338 Residential 100%  Medium
1 combined unit located at DB Plaza, A BB R F= 8
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island VAR B

12. 2 lowrise apartments located at KU | =88 B — 2483 Residential 100%  Medium
Siena One, 2 MR B B fir Tz H
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

13, 2 highrise apartments located at KU L 62 E% & 1438 Residential 50%  Medium
Peninsula Village, 2E S B F=x i Hf
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

14, 6 houses located at Phase 17, NE S E%E 178 43,055 Residential 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island 6IETE R ¥ 5 F= H
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Attributable

Gross floor Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) property theGroup  oflease
BEREER 5
R (FAR) MEME EEFz HEER
15. 14/F of Century Tower Il and BEILTE 3,663 Residential 100% Long
Car Parking Space No. 12 on Level 1, WRREE IR RIRA F=E =31
Century Tower, 1 and 1A e KEI4E Rt ERE
Tregunter Path, The Peak, Hong Kong FIEBFEESNREMN
16. Wellgan Villa, NERANEE1485% 39,022 Residential 100%  Medium
148 Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon GEES- fF€ H
17. Commercial Centre, ANE 52 225,66 Commercial 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island EmEF D [EE3 ]
18. Shop 401 on Ground Floor, KU L 162 2 7% 1§ 7417 Commercial 50%  Medium
Coastline Villa, Peninsula Village, EEE M 401 E [ H 5
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island
19. Commercial Centre, i Pak, RELBRE-—Q2 170,162 Commercial 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island [EELEW [EE3 ]
2. CDW Building, HREE 975,520 Commercial 100%  Medium
382-392 Castle Peak Road, ERE27-37% (EES o
27-37 Mei Wan Street, H 1L i&382-392%%
Tsuen Wan, New Territories mEKE
21. 325 car parking spaces at HREPTERE 2R N/A Commercial 100%  Medium
Tuen Mun Central Square, TR R ES TER B%E H B
22 Hoi Wing Road, 325 A B fi
Tuen Mun, New Territories
2. West Gate Tower, NERDE 146418 Commercial 100%  Medium
7 Wing Hong Street and KERETHR RBEMER [EE3 5
8 King Lam Street, mEBEH L
Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon
2. 156 Office units and 62 parking lots, FEMMNTEER 234,680 Commercial 100%  Medium
located at HKR International Centre, EBEETEAL BE H
Qiantang District, Hangzhou, 156 {3 A B fir
the PRC (ALY
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Particulars of Major Properties

TEYEFHF

At 31 March 2024 2202493 831H

Attributable
Gross floor Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) property theGroup  oflease
RREER S
R (FAR) MEME EERE HEERR
24, 2units of DANG, MALE 2821 Industrial 100%  Medium
2-6 Fui Yiu Kok Street, RE A5 (saleable area) T % H 5
Tsuen Wan, New Territories DANG 2 | % iz (ERERE)
2. United Daily News Centre, nELLE 62800 Industrial 100%  Medium
21 Yuk Yat Street, TBE#NR I% H
To Kwa Wan, Kowloon BEBmAE
C. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE C BELHEMR
Attributable
Saleable Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) property theGroup  of lease
ERER 5
R (FFR) MEME EERE HEHH
26. Remaining units of Poggibonsi, AU ) 2 5509 Residential 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island BIRHBTEN £ ]
27. Remaining units of IL PICCO, AE L= 24424 Residential 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island EBRHRTEN F=E i
28. Remaining units of Starlight One, FEMIEE®ET 11897 Residential 100% Long
Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province, ERE £ R
the PRC BTE[
29. IN One, H 379,987 Residential 100% Long
Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province, LA mMm € R H
the PRC BEE
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Corporate Information and Investors” Calendar

NAAERKRREEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EEE
=
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor (Executive Chairman)
B E (BITFE)
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
(Non-executive Deputy Chairman)
ITEXRLL(FHTEFERE)
Mr TANG Moon Wah (Managing Director)
B E S (B F AR
Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon
RGBS
Mr LEE Ivan Wank-hay
ZELER S
Ms NGAN Man Ying
BXELZ T
Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson
BB LA
Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin
EREPEE
Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
SR K AR St
Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry
SES R T
Ms Barbara SHIU
BERZ L
Mr TANG Kwai Chang
HEZEE

AUDIT COMMITTEE
EREES

=0
Mr TANG Kwai Chang (Chairman)
MBI (L)
Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
SROK AR HE
Ms Barbara SHIU
BREMLZ L

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
FMEES
==
Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus (Chairman)
WK (FE
Mr CHA Mou Zing Vlctor
BB T
Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry
SES R T E
NOMINATION COMMITTEE
= = =
REZRE
Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry (Chairman)
SERER A (E/E)
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
&R ST &
Ms Barbara SHIU
ABEE W L
Mr TANG Kwai Chang
BHEHTE
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
TEXE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
S?MMITTEE
E S
TEEREES
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline (Chairman)
TEERERLXL(EE)
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
&R ST &
Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry
Mr TANG Kwai Chang
HEZTE

24
e

REGISTERED OFFICE
A= E

P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE
TERER

23/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

& T 7 8 T 168-2005%
ERBUEERANE23E

SHARE REGISTRARS
B3 iB B R

HONG KONG

Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong
/%EP%*“%AHEﬁﬁE
HEE 1?5)1?(;@%183%
é%u%bw@m;wm?

CAYMAN ISLANDS
FRENRS

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
EEAERRT

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
FERIT(ER)BRRAA
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Hong Kong Branch
RBIRITRNAERRREEDTT
China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
PR ERRT(EMRHERRA
Dah Sing Bank, Limited
RHFIRITERAA
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
ERRIT(BEB)BRRAA
Hang Seng Bank Limited
BERITERDA
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited
EELBESRITERIDF
Hua Xia Bank Co., Limited Hong Kong Branch
EERITEBDIT
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
(Asia) Limited
FEIFRTEMNERAT
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
BERTRODBRATDNEESIT
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited
MR ERITERAA
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
EERITERAA
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited
FEBERITERAA
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
BITIRT(BER)ERAA
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co,, Ltd.
Hong Kong Branch
FEBRRERBITROBRRARAEEST
The Bank of East Asia, Limited
RGBRITERAA
United Overseas Bank Limited

RERITARAQA

COMPANY SECRETARY
NEME

Ms LEUNG Wai Fan

REZLZL

AUDITOR
& B ED

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Ent|ty Auditor
?Eiimﬂ é’;#ﬁﬂi% %P

nEe

Gl Amﬂfmﬁ-“%ﬂi%lﬁm

I:EGAL ADVISORS
LM
HONG KONG LAWS
BEBER

Kao, Lee & Yip

BEEERT

Mayer Brown

FFE AT AR AT

Reed Smith R|chards Butler
BEEAS AT

Woo Kwan Llee& Lo

W ERETT

CAYMAN ISLANDS LAWS
FERSER

Maples and Calder

BEEERMEL

SEHK STOCK NAME/CODE
Bk 3 P R A B A/ R A0 X 5R

HKR Int'1 & 74 &2 2 B B /00480

INVESTORS’ CALENDAR
REZBA®

2024 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
2024 FEFRERBFKRE

21 August 2024
20248 A21H

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF
MEMBERS
HERGHEFER

16 to 21 August 2024 (Annual Ger]era//\/leer/'ng)
2024F8A16BENH(REBAFAE)

COMMUNICATION

B 4%

Website 4841t : www.hkricom

TelE “1? (852)22381188

Email EH :

investors@hkri.com (Investors & & &)
cs@hkri.com (Shareholders f8 )
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(RSB BT 2 BRAR)
BETHET 1SR IERT OAEBAE23E

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

www.hkri.com
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